
 
Nevada Commission on Ethics 

Notice of February 15, 2017 Commission Meeting and Agenda 
Page 1 of 3 

 

 

STATE OF NEVADA 
COMMISSION ON ETHICS 

http://ethics.nv.gov 
 

NOTICE OF PUBLIC MEETING 
 

NAME OF ORGANIZATION: NEVADA COMMISSION ON ETHICS 
 
DATE & TIME OF MEETING:  Wednesday, February 15, 2017 at 9:00 a.m. 
  
PLACE OF MEETING:  This meeting will be held at the following location: 

 
Gaming Control Board 
1919 College Parkway 
Carson City, NV 89706 

 
 

AGEND A 
 
NOTES: 
 

 Two or more agenda items may be combined for consideration.  
 At any time, an agenda item may be taken out of order, removed, or delayed.  
 Public comment will be accepted at the beginning of the open session and again before the 

conclusion of the open session of the meeting.  Comment and/or testimony by the public 
may be limited to three (3) minutes.  No action may be taken on any matter referred to in 
remarks made as public comment.  Members of the public may also submit written public 
comment to the Commission at NCOE@ethics.nv.gov.  

 
 1. Call to Order, Roll Call, and Pledge of Allegiance to the Flag. 

 
 
 
 

  

 2. Public Comment. Comment and/or testimony by any member of the public will 
be limited to three (3) minutes. No action will be taken under this agenda item. 

For 
Possible 
Action 

3. Approval of Minutes of the December 5, 2016 Commission Meeting. 

For 
Possible 
Action 

4. Discussion and approval of a Proposed Stipulation concerning Third-Party Request 
for Opinion No. 16-59C regarding Kimberlie Buffington, Member, Lander 
County Planning Commission, submitted pursuant to NRS 281A.440(2). 

For 
Possible 
Action 
For 
P ibl  

 

5. Discussion and approval of a Proposed Stipulation concerning Third-Party Request 
for Opinion No. 16-83C regarding Clay Hendrix, Trustee, Churchill County 
School District Board of Trustees, submitted pursuant to NRS 281A.440(2). 

http://ethics.nv.gov/
mailto:NCOE@ethics.nv.gov


 
Nevada Commission on Ethics 

Notice of February 15, 2017 Commission Meeting and Agenda 
Page 2 of 3 

 

 

For 
Possible 
Action 

6. Discussion and approval of a Proposed Stipulation concerning Third-Party Request 
for Opinion No. 16-84C regarding Matt Hyde, Trustee, Churchill County School 
District Board of Trustees, submitted pursuant to NRS 281A.440(2). 

For 
Possible 
Action 

7. Discussion and approval of a Proposed Stipulation concerning Third-Party Request 
for Opinion No. 16-85C regarding Tricia Strasdin, Trustee, Churchill County 
School District Board of Trustees, submitted pursuant to NRS 281A.440(2). 

For 
Possible 
Action 

8. Report by Executive Director on agency status and operations, including:  
• Commissioner Appointments 
• Education and outreach by the Commission 
• Request for Opinion Log/Update 
• Upcoming Commission meetings 

For 
Possible 
Action 

9. Update regarding the Governor’s Recommended Biennial Budget (FY18-FY19) for 
the Commission. 

For 
Possible 
Action 

10. 2017- 79th Legislative Session update regarding proposed legislation effecting the 
Nevada Commission on Ethics including, without limitation, the following pre-filed 
bills: 

• Senate Bill 30 
• Senate Bill 36 
• Senate Bill 84 

 
11. Commissioner Comments on matters including, without limitation, identification of 

future agenda items, upcoming meeting dates and meeting procedures. No action 
will be taken under this agenda item. 

 12. Public Comment. Comment and/or testimony by any member of the public may 
be limited to three (3) minutes. No action will be taken under this agenda item. 

 13. Adjournment. 

 
*A meeting or hearing held by the Commission pursuant to NRS 281A.440 to receive information or evidence 
regarding the conduct of a public officer or employee, and deliberations of the Commission regarding such a 
public officer or employee, are exempt from the provisions of NRS Chapter 241, Nevada’s Open Meeting Law.  
As a result, these agenda items, or any portion of them, may be heard in closed session. 
 
NOTES: 

 
 The Commission is pleased to make reasonable accommodations for any member of the public who has a 

disability and wishes to attend the meeting. If special arrangements for the meeting are necessary, please 
notify the Nevada Commission on Ethics, in writing at 704 W. Nye Lane, Ste. 204, Carson City, Nevada 
89703; via email at ncoe@ethics.nv.gov or call 775-687-5469 as far in advance as possible. 

 
 To request an advance copy of the supporting materials for any open session of this meeting, contact 

Executive Director Yvonne M. Nevarez-Goodson, Esq. at ncoe@ethics.nv.gov or call 775-687-5469. 
 

 This Agenda and supporting materials are posted and are available not later than the 3rd working day before 
the meeting at the Commission’s office, 704 W. Nye Lane, Ste. 204, Carson City, Nevada, or on the 
Commission’s website at www.ethics.nv.gov.  A copy also will be available at the meeting location on the 
meeting day. 

mailto:ncoe@ethics.nv.gov
mailto:ncoe@ethics.nv.gov
http://www.ethics.nv.gov/


 
Nevada Commission on Ethics 

Notice of February 15, 2017 Commission Meeting and Agenda 
Page 3 of 3 

 

 

 
This Notice of Public Meeting and Agenda was posted in compliance with NRS 241.020 before 9:00 a.m. on 
the third working day before the meeting at the following locations: 
 

• Nevada Commission on Ethics, 704 W. Nye Lane, Suite 204, Carson City 
• Nevada Commission on Ethics' website: http://ethics.nv.gov 
• Nevada Public Notice Website: http://notice.nv.gov 
• State Library & Archives Building, 100 North Stewart Street, Carson City 
• Blasdel Building, 209 E. Musser Street, Carson City 
• Washoe County Administration Building, 1001 East 9th Street, Reno 
• Grant Sawyer State Office Building, 555 E. Washington Ave., Las Vegas 

http://ethics.nv.gov/


AGENDA ITEM NO. 3 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

AGENDA ITEM NO. 3 

 



 

Page 1 of 4  

STATE OF NEVADA 
COMMISSION ON ETHICS 

http://ethics.nv.gov 
 

MINUTES 
of the meeting of the 

NEVADA COMMISSION ON ETHICS 
 

December 5, 2016 
 

The Commission on Ethics held a public meeting on 
Monday, December 5, 2016, at 9:00 a.m. 

at the following location: 
 

Nevada Commission on Ethics 
704 W. Nye Lane, Suite 204 

Carson City, NV 89703 
 

These minutes constitute a summary of the above proceedings of the Nevada 
Commission on Ethics. Verbatim transcripts are available for public inspection at the 
Commission’s office located in Carson City.  
 

1. Call to Order, Roll Call, and Pledge of Allegiance to the Flag. 
 

Chair Cheryl A. Lau, Esq., appeared telephonically and called the meeting to order at 9:00 
a.m. Present in Carson City, Nevada were Commissioners Brian Duffrin and Dan Stewart.  
Present via telephone were Vice-Chair Keith A. Weaver, Esq. and Commissioner Barbara 
Gruenewald, Esq. Present for Commission staff in Carson City were Executive Director Yvonne 
M. Nevarez-Goodson, Esq., Commission Counsel Tracy L. Chase, Esq., Associate Counsel Judy 
A. Prutzman, Esq., Senior Legal Researcher Darci Hayden, PP-SC and Executive Assistant 
Valerie M. Carter, CPM. 

 
Commissioner Magdalena Groover was excused from the meeting. 
 
The pledge of allegiance was conducted. 

 
2. Public Comment.  

 
No public comment. 
 

3. Approval of Minutes of the October 19, 2016 Commission Meeting. 
 
 Commissioner Stewart moved to approve the October 19, 2016 Meeting Minutes.  
Commissioner Grunewald seconded the Motion.  The Motion was put to a vote and carried 
unanimously. 
 

4. Report by Executive Director on agency status and operations 
 
 Executive Director Yvonne Nevarez-Goodson informed the Commission of the passing of 

Court Reporter Eric Nelson, who has been a friend and dedicated Court Reporter for the 

 

http://ethics.nv.gov/


 

Page 2 of 4  

Commission for several years.  She expressed the Commission’s condolences to his family and 
Sunshine Litigation Services.  Director Nevarez-Goodson also reflected on the passing and loss 
of Commissioner John C. Carpenter, expressing the Commission’s condolences to his family and 
the Commission’s appreciation for his dedication to the State of Nevada.   

 
Executive Director, Yvonne M. Nevarez-Goodson, Esq., provided an update regarding 

Commissioner vacancies and appointments, stating that an agenda item appeared on the 
legislative Commission’s November 2016 Agenda, however the item was tabled, and another 
meeting of the Legislative Commission had been scheduled for December, with the Agenda 
pending publication.   

 
Director Nevarez-Goodson provided an update regarding the Commission’s current 

Biennial Budget Request (FY18-FY19), stating that nothing significant had changed since the last 
Commission meeting and the Budget Request is currently under review by the Governor’s Office 
of Finance. She reminded the Commission that the initial enhancements, including salary 
adjustments, were denied by the Governor; however, the Commission was invited to submit a 
Compensation Plan Adjustment Request which is still under review by the Governor’s office. 
Director Nevarez-Goodson stated that as the Legislative Session gears up, she will invite 
Commissioners to attend budget hearings in support of those enhancement requests before the 
Legislature. 

 
Director Nevarez-Goodson provided an update regarding the Commission’s outreach 

and education efforts stating that she has received several requests from various jurisdictions to 
present to newly elected officers.  She also reported that she is reaching out to local bar 
associations for training and has a CLE Luncheon already scheduled with the Clark County Bar 
Association on January 26, 2017.  Director Nevarez-Goodson invited the Southern Nevada 
Commissioners to join her at that presentation. 

 
Director Nevarez-Goodson reported that the next Commission meeting is expected in 

February.  Commissioner Stewart inquired whether the Legislative Session impacts the 
scheduling of Commission meetings or whether more frequent meetings may be required.  
Director Nevarez-Goodson responded that additional Commission meetings or Subcommittee 
meetings may be necessary, as questions come up throughout Session that may require 
feedback from the Commission with a very limited turnaround time. 

 
Director Nevarez-Goodson informed the Commission that she had officially completed 

the requirements of the Certified Public Manager (CPM) Program for the State of Nevada and has 
submitted her final Capstone project.  She thanked the Commission for its support over the last 
two years. 

 
5. 2017- 79th Legislative Session update regarding proposed legislation effecting the 

Nevada Commission on Ethics 
 
 Executive Director, Yvonne Nevarez-Goodson, Esq., provided a report on proposed 
legislation of the 2017 Legislative Session affecting the Commission on Ethics.  She provided an 
overview of the Commission’s bill, Senate Bill 84, which modifies NRS 281A and which has been 
supported and sponsored by the Governor. (See attachment A) A brief discussion ensued 
regarding the proposal of public censures and how they would be accomplished by the 
Commission.  Director Nevarez-Goodson explained that a public censure would include the 
Commission’s imposition of a formal written condemnation of a willful violation of the Ethics Law 
that may accompany the imposition of sanctions and a duty on the subject of the complaint to 
apologize for the conduct.  



 

Page 3 of 4  

 
 
 Director Nevarez-Goodson provided an overview of Senate Bill 36 which was filed on 
behalf of the Governor.  She explained that SB 36 reduces the Commission from 8 members to 
5 members which would all appointed by the Governor, and removes State Legislator’s from the 
Commission’s jurisdiction.  The bill also proposes to streamline the Commission’s budget process 
with respect to the local governments and state contributions to the Commission’s budget. (See 
attachment B)   
 
 A brief discussion ensued regarding SB 36 and its potential impact on the Commission 
membership, timing of any changes to the membership, and how the Legislature might view the 
Bill.  Director Nevarez-Goodson explained that the bill would become effective upon passage and 
approval and if passed, the terms of the existing legislative appointments would expire at that 
time.  She further stated that the Legislature may be in support of the measure given its position 
regarding the jurisdiction of the Commission over state legislator complaints, and the Commission 
will be available to testify in a neutral position to provide information and perhaps clarify its view 
that if the bill passes, the Legislature may want to consider its own ethics committee that is more 
clear and transparent than the respective House Standing Rule 23.  
 
 Director Nevarez-Goodson provided an overview of Senate Bill 30 sponsored by the 
Nevada Attorney General.  She stated, in summary, that this bill specifically prohibits the Attorney 
General from accepting or soliciting certain gifts and also defines the term “gifts” as applicable to 
the Attorney General. Director Nevarez-Goodson stated she will be monitoring this legislation as 
it moves forward.  
 
 Director Nevarez-Goodson provided an overview of Senate Bill 4 filed on behalf of the 
Controller.  She stated this bill allows for the Governor to designate by executive order any 
department of the executive branch as a “charter agency” allowing for an unclassified staff; annual 
performance agreements with the Director of such agency; specific provisions for removal of a 
director from a charter agency; and certain authorized bonuses to the Director and employees, in 
addition to other various administrative changes.   
 
 Director Nevarez-Goodson stated that this agenda item was marked “for possible action” 
in the event the Commission had any particular action they would like her to take with regard to 
the aforementioned Bills, including authorizing the Executive Director to go forward as discussed 
before the legislative committees during session. 
 
 Commissioner Duffrin moved to authorize the Executive Director to move forward in 
support of the Commission’s Bill, SB 84 through the legislative session and to provide relevant 
information to Committees regarding the other bills, while continuing to keep the Commission 
apprised of the status of the other bills mentioned. Commissioner Stewart seconded the Motion. 
The Motion was put to a vote and carried unanimously.  
 

6. Commissioner Comment on matters including, without limitation, future agenda items, 
upcoming meeting dates and meeting procedures. 

 
 No Commissioner comments. 
 

7. Open Session for Public Comment. 
 

No public comment. 
 
// 
// 
// 



 

Page 4 of 4  

8. Adjournment. 
 

Commissioner Grunewald moved to adjourn the meeting.  Commissioner Duffrin 
seconded the Motion.  The Motion was put to a vote and carried unanimously.  The meeting 
adjourned at 10:10 a.m.  

 
 

Minutes prepared by:     Minutes approved February 15, 2017: 
 
    ____________  
Valerie Carter, CPM  Cheryl A. Lau, Esq. 
Executive Assistant      Chair 
 
  ___________________ _____ 
Yvonne M. Nevarez-Goodson, Esq.   Keith A. Weaver, Esq. 
Executive Director   Vice-Chair      



AGENDA ITEM NO. 4 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

AGENDA ITEM NO. 4 

 



 

STATE OF NEVADA 
COMMISSION ON ETHICS 

 
 

 
MEMORANDUM 

 
***** 

 
 DATE:  February 8, 2017 
 TO: Commissioners 
 FROM: Judy Prutzman, Commission Associate Counsel 
 SUBJECT:  Third-Party RFO No. 16-59C (Buffington) – DRAFT STIPULATED 

AGREEMENT  
 

 
 This Draft Stipulated Agreement has been prepared for the Commission’s 

consideration during its February 15, 2017 meeting. The terms of the Agreement will not 

be final until approved by the Commission and signed by all parties. 



DRAFT 
Stipulated Agreement 

Request for Opinion No. 16-59C 
Page 1 of 12 

 
 

STATE OF NEVADA 
 

BEFORE THE NEVADA COMMISSION ON ETHICS 
 

 
In the Matter of the Third-Party Request 
for Opinion Concerning the Conduct of 
Kimberlie Buffington, Former Member, 
Lander County Planning Commission, 
State of Nevada, 
 

 Subject. /                                                              

Request for Opinion No. 16-59C 
 

 
DRAFT 

STIPULATED AGREEMENT 
 
 1. PURPOSE:  This Stipulated Agreement resolves Third-Party Request for 

Opinion (“RFO”) No. 16-59C before the Nevada Commission on Ethics (“Commission”) 

concerning Kimberlie Buffington (“Buffington”), a former member of the Lander County 

Planning Commission (“Planning Commission”), State of Nevada, and serves as the final 

opinion in this matter. 

 2. JURISDICTION:  At all material times, Buffington served as a member of 

the Planning Commission. As such, Buffington was a public officer, as defined in NRS 

281A.160. The Ethics in Government Law (“Ethics Law”) set forth in NRS Chapter 281A 

gives the Commission jurisdiction over elected and appointed public officers and public 

employees whose conduct is alleged to have violated the provisions of NRS Chapter 

281A. See NRS 281A.280. Accordingly, the Commission has jurisdiction over Buffington 

in this matter. 

 3. PROCEDURAL HISTORY BEFORE COMMISSION: 
a. On or about August 1, 2016, the Commission received RFO No. 16-59C from 

a member of the public (“Requester”), alleging that Buffington: 

1) Failed in her commitment to avoid conflicts between her personal interests 

and her public duties (NRS 281A.020(1)); 



DRAFT 
Stipulated Agreement 

Request for Opinion No. 16-59C 
Page 2 of 12 

 
 

2) Accepted favors or economic opportunities which would tend to improperly 

influence a reasonable person in Buffington’s position as a public officer to 

depart from the faithful and impartial discharge of her duties (NRS 

281A.400(1)); 

3) Used her position to secure unwarranted privileges, preferences or 

advantages for herself or any business entity in which there is a significant 

pecuniary interest (NRS 281A.400(2)); 

4) Represented or counseled for compensation a private person on an issue 

which was under consideration by the Planning Commission during 

Buffington’s public service with the Planning Commission (NRS 

281A.410(1)(b)); 

5) Failed to disclose a conflict of interest for which disclosure was required 

(NRS 281A.420(1)); and 

6) Acted on a matter in which abstention was required (NRS 281A.420(3)). 

b. On or about December 13, 2016, staff of the Commission issued a Notice to 

Subject under NRS 281A.440(2), stating that the Commission accepted 

jurisdiction to investigate the allegations regarding violations of NRS 

281A.020(1), NRS 281A.400(1) and (2), NRS 281A.420(1) and (3) and NRS 

281A.410(1)(b). Buffington was provided an opportunity to respond to the RFO. 

c. On or about August 23, 2016, Buffington, through her legal counsel, Anthony 

J. Walsh, Esq. of Walsh, Baker & Rosevear, filed an Appeal and Objection to 

Jurisdiction of Nevada Commission on Ethics. A Supplemental Brief Regarding 

the Jurisdiction of the Nevada Commission on Ethics was filed on or about 

September 21, 2016. Accordingly, the Commission issued a Notice of 

Jurisdictional Appeal on or about September 22, 2016, to both Buffington and 

the Requester, setting the matter to be heard at the October 3, 2016 

Commission Meeting and providing an opportunity for the Requester to submit 

a response to Buffington’s request to review the jurisdictional determination.1 

                                                 
1 NAC 281A.405 has since been amended by temporary regulations T03-16A, which became effective September 21, 2016, 
subsequent to Buffington requesting a review of the jurisdictional determination. 



DRAFT 
Stipulated Agreement 

Request for Opinion No. 16-59C 
Page 3 of 12 

 
 

d. On or about October 31, 2016, the Commission issued its Order on Jurisdiction 

denying the request to overturn the Executive Director’s jurisdictional 

determination, initiating the investigation and setting the date to respond to the 

RFO. On or about December 3, 2016, Buffington, through her legal counsel, 

submitted a Response to the RFO. 

e. Buffington waived her rights to a panel determination pursuant to NRS 

281A.440, and acknowledges that credible evidence establishes just and 

sufficient cause for the Commission to render an opinion regarding the 

allegations implicating NRS 281A.020(1) and NRS 281A.420(1) and (3).  

 4. STIPULATED FACTS: At all material times, the following facts were 

relevant to this matter: 2   

a. Buffington was an appointed member of the Lander County Planning 

Commission (“Planning Commission”). She first served on the Planning 

Commission between 2010 and 2011, was re-appointed in 2012, and then 

resigned in January 2016. At all times relevant to this matter, Buffington was a 

“public officer,” as defined by NRS 281A.160. 

b. In her private capacity, Buffington is a licensed real estate agent in Nevada. 

She is the managing broker for Nolan Realty in Battle Mountain, Nevada. 

c. Theodore C. Herrera, Esq., is a lawyer licensed in the State of Nevada and 

serves as the elected District Attorney for Lander County. 

d. The Planning Commission is a political subdivision as defined in NRS 

281A.145. 

e. The Planning Commission has decision making authority over certain land use 

matters, including special use permits and variances. 

f. Jay Wintle lives in Lander County and has listed various parcels of 

undeveloped real estate with Buffington and Nolan Realty since approximately 

2009. 

                                                 
2 Stipulated Facts do not constitute part of the “Investigative File” as that term is defined by NRS 
281A.440(17). All statutory and common law protections afforded to the Investigative File shall remain and 
are not affected by this Stipulated Agreement. 



DRAFT 
Stipulated Agreement 

Request for Opinion No. 16-59C 
Page 4 of 12 

 
 

g. During 2015, Buffington was the listing real estate agent for two of Wintle’s 

parcels located at Chukkar Lane and 350 SR 305 and listed for $376,000 and 

$1,016,720, respectively. 

h. In July 2012, Wintle and Buffington jointly purchased a 39-acre parcel of 

undeveloped real estate located at 735 Bogey Drive in Lander County. This 

property was later separated into four separate parcels in 2013. 

i. On or about January 27, 2015, Wintle and Buffington executed quitclaim deeds 

that divided the property between them, with Wintle retaining one parcel and 

Buffington retaining three parcels. 

April 8, 2015 Planning Commission Meeting 

j. At the April 8, 2015 meeting, agenda item 5 related to a zone change request 

submitted by Wintle and related to property owned by Wintle. This item was noted 

on the agenda as follows: 

(5) Discussion for possible action recommending to the Lander 
County Board Commissioners to approve/disapprove the 
following Zone Change request, and other matters properly 
related thereto. 

 
  Applicant: Jay Wintle 

Location:  Lots 14, 18, and 22 of Ashcroft map 
#183519 within the SE4 
Of 14/32/44, generally located north of the 
W. Humboldt Rd. and west of 28th street 
alignments.  

APN:   010 280 17, 010 280 21, 010 280 25 
Type:  To request a zone change from Farm and 

Ranch District (A-3) to One-Acre Agriculture 
District (A-1) 

 
k. The minutes reflect that Buffington made no disclosure regarding her relationship 

with Wintle and voted with the Planning Commission to approve the agenda item 

unanimously. 

July 8, 2015 Planning Commission Meeting 

l. At the July 8, 2015 meeting, agenda items 1 and 2 related to parcel changes 

requested by Wintle and related to property owned by Wintle. These items were 

noted on the agenda as follows: 



DRAFT 
Stipulated Agreement 

Request for Opinion No. 16-59C 
Page 5 of 12 

 
 

(1) Information and discussion only on a Parcel Map, and other 
matters properly related 

 
Applicant: Jay Wintle 
Location:  Lot 18 – Ashcraft Map #183519 

Generally located west of 28th Street along the 
Yellow Brick Road alignment, Battle Mountain  

APN:   010 280 21 
Type:   Splitting one (1) parcel into four (4) parcels.  

 
(2) Information and discussion only on a Parcel Map, and other 

matters properly related thereto. 
 

Applicant: Jay Wintle 
Location:  Lot 22 – Ashcraft Map #183519 

Generally located west of 28th Street along the 
Yellow Brick Road alignment, Battle Mountain  

APN:   010 280 25 
Type:   Splitting one (1) parcel into four (4) parcels. 

 
m. The minutes reflect that Buffington made no disclosure regarding her relationship 

with Wintle and did not participate in the discussion on these agenda items. No 

action was taken by the Planning Commission on either item. 

September 9, 2015 Planning Commission Meeting 
n. At the September 9, 2015 meeting, agenda item 6 related to a street name request 

submitted by Wintle and related to property he owned. These items were noted on 

the agenda as follows: 

(6) Discussion for possible action to approve/disapprove the 
following Street Name request, and other matters properly related 
thereto. 

 
Applicant: Jay Wintle 
Project:  Parcel Maps 
APN:   002-280-21 & 010-280-25 
Type:  To reserve a new street name: Faded Sage 

Drive  

o. The minutes reflect that Buffington made no disclosure regarding her relationship 

with Wintle and made the motion to approve the name conditioned upon the parcel 

maps approval. The motion was voted and carried unanimously. 



DRAFT 
Stipulated Agreement 

Request for Opinion No. 16-59C 
Page 6 of 12 

 
 

p. At the September 9, 2015, agenda items 7 and 8 related to parcel changes 

requested by Wintle and related to property owned by Wintle. These items were 

noted on the agenda as follows: 

(7) Discussion for possible action regarding approval/disapproval of 
the following Parcel Map, and other matters properly related 
thereto. 

 
Applicant: Jay Wintle 
Location:  Lot 18 – Ashcraft Map #183519 

Generally located west of 28th Street along the 
Yellow Brick Road alignment, Battle Mountain  

APN:   010 280 21 
Type:   Splitting one (1) parcel into four (4) parcels.  

(8) Discussion for possible action regarding approval/disapproval of 
the following Parcel Map, and other matters properly related 
thereto. 

 
Applicant: Jay Wintle 
Location:  Lot 22 – Ashcraft Map #183519 

Generally located west of 28th Street along the 
Yellow Brick Road alignment, Battle Mountain  

APN:   010 280 25 
Type:   Splitting one (1) parcel into four (4) parcels. 

 
q. The minutes reflect that Buffington made no disclosure regarding her relationship 

with Wintle and voted with the Planning Commission to approve both agenda items 

unanimously. 

r. District Attorney Herrera was not present at the Planning Commission’s meetings 

on April 8, 2015, July 8, 2015 and September 9, 2015 and did not provide any legal 

advice to Buffington regarding her disclosure/abstention obligations with regard to 

matters that were agendized for these meetings. 

s. On December 10, 2015, Buffington and Wintle entered into a listing agreement for 

two of the parcels that resulted from the rezoning and parcel subdivision requests 

presented by Wintle and approved by the Planning Commission at the April 8, 2015 

and September 9, 2015 meetings. 

/// 

/// 



DRAFT 
Stipulated Agreement 

Request for Opinion No. 16-59C 
Page 7 of 12 

 
 

5. TERMS / CONCLUSIONS OF LAW:  Based on the foregoing, Buffington 

and the Commission agree as follows: 

a. Each of the stipulated facts enumerated in Section 4 of this Stipulated 

Agreement is agreed to by the parties.   

b. Buffington held a public office which constitutes a public trust to be held for the 

sole benefit of the people of the State of Nevada (in particular, the citizens of 

Lander County). 

c. Buffington had a commitment in a private capacity to the interests of Wintle 

because they have a substantial and continuous business relationship based 

on their realtor/client relationship. NRS 281A.065(5). 

d. As a public officer, Buffington had a duty to avoid conflicts of interest. See NRS 

281A.020. Specifically, Buffington was required to commit to avoid actual and 

perceived conflicts of interest, including publicly disclosing sufficient 

information concerning any private relationships and pecuniary interests which 

would reasonably affect her decision on matters before the Planning 

Commission. See NRS 281A.420(1). As a public officer, Buffington was also 

required to abstain from voting or otherwise acting on matters in which such 

relationships would clearly and materially affect the independence of judgment 

of a reasonable person in her position. See NRS 281A.420(3). 

e. Buffington did not adequately avoid the conflict of interest between her public 

duties and private interests by not disclosing her relationship with Wintle during 

Planning Commission meetings on April 8, 2015 and September 9, 2015 before 

voting on agenda items that involved Wintle.  

f. Buffington now understands that she should have disclosed sufficient 

information regarding her relationship with Wintle, a person to whom she had 

a commitment in a private capacity, to inform the public of the nature and extent 

of the relationship. The disclosure should have occurred at every meeting and 

for every agenda item which the Planning Commission considered that affected 

Wintle’s interests. 

/// 

/// 



DRAFT 
Stipulated Agreement 

Request for Opinion No. 16-59C 
Page 8 of 12 

 
 

g. The disclosure should have also included information regarding the potential 

effect of Buffington’s action or abstention on the agenda items and the effect it 

may have had on her and Wintle, as the person to whom she had a commitment 

to in a private capacity. See In re Woodbury, Comm’n Op. No. 99-56 (1999) 

and In re Derbidge, Comm’n Op. No. 13-05C (2013). 

h. Abstention is required when a reasonable person’s independence of judgment 

is materially affected by the public officer’s significant pecuniary interest or 

commitment in a private capacity. NRS 281A.420 and Woodbury. In cases 

involving substantial and continuous business relationships, the interests of a 

business partner or client are statutorily attributed to the public officer based on 

the presumption that a person lacks independent judgment toward the interests 

of a person with whom the public officer shares an important business 

relationship. In re Public Officer, Comm’n Op. No. 13-71A (2014). Thus, a 

public officer must abstain on all matters before the public body which 

materially affect the interests of his business partner or client, including 

interests unrelated to the business shared with the public officer. In re 

Derbidge, Comm’n Op. No. 13-05C (2013).  

i. Although Buffington lacked any pecuniary interest in the zoning and parcel sub-

division matters that Wintle brought before the Planning Commission at the 

meetings on April 8, 2015 and September 9, 2015, Buffington had a 

commitment in a private capacity as Wintle’s real estate agent. Under the 

circumstances presented, the nature of the realtor-client relationship 

necessitated abstention because the interests of Wintle were statutorily 

attributed to Buffington and could be materially affected by her official actions. 

Therefore, Buffington should have abstained from voting on the agenda items 

related to Wintle’s property at the April 8, 2015 and September 9, 2015 

Planning Commission meetings. 

/// 

/// 

/// 



DRAFT 
Stipulated Agreement 

Request for Opinion No. 16-59C 
Page 9 of 12 

 
 

j. The provisions of NRS 281A.420 contemplate formal actions (or decisions) by 

public officers which affect the public trust and the Commission has not 

interpreted the provisions to extend to meetings at which no action is taken. 

See In re Stark, Comm’n Op. No. 10-48C (2012). While the law does not require 

disclosure during discussions of a matter placed on an agenda for information 

only, to avoid an appearance of impropriety regarding potential influence or 

improper use of her public position, the better course of action would have been 

for Buffington to disclose her relationship with Wintle when agenda items 

related to Wintle’s property were discussed at the July 8, 2015 Planning 

Commission meeting.  

k. Buffington’s actions are deemed to constitute a single course of conduct 

resulting in one violation of the Ethics Law, implicating the provisions of NRS 

281A.020(1) and NRS 281A.420(1) and (3). 

l. However, the allegations pertaining to NRS 281A.400(1) and (2) and NRS 

281A.410(1)(b) are not supported by a preponderance of the evidence under 

NRS 281A.480(9) and are therefore dismissed through this Stipulated 

Agreement. 

m. Based upon the consideration and application of the statutory criteria set forth 

in NRS 281A.475, the Commission concludes that Buffington’s violation in this 

case should be deemed “willful” pursuant to NRS 281A.170. The Commission 

took into consideration the following mitigating factors:   

1) Buffington has not previously been the subject of any violation of 

the Ethics Law. This is Buffington’s first violation. She has 

resigned from public office and does not foresee holding public 

office in the future.   

2) Buffington has been diligent to cooperate with and participate in 

the Commission’s investigation and resolution of this matter. 

3) Buffington has not received any personal financial gain as the 

result of her conduct in this matter.  

/// 

/// 



DRAFT 
Stipulated Agreement 

Request for Opinion No. 16-59C 
Page 10 of 12 

 
 

4) Buffington maintains that she relied upon the advice of prior 

District Attorneys when she decided whether to vote or abstain. 

This legal advice was not, however, specific to the circumstances 

related to this RFO and therefore does not satisfy the criteria of 

NRS 281A.480.   

n. Despite these mitigating factors and although Buffington did not  intend to 

violate the Ethics Law, her violation of NRS Chapter 281A was willful because 

she acted intentionally and knowingly, as those terms are defined in NRS 

281A.105 and 281A.115, respectively.   

o. For an act to be intentional, NRS 281A.105 requires that Buffington acted 

voluntarily or deliberately. The definition further states that proof of bad faith, ill 

will, evil or malice is not required. Buffington’s conduct was not accidental or 

inadvertent. Nevertheless, Buffington did not act in bad faith or with malicious 

intent to benefit her private interests.  

p. NRS 281A.115 defines “knowingly” as “import[ing] a knowledge that the facts 

exist which constitute the act or omission.” NRS Chapter 281A does not require 

that Buffington had actual knowledge that her conduct violated the Ethics Law, 

but it does impose constructive knowledge when other facts are present that 

should put an ordinarily prudent person upon inquiry. See In re Stark, Comm’n 

Op. No. 10-48C (2010). 

q. For the willful violation, Buffington will pay a civil penalty of $500.00, pursuant 

to NRS 281A.480, not later than 90 days after her receipt of the fully executed 

Stipulated Agreement in this matter. Buffington may pay the penalty in one 

lump sum payment or in monthly installment payments as negotiated with the 

Commission’s Executive Director. 

p. This Stipulated Agreement depends on and applies only to the specific facts, 

circumstances and law related to this RFO now before the Commission. Any 

facts or circumstances that may come to light after its entry that are in addition 

to or differ from those contained herein may create a different resolution of this 

matter. 



DRAFT 
Stipulated Agreement 

Request for Opinion No. 16-59C 
Page 11 of 12 

 
 

q. This agreement is intended to apply to and resolve only this specific proceeding 

before the Commission and is not intended to be applicable to or create any 

admission of liability for any other proceeding, including administrative, civil, or 

criminal regarding Buffington. 

6.  WAIVER AND FINAL OPINION:  

a. Buffington knowingly and voluntarily waives her right to an Investigatory Panel 

proceeding and any related hearing before the full Commission on the 

allegations in this RFO (No. 16-59C) and of any and all rights she may be 

accorded with regard to this matter pursuant to NRS Chapter 281A, the 

regulations of the Commission (NAC Chapter 281A), the Nevada 

Administrative Procedures Act (NRS Chapter 233B) and any other applicable 

provisions of law.  

b. Buffington knowingly and voluntarily waives her right to any judicial review of 

this matter, as provided in NRS 281A, NRS 233B, any extraordinary writs, as 

provided in NRS Chapter 34, and any other applicable provisions of law. 

c. Upon approval of this Stipulated Agreement, the Stipulated Agreement will be 

published as the final opinion. This RFO will then be closed and no further 

action will be taken on the RFO, including under NRS 281A.480(7). 

7. ACCEPTANCE: We, the undersigned parties, have read this Stipulated 

Agreement, understand each and every provision therein, and agree to be bound thereby.  

The parties orally agreed to be bound by the terms of this agreement during the regular 

meeting of the Commission on February 15, 2017. 

 
DATED this   day of         , 2017. DRAFT          
       Kimberlie Buffington 

 
The above Stipulated Agreement is approved by: 

 
       FOR KIMBERLIE BUFFINGTON, Subject 
 
 
 
DATED this   day of         , 2017. DRAFT          
       Anthony J. Walsh, Esq. 

Counsel for Buffington 
 

FOR YVONNE M. NEVAREZ-GOODSON, ESQ. 



DRAFT 
Stipulated Agreement 

Request for Opinion No. 16-59C 
Page 12 of 12 

 
 

Executive Director, Commission on Ethics 
 

 
DATED this   day of         , 2017. DRAFT      

       Judy A. Prutzman, Esq. 
       Associate Counsel 

 
 
Approved as to form by: 
       FOR NEVADA COMMISSION ON ETHICS 

 
 
 
DATED this   day of          , 2017. DRAFT      

       Tracy L. Chase, Esq. 
       Commission Counsel 
 
The above Stipulated Agreement is accepted by the Commission.3 
 

DATED Month           , 2017. 
 
By: DRAFT   By:  DRAFT   
 Cheryl A. Lau, Esq.  Phillip K. O’Neill 
 Chair  Commissioner 

By: DRAFT   By:  DRAFT   
 Keith A. Weaver, Esq.  Amanda Yen, Esq. 
 Vice-Chair  Commissioner 

By: DRAFT   By:  DRAFT   
 Brian Duffrin  Lynn Stewart 
 Commissioner         Commissioner 

By:   DRAFT    
 Barbara Gruenewald, Esq.  
 Commissioner  

 

                                                 
3 Buffington waived her right to an Investigatory Panel pursuant to NRS 281A.440.  Accordingly, this Stipulated Agreement was 
executed prior to a Panel hearing in this matter and no Commissioner was precluded from participating in this Stipulated Agreement 
pursuant to NRS 281A.220. 

































































































































































































































































Notice of Hearing 
Request for Opinion No. 16-59C 

Page 1 of 2 
 

STATE OF NEVADA  
 

BEFORE THE NEVADA COMMISSION ON ETHICS 
 
 

In the Matter of the Third-Party Request 
for Opinion Concerning the Conduct of 
Kimberlie Buffington, Former Member, 
Lander County Planning Commission, 
State of Nevada, 
 
    Subject. /                           
 

 

Request for Opinion No. 16-59C 
 

 
AMENDED NOTICE OF HEARING 

(Amendment corrects the County name in the caption of this Notice) 
 
PLEASE TAKE NOTICE, the Nevada Commission on Ethics (“Commission”) will 

consider a Proposed Stipulated Agreement regarding the allegations submitted in 
Third-Party Request for Opinion No. 16-59C at the following time and location: 

 
The Hearing Will Take Place: 

 
Wednesday, February 15, 2017 at 9:00 a.m., or as soon thereafter as 
the Commission is able to hear the matter, at the following location: 

 
Gaming Control Board 
1919 College Parkway 
Carson City, NV 89706 

 
 

Pursuant to NRS 281A.440, Subject has waived the provisions of an investigatory 
panel proceeding and/or determination and the requirement for the Commission to 
maintain the confidentiality of this proceeding. 

 
If the Proposed Stipulated Agreement is approved, it will serve as the final Opinion 

in this matter. If the Proposed Stipulated Agreement is not approved, the Commission will 
issue a Notice of Hearing setting the date, time and location for a hearing to consider the 
matter. 

 
 
 

DATED:    February 8, 2017      /s/ Tracy L. Chase  
   Tracy L. Chase, Esq. 
   Commission Counsel 

 
  



Notice of Hearing 
Request for Opinion No. 16-59C 

Page 2 of 2 
 

CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE 
 

 I certify that I am an employee of the Nevada Commission on Ethics and that on 
this day in Carson City, Nevada, I transmitted a true and correct copy of the NOTICE OF 
HEARING in Request for Opinion No. 16-59C, via Email, addressed to the parties and 
interested persons as follows: 
 
 

Yvonne M. Nevarez-Goodson, Esq. 
Executive Director 
Judy A. Prutzman, Esq. 
Associate Counsel 
Nevada Commission on Ethics 
704 W. Nye Lane, Suite 204 
Carson City, NV 89703 
 
James M. Walsh, Esq. 
Anthony J. Walsh, Esq. 
Walsh Baker & Rosevear 
9468 Double R. Blvd. Suite A 
Reno, NV 89521 
    
   Attorneys for Subject 
 
Gary Campbell 
560 Allen Road 
Battle Mountain, NV 89820 
 
 

Email: ynevarez@ethics.nv.gov  
 
Email: jprutzman@ethics.nv.gov 
 
 
 
 
 
Email: jmwalsh@wbrl.net 
Email: awalsh@wbrl.net 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Email: gcampbell@landerso.org 
 
 
 

  
DATED:       February 8, 2017     
 Employee, Nevada Commission on Ethics 

 



AGENDA ITEM NO. 5 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

AGENDA ITEM NO. 5 

 



 

STATE OF NEVADA 
COMMISSION ON ETHICS 

 
 

 
MEMORANDUM 

 
***** 

 
 DATE:  February 8, 2017 
 TO: Commissioners 
 FROM: Judy Prutzman, Commission Associate Counsel 
 SUBJECT:  Third-Party RFO No. 16-83C (Hendrix) – DRAFT STIPULATED 

AGREEMENT  
 

 
 This Draft Stipulated Agreement has been prepared for the Commission’s 

consideration during its February 15, 2017 meeting. The terms of the Agreement will not 

be final until approved by the Commission and signed by all parties. 



 
Draft Stipulated Agreement 

Request for Opinion No. 16-83C 
Page 1 of 6 

 
 

STATE OF NEVADA 
 

BEFORE THE NEVADA COMMISSION ON ETHICS 
 

 
In the Matter of the Third-Party Request 
for Opinion Concerning the Conduct of 
Clay Hendrix, Member, Churchill County 
School District Board of Trustees,  
State of Nevada, 
 

 Subject. /                                                              

Request for Opinion No. 16-83C 
 

 
DRAFT 

STIPULATED AGREEMENT 
 
 1. PURPOSE:  This Stipulated Agreement resolves Third-Party Request for 

Opinion (“RFO”) No. 16-83C before the Nevada Commission on Ethics (“Commission”) 

concerning Clay Hendrix (“Hendrix”), Member of the Board of Trustees (“Board”) of the 

Churchill County School District (“CCSD”), State of Nevada, and serves as the final 

opinion in this matter. 

 2. JURISDICTION:  At all material times, Hendrix served as a member of the 

CCSD Board. As such, Hendrix is a public officer, as defined in NRS 281A.160. The 

Ethics in Government Law (“Ethics Law”) set forth in NRS Chapter 281A gives the 

Commission jurisdiction over elected and appointed public officers and public employees 

whose conduct is alleged to have violated the provisions of NRS Chapter 281A. See NRS 

281A.280. Accordingly, the Commission has jurisdiction over Hendrix in this matter. 

 3. PROCEDURAL HISTORY BEFORE COMMISSION: 
a. On or about December 1, 2016, the Commission received RFO No. 16-83C 

from a member of the public (“Requester”), alleging that Hendrix: 

1) Failed in his commitment to avoid conflicts between his personal interests 

and his public duties (NRS 281A.020(1)) and 

2) Failed to disclose a conflict of interest for which disclosure is required (NRS 

281A.420(1)). 



 
Draft Stipulated Agreement 

Request for Opinion No. 16-83C 
Page 2 of 6 

 
 

b. On or about December 13, 2016, Staff of the Commission issued a Notice to 

Subject under NRS 281A.440(2), stating that the Commission accepted 

jurisdiction to investigate the allegations regarding violations of NRS 

281A.020(1) and NRS 281A.420(1). Hendrix was provided an opportunity to 

respond to the RFO. 

c. On or about January 18, 2017, Hendrix, through legal counsel, filed his 

response to the RFO. 

d. Hendrix executed a Panel Waiver and Waiver of Confidentiality to permit the 

Commission to consider this Stipulated Agreement.  

e. In lieu of a panel determination and a hearing, Hendrix and the Commission 

now enter into this Stipulated Agreement, pursuant to NAC 281A.275, finding 

no violation of NRS 281A.020(1) or NRS 281A.420(1). 

f. This Stipulated Agreement provides an opportunity for the Commission to 

promote and clarify the goals of the Ethics Law and to educate all public officers 

similarly situated to Hendrix.  

 4. STIPULATED FACTS: At all material times, the following events were 

relevant to this matter: 1  

a. Clay Hendrix was elected as a Member of the CCSD Board in November, 

2010. He is a public officer as defined in NRS 281A.160. 

b. CCSD is a political subdivision as defined in NRS 281A.145. 

c. Hendrix has two sons who attended Churchill County High School during 

school year 2014-15. 

d. Sharla Hales, Esq., is a lawyer licensed in the State of Nevada and serves as 

legal counsel for the CCSD Board and, in such capacity, represents Hyde in 

these RFO proceedings. 

e. The Jump Start College program is a dual-enrollment opportunity for students 

in selected Nevada high schools, including Churchill County High School. 

Jump Start participants enroll in college courses through Western Nevada 

                                                 
1 Stipulated Facts do not constitute part of the “Investigative File” as that term is defined by NRS 
281A.440(17). All statutory and common law protections afforded to the Investigative File shall remain and 
are not affected by this Stipulated Agreement. 



 
Draft Stipulated Agreement 

Request for Opinion No. 16-83C 
Page 3 of 6 

 
 

College and earn an Associates Degree while simultaneously earning high 

school credits. 

f. At the February 5, 2015 CCSD Board meeting, Agenda Item B, under New 

Business, related to the Jump Start College program and was noted on the 

agenda as follows: 

B. For Discussion and Possible Action: Regarding the Jump Start 
Tuition Costs (BMAR-16) 
  

g. Hendrix did not disclose that his sons attended Churchill County High School 

because he knew that they were not interested in the Jump Start College 

program. 
h. Hendrix voted with other Board members to unanimously approve a motion to 

cover the cost of the Jump Start tuition in the amount of $1,402.50 per student, 

the one-time application fee, lab fees, and the cost of books. The Board also 

voted to have the District purchase a set of books for Jump Start students to 

use and return at the end of the semester.  
i. In fact, Hendrix’s sons did not participate in the Jump Start College program 

and have since left Churchill County High School. 
5. TERMS / CONCLUSIONS OF LAW:  Based on the foregoing, Hendrix and 

the Commission agree as follows: 

a. Each of the stipulated facts enumerated in Section 4 of this Stipulated 

Agreement is agreed to by the parties.   

b. Hendrix holds public office which constitutes a public trust to be held for the 

sole benefit of the people of the State of Nevada (in particular, the citizens of 

Churchill County). 

c. Hendrix had a commitment in a private capacity to the interests of his children. 

See NRS 281A.065(3). 

d. Public officers have a duty to avoid conflicts of interest. See NRS 281A.020. 

As a public officer, the conflicts of interest provisions of the Ethics Law apply to 

Hendrix’s conduct. Specifically, Hendrix must commit to avoid actual and 

perceived conflicts of interest, including publicly disclosing sufficient 

information concerning any private relationships and significant pecuniary 



 
Draft Stipulated Agreement 

Request for Opinion No. 16-83C 
Page 4 of 6 

 
 

interests which would reasonably affect his decision on matters before the 

CCSD Board, as provided in NRS 281A.420(1). As a public officer, Hendrix is 

also required to abstain from voting or otherwise acting on matters in which 

such relationships would clearly and materially affect the independence of 

judgment of a reasonable person in his position. NRS 281A.420(3). 

e. Hendrix understands that he must disclose his relationship with and the 

interests of his school-aged children whenever any matter that directly involves 

his children comes before the Board. However, he was not required to disclose 

those relationships before voting on the Jump Start College program at the 

February 5, 2015 Board meeting. There is no evidence that Hendrix’s children 

were interested in or intended to participate in the program, or that Hendrix 

and/or his children would receive any individual benefit from the Board’s 

decision to cover costs for the Jump Start College program. Accordingly, 

Hendrix’s action on the matter would not reasonably be affected by his 

commitments to the interests of his children. 

f. Based on the lack of evidence requiring disclosure, Hendrix had no obligation 

to abstain from voting on the Jump Start College program pursuant to NRS 

281A.420(3). 

g. In appreciation of the public’s concerns regarding the disclosure and abstention 

responsibilities of public officers in the context of the CCSD matters, Hendrix 

and the Commission agree to promote the Commission’s outreach efforts by 

sponsoring an Ethics in Government Law training conducted by the Executive 

Director of the Commission to encourage continued compliance with the Ethics 

Law. 

h. This Stipulated Agreement depends on and applies only to the specific facts, 

circumstances and law related to this RFO now before the Commission. Any 

facts or circumstances that may come to light after its entry that are in addition 

to or differ from those contained herein may create a different resolution of this 

matter. 

q. This agreement is intended to apply to and resolve only this specific proceeding 

before the Commission and is not intended to be applicable to or create any 



 
Draft Stipulated Agreement 

Request for Opinion No. 16-83C 
Page 5 of 6 

 
 

admission of liability for any other proceeding, including administrative, civil, or 

criminal regarding Hendrix. 

6.  WAIVER:  

a. Hendrix has waived his right to an Investigatory Panel proceeding and, upon 

approval of this Stipulation by the Commission, Hendrix knowingly and 

voluntarily waives his right to any related hearing before the full Commission 

on the allegations in this RFO (No. 16-83C) and of any and all rights he may 

be accorded with regard to this matter pursuant to NRS Chapter 281A, the 

regulations of the Commission (NAC Chapter 281A), the Nevada 

Administrative Procedures Act (NRS Chapter 233B) and any other applicable 

provisions of law.  

b. Hendrix also knowingly and voluntarily waives his right to any judicial review of 

this matter, as provided in NRS 281A, NRS 233B, any extraordinary writs as 

provided in NRS Chapter 32, or any other applicable provisions of law. 

7. ACCEPTANCE: We, the undersigned parties, have read this Stipulated 

Agreement, understand each and every provision therein, and agree to be bound thereby.  

The parties orally agreed to be bound by the terms of this agreement during the regular 

meeting of the Commission on February 15, 2017. 

 
DATED this   day of         , 2017. DRAFT          
       Clay Hendrix 

 
The above Stipulated Agreement is approved by: 

 
       FOR CLAY HENDRIX, Subject 
 
 
DATED this   day of         , 2017. DRAFT          
       Sharla S. Hales, Esq. 

 
 

FOR YVONNE M. NEVAREZ-GOODSON, ESQ. 
Executive Director, Commission on Ethics 
 

 
DATED this   day of         , 2017. DRAFT      

       Judy A. Prutzman, Esq. 
       Associate Counsel 

 
 



 
Draft Stipulated Agreement 

Request for Opinion No. 16-83C 
Page 6 of 6 

 
 

Approved as to form by: 
       FOR NEVADA COMMISSION ON ETHICS 

 
 
DATED this   day of          , 2017. DRAFT      

       Tracy L. Chase, Esq. 
       Commission Counsel 
 
 
 
The above Stipulated Agreement is accepted by the Commission.2 
 

DATED February 15, 2017. 
 
By: DRAFT   By:  DRAFT   
 Cheryl A. Lau, Esq.  Phillip K. O’Neill 
 Chair  Commissioner 

By: DRAFT   By:  DRAFT   
 Keith A. Weaver, Esq.  Lynn Stewart 
 Vice-Chair  Commissioner 

By: DRAFT   By:  DRAFT   
 Brian Duffrin  Amanda Yen, Esq. 
 Commissioner         Commissioner 

By:   DRAFT    
 Barbara Gruenewald, Esq.  
 Commissioner  

 

                                                 
2 Hendrix waived his right to an Investigatory Panel pursuant to NRS 281A.440.  Accordingly, this Stipulated Agreement was executed 
prior to a Panel hearing in this matter and no Commissioner was precluded from participating in this Stipulated Agreement pursuant 
to NRS 281A.220. 















Notice of Hearing 
Request for Opinion No. 16-83C 

Page 1 of 2 
 

STATE OF NEVADA  
 

BEFORE THE NEVADA COMMISSION ON ETHICS 
 
 

In the Matter of the Third-Party Request 
for Opinion Concerning the Conduct of 
Clay Hendrix, Member, Churchill County 
School District Board of Trustees, State 
of Nevada, 
 
    Subject. /                           
 
 

 

Request for Opinion No. 16-83C 
 

AMENDED NOTICE OF HEARING 
(Amendment establishes Meeting Location will be in Carson City only) 

 
PLEASE TAKE NOTICE, the Nevada Commission on Ethics (“Commission”) will 

consider a Proposed Stipulated Agreement regarding the allegations submitted in 
Third-Party Request for Opinion No. 16-83C at the following time and location: 

 
The Hearing Will Take Place: 

 
Wednesday, February 15, 2017 at 9:00 a.m., or as soon thereafter as 
the Commission is able to hear the matter, at the following location: 

 
Gaming Control Board 
1919 College Parkway 
Carson City, NV 89706 

 
Pursuant to NRS 281A.440, Subject has waived the provisions of an investigatory 

panel proceeding and/or determination and the requirement for the Commission to 
maintain the confidentiality of this proceeding. 

 
If the Proposed Stipulated Agreement is approved, it will serve as the final Opinion 

in this matter. If the Proposed Stipulated Agreement is not approved, the Commission will 
issue a Notice of Hearing setting the date, time and location for a hearing to consider the 
matter. 

 
 
 

DATED:    February 7, 2017      /s/ Tracy L. Chase  
   Tracy L. Chase, Esq. 
   Commission Counsel 

 
  



Notice of Hearing 
Request for Opinion No. 16-83C 

Page 2 of 2 
 

CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE 
 

 I certify that I am an employee of the Nevada Commission on Ethics and that on 
this day in Carson City, Nevada, I transmitted a true and correct copy of the AMENDED 
NOTICE OF HEARING in Request for Opinion No. 16-83C, via Email, addressed to the 
parties and interested persons as follows: 
 
 

Yvonne M. Nevarez-Goodson, Esq. 
Executive Director 
Judy A. Prutzman, Esq. 
Associate Counsel 
Nevada Commission on Ethics 
704 W. Nye Lane, Suite 204 
Carson City, NV 89703 
 
Sharla S. Hales, Esq. 
883 Mahogany Drive 
Minden, NV 89423 
    
   Attorney for Subject 
 
Elena Marsh 
1030 Dean Lane 
Fallon, NV 89406 
 
 

Email: ynevarez@ethics.nv.gov  
 
Email: jprutzman@ethics.nv.gov 
 
 
 
 
 
Email: sharlahales@gmail.com 
 
 
 
 
 
Email: sawa35@hotmail.com 
 
 
 

  
DATED:       February 7, 2017     
 Employee, Nevada Commission on Ethics 

 



AGENDA ITEM NO. 6 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

AGENDA ITEM NO. 6 

 



 

STATE OF NEVADA 
COMMISSION ON ETHICS 

 
 

 
MEMORANDUM 

 
***** 

 
 DATE:  February 8, 2017 
 TO: Commissioners 
 FROM: Judy Prutzman, Commission Associate Counsel 
 SUBJECT:  Third-Party RFO No. 16-84C (Hyde) – DRAFT STIPULATED 

AGREEMENT  
 

 
 This Draft Stipulated Agreement has been prepared for the Commission’s 

consideration during its February 15, 2017 meeting. The terms of the Agreement will not 

be final until approved by the Commission and signed by all parties. 



Draft Stipulated Agreement 
Request for Opinion No. 16-84C 

Page 1 of 9 
 
 

STATE OF NEVADA 
 

BEFORE THE NEVADA COMMISSION ON ETHICS 
 

 
In the Matter of the Third-Party Request 
for Opinion Concerning the Conduct of 
Matt Hyde, Member, Churchill County 
School District Board of Trustees,  
State of Nevada, 
 

 Subject. /                                                              

Request for Opinion No. 16-84C 
 

 
DRAFT 

STIPULATED AGREEMENT 
 
 1. PURPOSE:  This Stipulated Agreement resolves Third-Party Request for 

Opinion (“RFO”) No. 16-84C before the Nevada Commission on Ethics (“Commission”) 

concerning Matt Hyde (“Hyde”), a Member of the Board of Trustees (“Board”) for the 

Churchill County School District (“CCSD”), State of Nevada, and serves as the final 

opinion in this matter. 

 2. JURISDICTION:  At all material times, Hyde served as a member of the 

CCSD Board. As such, Hyde is a public officer, as defined in NRS 281A.160. The Ethics 

in Government Law (“Ethics Law”) set forth in NRS Chapter 281A gives the Commission 

jurisdiction over elected and appointed public officers and public employees whose 

conduct is alleged to have violated the provisions of NRS Chapter 281A. See NRS 

281A.280. Accordingly, the Commission has jurisdiction over Hyde in this matter. 

 3. PROCEDURAL HISTORY BEFORE COMMISSION: 
a. On or about December 1, 2016, the Commission received RFO No. 16-84C 

from a member of the public (“Requester”), alleging that Hyde: 

1) Failed in his commitment to avoid conflicts between his personal interests 

and his public duties (NRS 281A.020(1)); 

2) Failed to disclose a conflict of interest for which disclosure is required (NRS 

281A.420(1)); and 



Draft Stipulated Agreement 
Request for Opinion No. 16-84C 

Page 2 of 9 
 
 

3) Failed to abstain from acting on a matter in which he had a conflict of interest 

(NRS 281A.420(3)). 

b. On or about December 13, 2016, staff of the Commission issued a Notice to 

Subject under NRS 281A.440(2) stating that the Commission accepted 

jurisdiction to investigate the allegations regarding violations of NRS 

281A.020(1) and NRS 281A.420(1) and (3). Hyde was provided an opportunity 

to respond to the RFO.  

c. On or about January 18, 2017, Hyde, through legal counsel, provided a written 

Response to the RFO.  

d. Hyde executed a Panel Waiver and Waiver of Confidentiality to permit the 

Commission to consider this Stipulated Agreement. 

e. In lieu of a panel determination and a hearing, Hyde and the Commission now 

enter into this Stipulated Agreement, pursuant to NAC 281A.275, finding no 

violation of NRS 281A.020(1) or NRS 281A.420(1) and (3). 

f. This RFO presented a case of first impression for the Commission with respect 

to a public officer voting on a consent agenda item that approves his 

appointment to a volunteer coaching position that does not involve anything of 

economic value. This Stipulated Agreement provides an opportunity for the 

Commission to promote and clarify the goals of the Ethics Law and to educate 

all public officers similarly situated to Hyde.  

 4. STIPULATED FACTS: At all material times, the following facts were 

relevant to this matter:1  

a. Matt Hyde was elected as a Member of the CCSD Board in November, 2015. 

He is a public officer as defined in NRS 281A.160. 

b. CCSD is a political subdivision as defined in NRS 281A.145. 

c. Hyde has two sons who attended Churchill County High School as 

sophomores during school year 2014-15. 

/// 

/// 

                                                 
1 Stipulated Facts do not constitute part of the “Investigative File” as that term is defined by NRS 
281A.440(17). All statutory and common law protections afforded to the Investigative File shall remain and 
are not affected by this Stipulated Agreement. 



Draft Stipulated Agreement 
Request for Opinion No. 16-84C 

Page 3 of 9 
 
 

d. Sharla Hales, Esq., is a lawyer licensed in the State of Nevada and serves as 

legal counsel for the CCSD Board and, in such capacity, represents Hyde in 

these RFO proceedings. 

e. The Jump Start College program is a dual-enrollment opportunity for students 

in selected Nevada high schools, including Churchill County High School. 

Jump Start participants enroll in college courses through Western Nevada 

College and earn an Associates Degree while simultaneously earning high 

school credits. 

f. The CCSD Board approves certain recommended personnel actions in the 

District and such actions are regularly listed in Board materials and included 

on consent agendas which contain items that the District staff believe to be 

routine and without any reasonable basis for the Board to vote against the 

items. 

Jump Start College Program 

g. At the February 5, 2015 CCSD Board meeting, Agenda Item B, under New 

Business, related to the Jump Start College program and was noted on the 

agenda as follows: 

B. For Discussion and Possible Action: Regarding the Jump Start 
 Tuition Costs (BMAR-16) 

  
h. Hyde did not disclose that his sons attended Churchill County High School 

because, although they were academically qualified to participate, he knew 

that they were not interested in the Jump Start College program. 
i. Hyde voted with other Board members to unanimously approve a motion to 

cover the cost of the Jump Start tuition in the amount of $1,402.50 per student, 

the one-time application fee, lab fees, and the cost of books. The Board also 

voted to have the District purchase a set of books for Jump Start students to 

use and return at the end of the semester.  
j. In fact, Hyde’s sons did not participate in the Jump Start College program. 

/// 

/// 

/// 



Draft Stipulated Agreement 
Request for Opinion No. 16-84C 

Page 4 of 9 
 
 

Volunteer JV Football Coaching Position 
k. At the August 13, 2015 CCSD Board Meeting, there were five items placed on 

the Consent Agenda. Consent Agenda Item A related to a recommended 

personnel action that involved Hyde and was noted on the agenda as follows: 
A. Approval of Recommended Personnel Action (Attachment A)  

 
l. The Board Agenda included Attachment A, which indicated that Hyde was 

recommended to fill the position of Assistant JV Football Coach, a part-time 

non-paid position.  

m. Hyde was the only applicant interested in and considered for the JV coaching 

position. Hyde’s sons played football on the varsity team and therefore would 

not interact with the JV Football Coach. 

n. The minutes reflect the following: 

Trustee Hyde stated that his name is listed under Item 6, Extra 
Curricular Activities Assistant JV Football Coach, which is a non-
paid strictly volunteer position.  

  
o. Hyde voted with the Board to unanimously approve the Consent Agenda. 

p. At the August 13, 2015 meeting, Hyde conferred with Sharla Hales, Esq., and 

was advised that he did not need to abstain from voting on his coaching 

position because there was no pay or benefits attached to the volunteer 

position.  

q. The volunteer coaching position did not provide remuneration for Hyde’s 

services and Hyde had no expectation of receiving anything of value for his 

coaching assistance.  

r. Hyde did not travel with the JV football team and received no per diem 

reimbursements or meals. Hyde received a polo shirt and a sweatshirt from 

the head coach, who received these items free from a company with which the 

coach did business for the team.  

s. At the end of the football season, the high school boosters club gave $500 to 

Hyde as a gift for his volunteer services. This gift was unexpected by Hyde and 

funds for this gift were acquired from private donations and did not include any 

public funds from the District. 



Draft Stipulated Agreement 
Request for Opinion No. 16-84C 

Page 5 of 9 
 
 

5. TERMS / CONCLUSIONS OF LAW:  Based on the foregoing, Hyde and 

the Commission agree as follows: 

a. Each of the stipulated facts enumerated in Section 4 of this Stipulated 

Agreement is agreed to by the parties.   

b. Hyde holds public office which constitutes a public trust to be held for the sole 

benefit of the people of the State of Nevada (in particular, the citizens of 

Churchill County). 

c. Hyde has a commitment in a private capacity to the interests of his children. 

See NRS 281A.065(3).  

d. Public officers have a duty to avoid conflicts of interest. See NRS 281A.020. 

As a public officer, the conflicts of interest provisions of the Ethics Law apply to 

Hyde’s conduct. Specifically, Hyde must commit to avoid actual and perceived 

conflicts of interest, including publicly disclosing sufficient information 

concerning any private relationships and significant pecuniary interests which 

would reasonably affect his decision on matters before the CCSD Board, as 

provided in NRS 281A.420(1). As a public officer, Hyde is also required to 

abstain from voting or otherwise acting on matters in which such relationships 

would clearly and materially affect the independence of judgment of a 

reasonable person in his position. NRS 281A.420(3). 

e. The disclosure and abstention requirements of NRS 281A.420 extend to 

consent agenda items. See In re Tobler and Mayes, Comm’n Op. Nos. 11-76C 

and 11-77C (2012). Each matter on a consent agenda requires action for final 

approval. Without a formal vote of the Board, the consent item is not approved 

and any staff action does not become effective. Accordingly, when considering 

items on a consent agenda, public officers are required to properly disclose any 

significant pecuniary interests or commitments in a private capacity to the 

interests of others and undertake the statutorily directed abstention analysis on 

the record to determine whether abstention is appropriate.  

Jump Start College Program 

f. Hyde understands that he must disclose his relationship with and the interests 

of his school-aged children whenever any matter that directly involves his 



Draft Stipulated Agreement 
Request for Opinion No. 16-84C 

Page 6 of 9 
 
 

children comes before the Board. However, he was not required to disclose 

those relationships before voting on the Jump Start College program at the 

February 5, 2015 Board meeting. There is no evidence that Hyde’s children 

were interested in or intended to participate in the program, or that Hyde and/or 

his children would receive any individual benefit from the Board’s decision to 

cover costs for the Jump Start College program. Accordingly, Hyde’s action on 

the matter would not reasonably be affected by his commitments to the 

interests of his children. 

g. Based on the lack of evidence requiring disclosure, Hyde had no obligation to 

abstain from voting on the Jump Start College program pursuant to NRS 

281A.420(3). 

Volunteer JV Football Coaching Position 
h. A “pecuniary interest” means any beneficial or detrimental interest in a matter 

that consists of or is measured in money or is otherwise related to money, 

including anything of economic value. NRS 281A.139. 

i. Hyde’s volunteer coaching position is not the type of significant pecuniary 

interest that would reasonably affect his decision on the consent agenda item 

involving personnel matters, because Hyde’s interest in the position did not 

include the expectation of anything of economic value. However, it is the 

avoidance of conflict and appearance of impropriety, even though actual 

impropriety is lacking, that the Ethics Law requires. See In re Collins, Comm’n 

Op. No. 11-78A (2011). A public officer’s disclosure is important even where 

the conflict is remote in some aspects. In In re Weber, Comm’n Op. No. 09-47A 

(2009), the Commission held:  

In keeping with the public trust, a public officer’s disclosure is 
paramount to transparency and openness in government. The public 
policy favoring disclosure promotes accountability and scrutiny of the 
conduct of government officials…Such disclosures dispel any 
question concerning conflicts of interest and may very well ward off 
complaints against the public officer based on failure to disclose.  
 



Draft Stipulated Agreement 
Request for Opinion No. 16-84C 

Page 7 of 9 
 
 

Therefore, Hyde properly sought legal advice from the Board’s legal counsel 

and disclosed the perceived conflict regarding his recommended appointment 

to the JV Assistant Football Coach position. 

j. Abstention is only required when a reasonable person’s independence of 

judgment is “materially affected by” the public officer’s significant pecuniary 

interest or commitment in a private capacity. See NRS 281A.420 and In re 

Woodbury, Comm’n Op. No. 99-56(1999). The evidence does not indicate that 

Hyde had a significant pecuniary interest that would be materially affected by 

a volunteer coaching position in which there was no expectation of economic 

value associated with the position.  

k. In appreciation of the public’s concerns regarding the disclosure and abstention 

responsibilities of public officers in the context of the CCSD matters, Hyde and 

the Commission agree to promote the Commission’s outreach efforts by 

sponsoring an Ethics in Government Law training conducted by the Executive 

Director of the Commission to encourage continued compliance with the Ethics 

Law.   

l. This Stipulated Agreement depends on and applies only to the specific facts, 

circumstances and law related to this RFO now before the Commission. Any 

facts or circumstances that may come to light after its entry that are in addition 

to or differ from those contained herein may create a different resolution of this 

matter. 

m. This agreement is intended to apply to and resolve only this specific proceeding 

before the Commission and is not intended to be applicable to or create any 

admission of liability for any other proceeding, including administrative, civil, or 

criminal regarding Hyde. 

6.  WAIVER:  

a. Hyde has waived his right to an Investigatory Panel proceeding and, upon 

approval of this Stipulation by the Commission, Hyde  knowingly and voluntarily 

waives his right to any related hearing before the full Commission on the 

allegations in this RFO (No. 16-84C) and of any and all rights he may be 

accorded with regard to this matter pursuant to NRS Chapter 281A, the 



Draft Stipulated Agreement 
Request for Opinion No. 16-84C 

Page 8 of 9 
 
 

regulations of the Commission (NAC Chapter 281A), the Nevada 

Administrative Procedures Act (NRS Chapter 233B) and any other applicable 

provisions of law.  

b. Hyde also knowingly and voluntarily waives his right to any judicial review of 

this matter, as provided in NRS Chapter 281A, NRS Chapter 233B, any 

extraordinary writs as provided in NRS Chapter 34, or any other applicable 

provisions of law. 

7. ACCEPTANCE: We, the undersigned parties, have read this Stipulated 

Agreement, understand each and every provision therein, and agree to be bound thereby.  

The parties orally agreed to be bound by the terms of this agreement during the regular 

meeting of the Commission on February 15, 2017. 

 
DATED this   day of         , 2017. DRAFT          
       Matt Hyde 

 
The above Stipulated Agreement is approved by: 

 
       FOR MATT HYDE, Subject 
 
 
DATED this   day of         , 2017. DRAFT          
       Sharla S. Hales, Esq. 

 
 
FOR YVONNE M. NEVAREZ-GOODSON, ESQ. 
Executive Director, Commission on Ethics 

 
 
DATED this   day of         , 2017. DRAFT      

       Judy A. Prutzman, Esq. 
       Associate Counsel 

 
Approved as to form by: 
       FOR NEVADA COMMISSION ON ETHICS 

 
 
DATED this   day of          , 2017. DRAFT      

       Tracy L. Chase, Esq. 
       Commission Counsel 
  



Draft Stipulated Agreement 
Request for Opinion No. 16-84C 

Page 9 of 9 
 
 

The above Stipulated Agreement is accepted by the Commission.2 
 

 
DATED February 15, 2017. 
 
 
By: DRAFT   By:   DRAFT   
 Cheryl A. Lau, Esq.  Phillip K. O’Neill 
 Chair  Commissioner 

By: DRAFT   By:   DRAFT   
 Keith A. Weaver, Esq.  Lynn Stewart 
 Vice-Chair  Commissioner 

By: DRAFT   By:   DRAFT   
 Brian Duffrin  Amanda Yen, Esq. 
 Commissioner         Commissioner 

By:   DRAFT   
 Barbara Gruenewald, Esq. 
 Commissioner 

 

                                                 
2 Hyde waived her right to an Investigatory Panel pursuant to NRS 281A.440.  Accordingly, this Stipulated Agreement was executed 
prior to a Panel hearing in this matter and no Commissioner was precluded from participating in this Stipulated Agreement pursuant 
to NRS 281A.220. 

















Notice of Hearing 
Request for Opinion No. 16-84C 

Page 1 of 2 
 

STATE OF NEVADA  
 

BEFORE THE NEVADA COMMISSION ON ETHICS 
 
 

In the Matter of the Third-Party Request 
for Opinion Concerning the Conduct of 
Matt Hyde, Member, Churchill County 
School District Board of Trustees, State 
of Nevada, 
 
    Subject. /                           
 
 

 

Request for Opinion No. 16-84C 
 

AMENDED NOTICE OF HEARING 
(Amendment establishes Meeting Location will be in Carson City only) 

 
PLEASE TAKE NOTICE, the Nevada Commission on Ethics (“Commission”) will 

consider a Proposed Stipulated Agreement regarding the allegations submitted in 
Third-Party Request for Opinion No. 16-84C at the following time and location: 

 
The Hearing Will Take Place: 

 
Wednesday, February 15, 2017 at 9:00 a.m., or as soon thereafter as 
the Commission is able to hear the matter, at the following location: 

 
Gaming Control Board 
1919 College Parkway 
Carson City, NV 89706 

 
Pursuant to NRS 281A.440, Subject has waived the provisions of an investigatory 

panel proceeding and/or determination and the requirement for the Commission to 
maintain the confidentiality of this proceeding. 

 
If the Proposed Stipulated Agreement is approved, it will serve as the final Opinion 

in this matter. If the Proposed Stipulated Agreement is not approved, the Commission will 
issue a Notice of Hearing setting the date, time and location for a hearing to consider the 
matter. 

 
 
 

DATED:    February 7, 2017      /s/ Tracy L. Chase  
   Tracy L. Chase, Esq. 
   Commission Counsel 

 
  



Notice of Hearing 
Request for Opinion No. 16-84C 

Page 2 of 2 
 

CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE 
 

 I certify that I am an employee of the Nevada Commission on Ethics and that on 
this day in Carson City, Nevada, I transmitted a true and correct copy of the AMENDED 
NOTICE OF HEARING in Request for Opinion No. 16-84C, via Email, addressed to the 
parties and interested persons as follows: 
 
 

Yvonne M. Nevarez-Goodson, Esq. 
Executive Director 
Judy A. Prutzman, Esq. 
Associate Counsel 
Nevada Commission on Ethics 
704 W. Nye Lane, Suite 204 
Carson City, NV 89703 
 
Sharla S. Hales, Esq. 
883 Mahogany Drive 
Minden, NV 89423 
    
   Attorney for Subject 
 
Elena Marsh 
1030 Dean Lane 
Fallon, NV 89406 
 
 

Email: ynevarez@ethics.nv.gov  
 
Email: jprutzman@ethics.nv.gov 
 
 
 
 
 
Email: sharlahales@gmail.com 
 
 
 
 
 
Email: sawa35@hotmail.com 
 
 
 

  
DATED:       February 7, 2017     
 Employee, Nevada Commission on Ethics 

 



AGENDA ITEM NO. 7 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

AGENDA ITEM NO. 7 

 



 

STATE OF NEVADA 
COMMISSION ON ETHICS 

 
 

 
MEMORANDUM 

 
***** 

 
 DATE:  February 8, 2017 
 TO: Commissioners 
 FROM: Judy Prutzman, Commission Associate Counsel 
 SUBJECT:  Third-Party RFO No. 16-85C (Strasdin) – DRAFT STIPULATED 

AGREEMENT  
 

 
 This Draft Stipulated Agreement has been prepared for the Commission’s 

consideration during its February 15, 2017 meeting. The terms of the Agreement will not 

be final until approved by the Commission and signed by all parties. 



DRAFT 
Stipulated Agreement 

Request for Opinion No. 16-85C 
Page 1 of 9 

 
 

STATE OF NEVADA 
 

BEFORE THE NEVADA COMMISSION ON ETHICS 
 

 
In the Matter of the Third-Party Request 
for Opinion Concerning the Conduct of 
Tricia Strasdin, Member, Churchill 
County School District Board of Trustees, 
State of Nevada, 
 

 Subject. /                                                              

Request for Opinion No. 16-85C 
 

 
DRAFT 

STIPULATED AGREEMENT 
 
 1. PURPOSE:  This Stipulated Agreement resolves Third-Party Request for 

Opinion (“RFO”) No. 16-85C before the Nevada Commission on Ethics (“Commission”) 

concerning Tricia Strasdin (“Strasdin”), a Member of the Board of Trustees (“Board”) for 

the Churchill County School District (“CCSD”), State of Nevada, and serves as the final 

opinion in this matter. 

 2. JURISDICTION:  At all material times, Strasdin served as a member of the 

CCSD Board. As such, Strasdin is a public officer, as defined in NRS 281A.160. The 

Ethics in Government Law (“Ethics Law”) set forth in NRS Chapter 281A gives the 

Commission jurisdiction over elected and appointed public officers and public employees 

whose conduct is alleged to have violated the provisions of NRS Chapter 281A. See NRS 

281A.280. Accordingly, the Commission has jurisdiction over Strasdin in this matter. 

 3. PROCEDURAL HISTORY BEFORE COMMISSION: 
a. On or about December 1, 2016, the Commission received RFO No. 16-85C 

from a member of the public (“Requester”), alleging that Strasdin: 

1) Failed in her commitment to avoid conflicts between her personal interests 

and her public duties (NRS 281A.020(1)); 

2) Failed to disclose a conflict of interest for which disclosure is required (NRS 

281A.420(1)); and 















DRAFT 
Stipulated Agreement 

Request for Opinion No. 16-85C 
Page 2 of 9 

 
 

3) Failed to abstain from acting on a matter in which she had a conflict of 

interest (NRS 281A.420(3)). 

b. On or about December 13, 2016, staff of the Commission issued a Notice to 

Subject under NRS 281A.440(2), stating that the Commission accepted 

jurisdiction to investigate the allegations regarding violations of NRS 

281A.020(1) and NRS 281A.420(1) and (3). Strasdin was provided an 

opportunity to respond to the RFO.  

c. On or about January 18, 2017, Strasdin, through legal counsel, Sharla Hales, 

Esq., provided a written Response to the RFO.  

d. Strasdin waived her right to a panel determination pursuant to NRS 281A.440 

and acknowledges that credible evidence establishes just and sufficient cause 

for the Commission to render an opinion regarding the allegations implicating 

NRS 281A.020 and 281A.420(1) and (3).  

e. In lieu of a panel determination and a hearing, Strasdin now enters into this 

Stipulated Agreement acknowledging her duty as a public officer to commit 

herself to protect the public trust and conform her conduct to Chapter 281A of 

the Nevada Revised Statutes.  

 4. STIPULATED FACTS: At all material times, the following facts were 

relevant to this matter: 1  

a. Tricia Strasdin was appointed as a Member of the CCSD Board on June 23, 

2016. She is a public officer as defined in NRS 281A.160. 

b. CCSD is a political subdivision as defined in NRS 281A.145. 

c. Michelle Dalager (“Dalager”) resides with Strasdin and is employed by CCSD 

as a teacher at Churchill County High School.  

d. Sharla Hales, Esq., is a lawyer licensed in the State of Nevada and serves as 

legal counsel for the CCSD Board and is representing Strasdin in these RFO 

proceedings. 

e. The CCSD Board approves certain recommended personnel actions in the 

district and such actions are regularly listed on the Board agenda and materials 

                                                 
1 Stipulated Facts do not constitute part of the “Investigative File” as that term is defined by NRS 
281A.440(17). All statutory and common law protections afforded to the Investigative File shall remain and 
are not affected by this Stipulated Agreement. 



DRAFT 
Stipulated Agreement 

Request for Opinion No. 16-85C 
Page 3 of 9 

 
 

and are included on consent agendas which contain items that the District staff 

believe to be routine and without any reasonable basis for the Board to vote 

against the items. 

f. As a Board member, Strasdin holds final authority over decisions that affect 

Ms. Dalager’s terms and conditions of employment with CCSD, including her 

benefits and salary. 

August 11, 2016 CCSD Board Meeting 

g. At the August 11, 2016 meeting, the Consent Agenda included seven items. 

Consent Agenda Item A involved Ms. Dalager and was noted on the agenda 

as follows: 

A. Approval of Recommended Personnel Action (Attachment A)  
 

h. Attachment A to the agenda listed Ms. Dalager as the person recommended 

to fill the position of 8th Grade Girls Basketball Coach, a part-time paid position. 

i. The August 11, 2016 meeting was the second full Board meeting attended by 

Strasdin as a new Board member.   

j. Strasdin does not recall that Consent Agenda Item A involved Ms. Dalager. 

Consequently, she did not provide a disclosure regarding her relationship with 

Ms. Dalager and voted with the Board to approve the Consent Agenda 

unanimously.  

October 27, 2016 CCSD Board Meeting 
k. At the October 27, 2016 meeting, the Consent Agenda included eleven items. 

Consent Agenda Item A involved Ms. Dalager and was noted on the agenda 

as follows: 

A. Approval of Recommended Personnel Action (Attachment A)  
 

l. The original Board Material Packet included Attachment A, which did not list 

Ms. Dalager as the person recommended to fill the position of Head JV Boys 

Basketball Coach, a part-time paid position.  

m. A revised Attachment A, which included Dalager’s name, was provided to 

Strasdin and other Board members when they arrived at the meeting. 

n. The minutes reflect the following: 



DRAFT 
Stipulated Agreement 

Request for Opinion No. 16-85C 
Page 4 of 9 

 
 

Trustee Strasdin disclosed that under extra-curricular 
activities on the personnel sheet that her partner, Michelle 
Dalager, is recommended for the Head JV Boys 
Basketball Coaching position for which she has coached 
for a long time. 
  

o. Strasdin did not have time to confer with Sharla Hales, Esq. about her 

abstention obligation before she voted with the Board to approve the Consent 

Agenda unanimously.   

5. TERMS / CONCLUSIONS OF LAW:  Based on the foregoing, Strasdin and 

the Commission agree as follows: 

a. Each of the stipulated facts enumerated in Section 4 of this Stipulated 

Agreement is agreed to by the parties.   

b. Strasdin holds public office which constitutes a public trust to be held for the 

sole benefit of the people of the State of Nevada (in particular, the citizens of 

Churchill County. 

c. Strasdin has a commitment in a private capacity to the interests of Ms. Dalager 

because she has a relationship with Dalager that is substantially similar to a 

domestic partnership. See NRS 281A.065(6).  

d. Public officers have a duty to avoid conflicts of interest. See NRS 281A.020. 

As a public officer, the conflicts of interest provisions of the Ethics Law apply to 

Strasdin’s conduct. Specifically, Strasdin must commit to avoid actual and 

perceived conflicts of interest, including publicly disclosing sufficient 

information concerning any private relationships and pecuniary interests which 

would reasonably affect her decision on matters before the CCSD Board. See 

NRS 281A.420(1). As a public officer, Strasdin is also required to abstain from 

voting or otherwise acting on matters in which the interests of persons with 

whom she shares such relationships would clearly and materially affect the 

independence of judgment of a reasonable person in her position. NRS 

281A.420(3). 

e. The disclosure and abstention requirements of NRS 281A.420 extend to 

consent agenda items. See In re Tobler and Mayes, Comm’n Op. Nos. 11-76C 

and 11-77C (2012). Each matter on a consent agenda requires action for final 



DRAFT 
Stipulated Agreement 

Request for Opinion No. 16-85C 
Page 5 of 9 

 
 

approval. Without a formal vote of the Board, the consent item is not approved 

and any staff action does not become effective. Accordingly, when considering 

items on a consent agenda, public officers are required to properly disclose any 

significant pecuniary interests or commitments in a private capacity to the 

interests of others and undertake the statutorily directed abstention analysis on 

the record to determine whether abstention is appropriate.  

f. Strasdin understands that she must disclose her relationship with Ms. Dalager 

whenever a matter involving Dalager comes before the Board, even though the 

relationship is a matter of public record by virtue of Strasdin’s disclosure at the 

October 27, 2016. Such matters include, but are not limited to, the topics of 

labor management, discussions about salaries, job duties, employment 

benefits, pension plans, disciplinary matters, litigation, general terms and 

conditions of employment, and personnel policy issues. See In re Murnane, 

Comm’n Op. No. 15-45A (2016). 

g. Under prior Commission precedent, public officials must vigilantly search for 

reasonably ascertainable potential conflicts of interest and cannot remain 

unaware of readily knowable facts. In re Atkinson Gates, Williams and Malone, 

Comm’n Op. Nos. 97-54, 97-59, 97-66, 97-53 and 97-52 (1997). Instead, public 

officials must design and implement systems to spot and respond to potential 

ethical conflicts. Id.  

h. Disclosures required by the Ethics Law must occur “at the time the matter is 

considered.” NRS 281A.420(1). The Ethics Law does not recognize a 

continuing disclosure or a disclosure by reference. Silence based upon a prior 

disclosure at a prior meeting fails to inform the public of the nature and extent 

of the conflict at the meeting where no actual disclosure occurred. See In re 

Buck, Comm’n Opinion No. 11-63C (2011) (holding that incorporation by 

reference of her prior disclosure even though based upon the advice of 

counsel, did not satisfy the disclosure requirements of NRS 281A.420(1). 

i. As a public officer, Strasdin is also prohibited from voting upon or advocating 

for or against the passage of a matter in which the independence of judgment 

of a reasonable person in her situation would be materially affected by her 



DRAFT 
Stipulated Agreement 

Request for Opinion No. 16-85C 
Page 6 of 9 

 
 

commitment to Ms. Dalager. NRS 281A.420(3)(c). However, it is presumed that 

the independence of judgment of a reasonable person is not materially affected 

if the resulting benefits or detriments to the public officer, or the person to whom 

the public officer has a commitment in a private capacity, are not more or less 

than those accruing to any other member of the group affected by the matter. 

NRS 281A.420(4)(a). Accordingly, provided Strasdin makes a proper 

disclosure, she need not abstain on matters where the result of Board action 

provides no special advantage or particular benefit or detriment to either herself 

or Ms. Dalager, but will impact all District employees in the same manner.  

j. Strasdin understands that she has a continuing duty to conduct an abstention 

analysis under NRS 281A.420(3) and must abstain from acting on matters in 

which the independence of judgment of a reasonable person in Strasdin’s 

situation would be materially affected by her commitment in a private capacity 

to the interests of Ms. Dalager. In particular, Strasdin clearly has an obligation 

to abstain when the Board considers the terms and conditions of Dalager’s 

employment. Strasdin must also take responsibility for the analysis of non-

employment matters that come before the Board and make a reasonable 

determination as to whether her relationship with Ms. Dalager would tend to 

influence a reasonable person in her situation in rendering votes or other 

decisions, including whether there would be an appearance that her vote would 

be influenced by her private relationship with Ms. Dalager. See In re Public 

Officer, Comm’n Op. No. 16-14A (2016) (discussing disclosure and abstention 

standards applicable to spouses). 

k. Strasdin’s actions constitute a single course of conduct resulting in one 

nonwillful violation of the Ethics Law, implicating the provisions of NRS 

281A.020(1) and NRS 281A.420(1) and (3). 

l. Based upon the consideration and application of the statutory mitigating criteria 

set forth in NRS 281A.475, the Commission concludes that Strasdin’s violation 

in this case should not be deemed a “willful violation” pursuant to NRS 

281A.170 and the imposition of a civil penalty pursuant to NRS 281A.480 is not 

appropriate for the reasons that follow:  



DRAFT 
Stipulated Agreement 

Request for Opinion No. 16-85C 
Page 7 of 9 

 
 

1) The gravity of the violation is not substantial; 

2) Strasdin has not previously been the subject of any violation of the 

Ethics Law; 

3) Strasdin has not received any personal financial gain as the result of 

her conduct in this matter; 

4) Strasdin has been diligent to cooperate with and participate in the 

Commission’s investigation and analysis, as well as the resolution of 

this matter; and 

5) Strasdin, as a recently appointed Board member, is holding her first 

public office. 

m. Strasdin agrees to attend an Ethics in Government Law training session with 

the Commission’s Executive Director for the CCSD Board members, to ensure 

that the Board members understand the disclosure and abstention 

requirements, including responsibilities related to consent agenda items. See, 

e.g., In re Woodbury, Comm’n Op. No. 16-40C (2016).  

n. This Stipulated Agreement depends on and applies only to the specific facts, 

circumstances and law related to this RFO now before the Commission. Any 

facts or circumstances that may come to light after its entry that are in addition 

to or differ from those contained herein may create a different resolution of this 

matter. 

o. This agreement is intended to apply to and resolve only this specific proceeding 

before the Commission and is not intended to be applicable to or create any 

admission of liability for any other proceeding, including administrative, civil, or 

criminal regarding Strasdin. 

6.  WAIVER:  

a. Strasdin knowingly and voluntarily waives her right to an Investigatory Panel 

proceeding and any related hearing before the full Commission on the 

allegations in this RFO (No. 16-85C) and of any and all rights she may be 

accorded with regard to this matter pursuant to NRS Chapter 281A, the 

regulations of the Commission (NAC Chapter 281A), the Nevada 



DRAFT 
Stipulated Agreement 

Request for Opinion No. 16-85C 
Page 8 of 9 

 
 

Administrative Procedures Act (NRS Chapter 233B) and any other applicable 

provisions of law.  

b. Strasdin knowingly and voluntarily waives her right to any judicial review of this 

matter, as provided in NRS Chapter 281A, NRS Chapter 233B, any 

extraordinary writs as provided in NRS Chapter 34, or any other applicable 

provisions of law. 

7. ACCEPTANCE: We, the undersigned parties, have read this Stipulated 

Agreement, understand each and every provision therein, and agree to be bound thereby.  

The parties orally agreed to be bound by the terms of this agreement during the regular 

meeting of the Commission on February 15, 2017. 

 
DATED this   day of         , 2017. DRAFT          
       Tricia Strasdin 

 
The above Stipulated Agreement is approved by: 

 
       FOR TRICIA STRASDIN, Subject 
 
DATED this   day of         , 2017. DRAFT          
       Sharla Hales, Esq. 

 
FOR YVONNE M. NEVAREZ-GOODSON, ESQ. 
Executive Director, Commission on Ethics 
 

 
DATED this   day of         , 2017. DRAFT      

       Judy A. Prutzman, Esq. 
       Associate Counsel 

 
 
Approved as to form by: 
       FOR NEVADA COMMISSION ON ETHICS 

 
DATED this   day of          , 2017. DRAFT      

       Tracy L. Chase, Esq. 
       Commission Counsel 
 
 
  



DRAFT 
Stipulated Agreement 

Request for Opinion No. 16-85C 
Page 9 of 9 

 
 

The above Stipulated Agreement is accepted by the Commission.2 
 

 
DATED February 15, 2017. 
 
 
By: DRAFT   By:   DRAFT   
 Cheryl A. Lau, Esq.  Phillip K. O’Neill 
 Chair  Commissioner 

By: DRAFT   By:   DRAFT   
 Keith A. Weaver, Esq.  Lynn Stewart 
 Vice-Chair  Commissioner 

By: DRAFT   By:   DRAFT   
 Brian Duffrin  Amanda Yen, Esq. 
 Commissioner         Commissioner 

By:   DRAFT   
 Barbara Gruenewald, Esq. 
 Commissioner 

 
 
 
 
 

                                                 
2 Strasdin waived her right to an Investigatory Panel pursuant to NRS 281A.440.  Accordingly, this Stipulated Agreement was executed 
prior to a Panel hearing in this matter and no Commissioner was precluded from participating in this Stipulated Agreement pursuant 
to NRS 281A.220. 



Notice of Hearing 
Request for Opinion No. 16-85C 

Page 1 of 2 
 

STATE OF NEVADA  
 

BEFORE THE NEVADA COMMISSION ON ETHICS 
 
 

In the Matter of the Third-Party Request 
for Opinion Concerning the Conduct of 
Tricia Strasdin, Member, Churchill 
County School District Board of Trustees, 
State of Nevada, 
 
    Subject. /                           
 

 

Request for Opinion No. 16-85C 
 

AMENDED NOTICE OF HEARING 
(Amendment establishes Meeting Location will be in Carson City only) 

 
PLEASE TAKE NOTICE, the Nevada Commission on Ethics (“Commission”) will 

consider a Proposed Stipulated Agreement regarding the allegations submitted in 
Third-Party Request for Opinion No. 16-85C at the following time and location: 

 
The Hearing Will Take Place: 

 
Wednesday, February 15, 2017 at 9:00 a.m., or as soon thereafter as 
the Commission is able to hear the matter, at the following location: 

 
Gaming Control Board 
1919 College Parkway 
Carson City, NV 89706 

 
Pursuant to NRS 281A.440, Subject has waived the provisions of an investigatory 

panel proceeding and/or determination and the requirement for the Commission to 
maintain the confidentiality of this proceeding. 

 
If the Proposed Stipulated Agreement is approved, it will serve as the final Opinion 

in this matter. If the Proposed Stipulated Agreement is not approved, the Commission will 
issue a Notice of Hearing setting the date, time and location for a hearing to consider the 
matter. 

 
 
 

DATED:    February 7, 2017      /s/ Tracy L. Chase  
   Tracy L. Chase, Esq. 
   Commission Counsel 

 
  



Notice of Hearing 
Request for Opinion No. 16-85C 

Page 2 of 2 
 

CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE 
 

 I certify that I am an employee of the Nevada Commission on Ethics and that on 
this day in Carson City, Nevada, I transmitted a true and correct copy of the AMENDED 
NOTICE OF HEARING in Request for Opinion No. 16-85C, via Email, addressed to the 
parties and interested persons as follows: 
 
 

Yvonne M. Nevarez-Goodson, Esq. 
Executive Director 
Judy A. Prutzman, Esq. 
Associate Counsel 
Nevada Commission on Ethics 
704 W. Nye Lane, Suite 204 
Carson City, NV 89703 
 
Sharla S. Hales, Esq. 
883 Mahogany Drive 
Minden, NV 89423 
    
   Attorney for Subject 
 
Elena Marsh 
1030 Dean Lane 
Fallon, NV 89406 
 
 

Email: ynevarez@ethics.nv.gov  
 
Email: jprutzman@ethics.nv.gov 
 
 
 
 
 
Email: sharlahales@gmail.com 
 
 
 
 
 
Email: sawa35@hotmail.com 
 
 
 

  
DATED:       February 7, 2017     
 Employee, Nevada Commission on Ethics 

 



AGENDA ITEM NO. 9 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

AGENDA ITEM NO. 9 

 



NEBS210 State of Nevada - Budget Division
Line Item Detail & Summary

1/4/17 2:20 PM

2017-2019 Biennium (FY18-19)

Section A1: Line Item Detail by GL

Budget Account: 1343 COMMISSION ON ETHICS
The Nevada Commission on Ethics is an eight member body appointed by the Governor and Legislative Commission to interpret and enforce the provisions of the Ethics in Government Law set forth in NRS Chapter
281A ("Ethics Law").  The Ethics Law establishes the public policy and standards of conduct necessary to ensure the integrity and impartiality of government, free from conflicts of interest between public duties and
private interests of state, local public officers and employees.  The commission and its staff focus on four main functions: 1) interpreting and enforcing the provisions of the Ethics Law; 2) investigating and adjudicating
public complaints alleging ethics violations by public officers and employees; 3) providing outreach and education to public officers and employees to enhance their awareness and understanding of ethics requirements
and prohibitions under Nevada law; and 4) accepting and monitoring various filings required of certain public officers.
 [See Attachment]

Item No Description
Actual

2015-2016
Work Program

2016-2017

G01
Year 1

2017-2018

G01
Year 2

2018-2019

B000 BASE
This request continues funding for six positions and associated operating costs.  One-time expenditures have been eliminated and partial year costs have been annualized.
[See Attachment]

REVENUE

2501 APPROPRIATION CONTROL 174,489 173,701 314,846 314,846

2510 REVERSIONS -20,382 0 0 0

2511 BALANCE FORWARD FROM PREVIOUS YEAR 110,929 67,625 67,625 67,625

2512 BALANCE FORWARD TO NEW YEAR -67,624 0 0 0

4103 COUNTY REIMBURSEMENTS 544,932 600,605 472,268 472,268

4203 PRIOR YEAR REFUNDS 102 0 32 32

TOTAL REVENUES FOR DECISION UNIT B000 742,446 841,931 854,771 854,771

EXPENDITURE

01 PERSONNEL

5100 SALARIES 408,748 454,002 440,398 440,398

5200 WORKERS COMPENSATION 5,959 5,118 5,118 5,118

5300 RETIREMENT 91,515 77,157 101,871 101,871

5400 PERSONNEL ASSESSMENT 2,695 2,724 2,296 2,296

5500 GROUP INSURANCE 48,750 50,346 50,346 50,346

5700 PAYROLL ASSESSMENT 635 635 616 616

5750 RETIRED EMPLOYEES GROUP INSURANCE 8,731 10,713 10,394 10,394

5800 UNEMPLOYMENT COMPENSATION 393 316 306 306

5840 MEDICARE 5,696 6,582 6,386 6,386

5860 BOARD AND COMMISSION PAY 4,480 7,680 4,480 4,480
This request continues funding for Board and Commission pay.

5929 ELIMINATE LONGEVITY PAY 0 -350 0 0

5930 LONGEVITY PAY 0 350 0 0

TOTAL FOR CATEGORY 01 577,602 615,273 622,211 622,211

03 IN-STATE TRAVEL

6200 PER DIEM IN-STATE 7,108 8,655 7,108 7,108

6210 FS DAILY RENTAL IN-STATE 596 1,102 596 596

6215 NON-FS VEHICLE RENTAL IN-STATE 438 223 438 438

6230 PUBLIC TRANSPORTATION IN-STATE 85 0 85 85

6240 PERSONAL VEHICLE IN-STATE 1,893 3,856 1,893 1,893

6250 COMM AIR TRANS IN-STATE 14,233 9,876 14,233 14,233

TOTAL FOR CATEGORY 03 24,353 23,712 24,353 24,353
Page 1 of 13



NEBS210 State of Nevada - Budget Division
Line Item Detail & Summary

1/4/17 2:20 PM

2017-2019 Biennium (FY18-19)

Item No Description
Actual

2015-2016
Work Program

2016-2017

G01
Year 1

2017-2018

G01
Year 2

2018-2019

04 OPERATING EXPENSES

7020 OPERATING SUPPLIES 903 763 903 903

7025 OPERATING SUPPLIES-E 4 0 4 4

7026 OPERATING SUPPLIES-F 532 208 532 532

7030 FREIGHT CHARGES 708 1,279 708 708

7044 PRINTING AND COPYING - C 1,220 1,275 1,220 1,220

7045 STATE PRINTING CHARGES 145 62 145 145

7050 EMPLOYEE BOND INSURANCE 7 7 7 7

7051 AGENCY OWNED - PROP. & CONT. INSURANCE 66 0 66 66

7054 AG TORT CLAIM ASSESSMENT 694 694 694 694

705A NON B&G - PROP. & CONT. INSURANCE 0 23 0 0

705B B&G - PROP. & CONT. INSURANCE 0 43 0 0

7060 CONTRACTS 80 92 80 80

7061 CONTRACTS - A 135 0 135 135

7080 LEGAL AND COURT 0 500 0 0

7100 STATE OWNED BLDG RENT-B&G 3,434 3,574 3,434 3,434

7103 STATE OWNED MEETING ROOM RENT 303 1,486 303 303

7110 NON-STATE OWNED OFFICE RENT 26,777 27,457 26,777 26,777

7230 MINOR IMPRV-BLGS/FIXTRS 5,373 0 5,373 5,373

7255 B & G LEASE ASSESSMENT 442 454 442 442

7285 POSTAGE - STATE MAILROOM 650 4,407 650 650

7286 MAIL STOP-STATE MAILROM 4,366 0 4,366 4,366

7290 PHONE, FAX, COMMUNICATION LINE 1,582 1,309 1,582 1,582

7291 CELL PHONE/PAGER CHARGES 3,157 3,360 3,157 3,157

7294 CONFERENCE CALL CHARGES 223 329 223 223

7296 EITS LONG DISTANCE CHARGES 175 137 175 175

7301 MEMBERSHIP DUES 445 445 445 445

7340 INSPECTIONS & CERTIFICATIONS 44 47 44 44

7370 PUBLICATIONS AND PERIODICALS 1,526 198 1,526 1,526

7430 PROFESSIONAL SERVICES 495 0 495 495

7980 OPERATING LEASE PAYMENTS 4,815 5,008 4,815 4,815

8241 NEW FURNISHINGS <$5,000 - A 74 0 74 74

TOTAL FOR CATEGORY 04 58,375 53,157 58,375 58,375

05 EQUIPMENT

7060 CONTRACTS 1,200 0 1,200 1,200

7460 EQUIPMENT PURCHASES < $1,000 2,655 0 2,655 2,655

7771 COMPUTER SOFTWARE <$5,000 - A 200 0 200 200

8271 SPECIAL EQUIPMENT <$5,000 - A 2,385 0 2,385 2,385

TOTAL FOR CATEGORY 05 6,440 0 6,440 6,440

Page 2 of 13



NEBS210 State of Nevada - Budget Division
Line Item Detail & Summary

1/4/17 2:20 PM

2017-2019 Biennium (FY18-19)

Item No Description
Actual

2015-2016
Work Program

2016-2017

G01
Year 1

2017-2018

G01
Year 2

2018-2019

11 COURT REPORTING SERVICES

7060 CONTRACTS 12,727 30,189 12,727 12,727

7750 NON EMPLOYEE IN-STATE TRAVEL 0 1,066 0 0

TOTAL FOR CATEGORY 11 12,727 31,255 12,727 12,727

15 INVESTIGATIONS/PARALEGAL COSTS

7060 CONTRACTS 2,861 2,947 2,861 2,861

TOTAL FOR CATEGORY 15 2,861 2,947 2,861 2,861

26 INFORMATION SERVICES

7020 OPERATING SUPPLIES 196 310 196 196

7023 OPERATING SUPPLIES-C 0 25 0 0

7026 OPERATING SUPPLIES-F 162 0 162 162

7060 CONTRACTS 770 1,430 770 770

7290 PHONE, FAX, COMMUNICATION LINE 1,392 1,392 1,392 1,392

7460 EQUIPMENT PURCHASES < $1,000 689 280 689 689

7532 EITS SHARED WEB SERVER HOSTING 2,342 2,889 2,342 2,342

7533 EITS EMAIL SERVICE 310 275 310 310

7542 EITS SILVERNET ACCESS 3,387 3,328 3,387 3,387

7545 EITS 18-19 ELIM (OLD EITS VPN SECURE LINK) 418 0 418 418

7554 EITS INFRASTRUCTURE ASSESSMENT 891 928 928 928

7556 EITS SECURITY ASSESSMENT 585 640 639 639

7771 COMPUTER SOFTWARE <$5,000 - A 1,936 0 1,936 1,936

8371 COMPUTER HARDWARE <$5,000 - A 5,703 0 5,703 5,703

TOTAL FOR CATEGORY 26 18,781 11,497 18,872 18,872

30 TRAINING

6100 PER DIEM OUT-OF-STATE 2,659 2,454 2,659 2,659

6130 PUBLIC TRANS OUT-OF-STATE 263 155 263 263

6140 PERSONAL VEHICLE OUT-OF-STATE 86 216 86 86

6150 COMM AIR TRANS OUT-OF-STATE 246 2,759 246 246

6240 PERSONAL VEHICLE IN-STATE 102 0 102 102

6250 COMM AIR TRANS IN-STATE 857 0 857 857

7300 DUES AND REGISTRATIONS 2,334 2,140 2,334 2,334

7302 REGISTRATION FEES 849 0 849 849

7306 DUES & REG - EMPLOYEE REIMBURSEMENT 120 0 120 120

TOTAL FOR CATEGORY 30 7,516 7,724 7,516 7,516

82 DEPT COST ALLOCATION

7389 16-17 CENTRALIZED PERSONNEL SERVICES COST ALLOC 2,615 2,998 2,615 2,615

7439 DEPT OF ADMIN - ADMIN SER DIV 22,278 25,260 22,278 22,278

TOTAL FOR CATEGORY 82 24,893 28,258 24,893 24,893

Page 3 of 13



NEBS210 State of Nevada - Budget Division
Line Item Detail & Summary

1/4/17 2:20 PM

2017-2019 Biennium (FY18-19)

Item No Description
Actual

2015-2016
Work Program

2016-2017

G01
Year 1

2017-2018

G01
Year 2

2018-2019

86 RESERVE

9178 RESERVE - BAL FWD TO SUBSEQUENT FY 0 67,625 67,625 67,625

TOTAL FOR CATEGORY 86 0 67,625 67,625 67,625

87 PURCHASING ASSESSMENT

7393 PURCHASING ASSESSMENT 294 483 294 294

TOTAL FOR CATEGORY 87 294 483 294 294

88 STATEWIDE COST ALLOCATION PLAN

9159 STATEWIDE COST ALLOCATION 8,572 0 8,572 8,572

TOTAL FOR CATEGORY 88 8,572 0 8,572 8,572

93 RESERVE FOR REVERSION TO GENERAL FUND

9169 TRANSFER OF GENERAL FD APPROPS 32 0 32 32

TOTAL FOR CATEGORY 93 32 0 32 32

TOTAL EXPENDITURES FOR DECISION UNIT B000 742,446 841,931 854,771 854,771

M100 STATEWIDE INFLATION
This request funds rate changes for internal service funds such as the Attorney General, Fleet Services, information technology services, state-owned building rent, vehicle insurance, personnel
assessments, and property and contents insurance.

REVENUE

00 REVENUE

2501 APPROPRIATION CONTROL 0 0 -4,151 -4,013

4103 COUNTY REIMBURSEMENTS 0 0 -6,228 -6,020

TOTAL REVENUES FOR DECISION UNIT M100 0 0 -10,379 -10,033

EXPENDITURE

01 PERSONNEL

5400 PERSONNEL ASSESSMENT 0 0 -1,043 -996

5700 PAYROLL ASSESSMENT 0 0 -108 -118

TOTAL FOR CATEGORY 01 0 0 -1,151 -1,114

04 OPERATING EXPENSES

7050 EMPLOYEE BOND INSURANCE 0 0 2 2

7054 AG TORT CLAIM ASSESSMENT 0 0 -103 -112

705A NON B&G - PROP. & CONT. INSURANCE 0 0 -1 -1

705B B&G - PROP. & CONT. INSURANCE 0 0 -1 -1

7100 STATE OWNED BLDG RENT-B&G 0 0 -65 172

TOTAL FOR CATEGORY 04 0 0 -168 60

26 INFORMATION SERVICES

7532 EITS SHARED WEB SERVER HOSTING 0 0 -1,500 -1,500
Page 4 of 13



NEBS210 State of Nevada - Budget Division
Line Item Detail & Summary

1/4/17 2:20 PM

2017-2019 Biennium (FY18-19)

Item No Description
Actual

2015-2016
Work Program

2016-2017

G01
Year 1

2017-2018

G01
Year 2

2018-2019

7533 EITS EMAIL SERVICE 0 0 1,863 1,861

7542 EITS SILVERNET ACCESS 0 0 -1,737 -1,737

7554 EITS INFRASTRUCTURE ASSESSMENT 0 0 247 341

7556 EITS SECURITY ASSESSMENT 0 0 -73 133

TOTAL FOR CATEGORY 26 0 0 -1,200 -902

87 PURCHASING ASSESSMENT

7393 PURCHASING ASSESSMENT 0 0 113 275

TOTAL FOR CATEGORY 87 0 0 113 275

88 STATEWIDE COST ALLOCATION PLAN

9159 STATEWIDE COST ALLOCATION 0 0 -8,572 -8,572

TOTAL FOR CATEGORY 88 0 0 -8,572 -8,572

89 AG COST ALLOCATION PLAN

7391 ATTORNEY GENERAL COST ALLOC 0 0 599 220

TOTAL FOR CATEGORY 89 0 0 599 220

TOTAL EXPENDITURES FOR DECISION UNIT M100 0 0 -10,379 -10,033

M106 EITS COST POOLS AND RATES
This request funds methodology changes for information technology service rates and cost pools.

REVENUE

00 REVENUE

2501 APPROPRIATION CONTROL 0 0 -187 -187

4103 COUNTY REIMBURSEMENTS 0 0 -280 -280

TOTAL REVENUES FOR DECISION UNIT M106 0 0 -467 -467

EXPENDITURE

26 INFORMATION SERVICES

7545 EITS 18-19 ELIM (OLD EITS VPN SECURE LINK) 0 0 -467 -467

TOTAL FOR CATEGORY 26 0 0 -467 -467

TOTAL EXPENDITURES FOR DECISION UNIT M106 0 0 -467 -467

M107 AG COST ALLOCATION CHANGE
This request funds the General Fund portion of the Attorney General Cost Allocation Plan.

REVENUE

00 REVENUE

2501 APPROPRIATION CONTROL 0 0 233 86

TOTAL REVENUES FOR DECISION UNIT M107 0 0 233 86

EXPENDITURE

89 AG COST ALLOCATION PLAN

7391 ATTORNEY GENERAL COST ALLOC 0 0 233 86
Page 5 of 13



NEBS210 State of Nevada - Budget Division
Line Item Detail & Summary

1/4/17 2:20 PM

2017-2019 Biennium (FY18-19)

Item No Description
Actual

2015-2016
Work Program

2016-2017

G01
Year 1

2017-2018

G01
Year 2

2018-2019

TOTAL FOR CATEGORY 89 0 0 233 86

TOTAL EXPENDITURES FOR DECISION UNIT M107 0 0 233 86

M150 ADJUSTMENTS TO BASE
This request funds adjustments to base expenditures including eliminating one-time expenditures such as equipment, and adjusts for partial year costs for the continuation of programs.

REVENUE

00 REVENUE

2501 APPROPRIATION CONTROL 0 0 -128 368

4103 COUNTY REIMBURSEMENTS 0 0 -193 552

4203 PRIOR YEAR REFUNDS 0 0 -32 -32

TOTAL REVENUES FOR DECISION UNIT M150 0 0 -353 888

EXPENDITURE

01 PERSONNEL

5860 BOARD AND COMMISSION PAY 0 0 3,200 3,200
This adjustment recognizes the difference between the actual expenditures for fiscal year 2016 and the anticipated expenditures for the
2018-2019 biennium. Pursuant to NRS 281A.210 2 the board is entitled to receive a salary not more than $80 per day, while engaged in
the business of the Commission.

8 Commissioners x $80 = $640 x 12 months = $7,680.

TOTAL FOR CATEGORY 01 0 0 3,200 3,200

04 OPERATING EXPENSES

7051 AGENCY OWNED - PROP. & CONT. INSURANCE 0 0 -66 -66
This adjustment recognizes the difference between the actual expenditures for fiscal year 2016 and the anticipated expenditures for the
2018-2019 biennium.

705A NON B&G - PROP. & CONT. INSURANCE 0 0 23 23
This adjustment recognizes the difference between the actual expenditures for fiscal year 2016 and the anticipated expenditures for the
2018-2019 biennium.

705B B&G - PROP. & CONT. INSURANCE 0 0 43 43
This adjustment recognizes the difference between the actual expenditures for fiscal year 2016 and the anticipated expenditures for the
2018-2019 biennium.

7060 CONTRACTS 0 0 -80 -80
This adjustment recognizes the difference between the actual expenditures for fiscal year 2016 and the anticipated expenditures for the
2018-2019 biennium.

7061 CONTRACTS - A 0 0 -135 -135
This adjustment recognizes the difference between the actual expenditures for fiscal year 2016 and the anticipated expenditures for the
2018-2019 biennium.

7100 STATE OWNED BLDG RENT-B&G 0 0 140 140
This adjustment recognizes the difference between the actual expenditures for fiscal year 2016 and the anticipated expenditures for the
2018-2019 biennium.

7103 STATE OWNED MEETING ROOM RENT 0 0 972 972
In the base year LCB facilities were unavailable due to upgrading of video-teleconferencing equipment, resulting in meetings being held
at inadequate locations.  The Commission of Ethics will use this facilities in fiscal years 2018-2019.

7110 NON-STATE OWNED OFFICE RENT 0 0 680 1,361
This adjustment recognizes the difference between the actual expenditures for fiscal year 2016 and the anticipated expenditures for the
2018-2019 biennium.

7230 MINOR IMPRV-BLGS/FIXTRS 0 0 -5,373 -5,373
Page 6 of 13



NEBS210 State of Nevada - Budget Division
Line Item Detail & Summary

1/4/17 2:20 PM

2017-2019 Biennium (FY18-19)

Item No Description
Actual

2015-2016
Work Program

2016-2017

G01
Year 1

2017-2018

G01
Year 2

2018-2019
Eliminate one-time expenditures per Budget Instructions.

7255 B & G LEASE ASSESSMENT 0 0 -45 23
This adjustment recognizes the difference between the actual expenditures for fiscal year 2016 and the anticipated expenditures for the
2018-2019 biennium.

7370 PUBLICATIONS AND PERIODICALS 0 0 0 -580
This adjustment recognizes the difference between the actual expenditures for fiscal year 2016 and the anticipated expenditures for the
2018-2019 biennium.

7430 PROFESSIONAL SERVICES 0 0 -495 -495
This adjustment recognizes the difference between the actual expenditures for fiscal year 2016 and the anticipated expenditures for the
2018-2019 biennium.

8241 NEW FURNISHINGS <$5,000 - A 0 0 -74 -74
Eliminate one-time expenditures per Budget Instructions.

TOTAL FOR CATEGORY 04 0 0 -4,410 -4,241

05 EQUIPMENT

7060 CONTRACTS 0 0 -1,200 -1,200
This adjustment recognizes the difference between the actual expenditures for fiscal year 2016 and the anticipated expenditures for the
2018-2019 biennium.

7460 EQUIPMENT PURCHASES < $1,000 0 0 -2,655 -2,655
Eliminate one-time equipment expenditures per Budget Instructions.

7771 COMPUTER SOFTWARE <$5,000 - A 0 0 -200 -200
Eliminate one-time expenditures per Budget Instructions.

8271 SPECIAL EQUIPMENT <$5,000 - A 0 0 -2,385 -2,385
Eliminate one-time equipment expenditures per Budget Instructions.

TOTAL FOR CATEGORY 05 0 0 -6,440 -6,440

11 COURT REPORTING SERVICES

7060 CONTRACTS 0 0 471 471
This adjustment recognizes the difference between the actual expenditures for fiscal year 2016 and the anticipated expenditures for the
2018-2019 biennium.

TOTAL FOR CATEGORY 11 0 0 471 471

15 INVESTIGATIONS/PARALEGAL COSTS

7060 CONTRACTS 0 0 174 265
This adjustment recognizes the difference between the actual expenditures for fiscal year 2016 and the anticipated expenditures for the
2018-2019 biennium.

TOTAL FOR CATEGORY 15 0 0 174 265

26 INFORMATION SERVICES

7290 PHONE, FAX, COMMUNICATION LINE 0 0 1,368 1,368
This adjustment recognizes the difference between the actual expenditures for fiscal year 2016 and the anticipated expenditures for the
2018-2019 biennium.  This increase is due to the upgrade of the internet system.

$230 per month x 12 months = $2,760.

7460 EQUIPMENT PURCHASES < $1,000 0 0 -350 -350
This adjustment recognizes the difference between the actual expenditures for fiscal year 2016 and the anticipated expenditures for the
2018-2019 biennium.  This is based on a three year average.  See equipment schedule.

7533 EITS EMAIL SERVICE 0 0 275 275
Page 7 of 13



NEBS210 State of Nevada - Budget Division
Line Item Detail & Summary

1/4/17 2:20 PM

2017-2019 Biennium (FY18-19)

Item No Description
Actual

2015-2016
Work Program

2016-2017

G01
Year 1

2017-2018

G01
Year 2

2018-2019
This adjustment recognizes the difference between the actual expenditures for fiscal year 2016 and the anticipated expenditures for the
2018-2019 biennium.  To adjust agency requirements for fourteen Email Service accounts for fiscal years 2018 and 2109.  The
adjustment is driven by the Enterprise Information Technology Services schedule.

14 accounts x 12 months = 168 quantity for schedule.

7545 EITS 18-19 ELIM (OLD EITS VPN SECURE LINK) 0 0 49 49
This adjustment recognizes the difference between the actual expenditures for fiscal year 2016 and the anticipated expenditures for the
2018-2019 biennium.  To adjust agency requirements for four VPN Secure Lind accounts for fiscal years 2018 and 2109.  The
adjustment is driven by the Enterprise Information Technology Services schedule.

4 accounts x 12 months = 48 quantity for schedule.

7771 COMPUTER SOFTWARE <$5,000 - A 0 0 -1,936 -1,936
Eliminate one-time expenditures per Budget Instructions.

8371 COMPUTER HARDWARE <$5,000 - A 0 0 -5,703 -5,703
Eliminate one-time equipment expenditures per Budget Instructions.

TOTAL FOR CATEGORY 26 0 0 -6,297 -6,297

82 DEPT COST ALLOCATION

7389 16-17 CENTRALIZED PERSONNEL SERVICES COST ALLOC 0 0 306 425
This adjustment recognizes the difference between the actual expenditures for fiscal year 2016 and the anticipated expenditures for the
2018-2019 biennium.

7439 DEPT OF ADMIN - ADMIN SER DIV 0 0 12,675 13,537
This adjustment recognizes the difference between the actual expenditures for fiscal year 2016 and the anticipated expenditures for the
2018-2019 biennium.

TOTAL FOR CATEGORY 82 0 0 12,981 13,962

93 RESERVE FOR REVERSION TO GENERAL FUND

9169 TRANSFER OF GENERAL FD APPROPS 0 0 -32 -32
This adjustment recognizes the difference between the actual expenditures for fiscal year 2016 and the anticipated expenditures for the
2018-2019 biennium.

TOTAL FOR CATEGORY 93 0 0 -32 -32

TOTAL EXPENDITURES FOR DECISION UNIT M150 0 0 -353 888

M300 FRINGE BENEFITS RATE ADJUSTMENT
This request funds changes to fringe benefits rates.

REVENUE

00 REVENUE

2501 APPROPRIATION CONTROL 0 0 1,859 1,668

4103 COUNTY REIMBURSEMENTS 0 0 2,789 2,503

TOTAL REVENUES FOR DECISION UNIT M300 0 0 4,648 4,171

EXPENDITURE

01 PERSONNEL

5500 GROUP INSURANCE 0 0 3,150 3,000

5750 RETIRED EMPLOYEES GROUP INSURANCE 0 0 1,320 836

5800 UNEMPLOYMENT COMPENSATION 0 0 178 335

TOTAL FOR CATEGORY 01 0 0 4,648 4,171
Page 8 of 13



NEBS210 State of Nevada - Budget Division
Line Item Detail & Summary

1/4/17 2:20 PM

2017-2019 Biennium (FY18-19)

Item No Description
Actual

2015-2016
Work Program

2016-2017

G01
Year 1

2017-2018

G01
Year 2

2018-2019

TOTAL EXPENDITURES FOR DECISION UNIT M300 0 0 4,648 4,171

E225 EFFICIENT AND RESPONSIVE STATE GOVERNMENT
This request changes the funding methodology used to calculate the biennial State/Local Government assessment pursuant to NRS 281A.270.
The Ethic Commission budget is funded through a proportionate split between the State General Fund and Local Government funding from Cities and Counties. The current methodology is based on the
number of Requests for Opinion (RFOs), for both advisory and complaint, received during the prior 2 fiscal years regarding the conduct of State public officers and employees versus Local Government
public officers and employees. The proposed methodology change would be based on the Commissions overall jurisdiction of State public officers and employees versus Local Government public officer
and employees. This methodology would reflect a more appropriate and consistent spit based on the overall jurisdiction of the Commission.

[See Attachment]

REVENUE

00 REVENUE

2501 APPROPRIATION CONTROL 0 0 -93,840 -95,031
The methodology change: the General Funds would represent 28% of the budget

4103 COUNTY REIMBURSEMENTS 0 0 93,840 95,031
The methodology change: the County Reimbursements would represent 72% of the budget

TOTAL REVENUES FOR DECISION UNIT E225 0 0 0 0

EXPENDITURE

86 RESERVE

9178 RESERVE - BAL FWD TO SUBSEQUENT FY 0 0 0 0

TOTAL FOR CATEGORY 86 0 0 0 0

TOTAL EXPENDITURES FOR DECISION UNIT E225 0 0 0 0

E710 EQUIPMENT REPLACEMENT
This request funds replacement computer hardware and associated software per Enterprise Information Technology Services' recommended replacement schedule.
[See Attachment]

REVENUE

00 REVENUE

2501 APPROPRIATION CONTROL 0 0 0 3,880

4103 COUNTY REIMBURSEMENTS 0 0 0 5,820

TOTAL REVENUES FOR DECISION UNIT E710 0 0 0 9,700

EXPENDITURE

26 INFORMATION SERVICES

7060 CONTRACTS 0 0 0 770

8371 COMPUTER HARDWARE <$5,000 - A 0 0 0 8,930

TOTAL FOR CATEGORY 26 0 0 0 9,700

TOTAL EXPENDITURES FOR DECISION UNIT E710 0 0 0 9,700

TOTAL REVENUES FOR BUDGET ACCOUNT 1343 742,446 841,931 848,453 859,116

TOTAL EXPENDITURES FOR BUDGET ACCOUNT 1343 742,446 841,931 848,453 859,116

Page 9 of 13



NEBS210 State of Nevada - Budget Division
Line Item Detail & Summary

1/4/17 2:20 PM

2017-2019 Biennium (FY18-19)

Section B1: Summary by GL

Budget Account: 1343 COMMISSION ON ETHICS
The Nevada Commission on Ethics is an eight member body appointed by the Governor and Legislative Commission to interpret and enforce the provisions of the Ethics in Government Law set forth in NRS Chapter
281A ("Ethics Law").  The Ethics Law establishes the public policy and standards of conduct necessary to ensure the integrity and impartiality of government, free from conflicts of interest between public duties and
private interests of state, local public officers and employees.  The commission and its staff focus on four main functions: 1) interpreting and enforcing the provisions of the Ethics Law; 2) investigating and adjudicating
public complaints alleging ethics violations by public officers and employees; 3) providing outreach and education to public officers and employees to enhance their awareness and understanding of ethics requirements
and prohibitions under Nevada law; and 4) accepting and monitoring various filings required of certain public officers.
 [See Attachment]

Item No Description
Actual

2015-2016
Work Program

2016-2017

G01
Year 1

2017-2018

G01
Year 2

2018-2019

REVENUE

2501 APPROPRIATION CONTROL 174,489 173,701 218,632 221,617

2510 REVERSIONS -20,382 0 0 0

2511 BALANCE FORWARD FROM PREVIOUS YEAR 110,929 67,625 67,625 67,625

2512 BALANCE FORWARD TO NEW YEAR -67,624 0 0 0

4103 COUNTY REIMBURSEMENTS 544,932 600,605 562,196 569,874

4203 PRIOR YEAR REFUNDS 102 0 0 0

TOTAL REVENUES FOR BUDGET ACCOUNT 1343 742,446 841,931 848,453 859,116

EXPENDITURE

01 PERSONNEL

5100 SALARIES 408,748 454,002 440,398 440,398

5200 WORKERS COMPENSATION 5,959 5,118 5,118 5,118

5300 RETIREMENT 91,515 77,157 101,871 101,871

5400 PERSONNEL ASSESSMENT 2,695 2,724 1,253 1,300

5500 GROUP INSURANCE 48,750 50,346 53,496 53,346

5700 PAYROLL ASSESSMENT 635 635 508 498

5750 RETIRED EMPLOYEES GROUP INSURANCE 8,731 10,713 11,714 11,230

5800 UNEMPLOYMENT COMPENSATION 393 316 484 641

5840 MEDICARE 5,696 6,582 6,386 6,386

5860 BOARD AND COMMISSION PAY 4,480 7,680 7,680 7,680

5929 ELIMINATE LONGEVITY PAY 0 -350 0 0

5930 LONGEVITY PAY 0 350 0 0

TOTAL FOR CATEGORY 01 577,602 615,273 628,908 628,468

03 IN-STATE TRAVEL

6200 PER DIEM IN-STATE 7,108 8,655 7,108 7,108

6210 FS DAILY RENTAL IN-STATE 596 1,102 596 596

6215 NON-FS VEHICLE RENTAL IN-STATE 438 223 438 438

6230 PUBLIC TRANSPORTATION IN-STATE 85 0 85 85

6240 PERSONAL VEHICLE IN-STATE 1,893 3,856 1,893 1,893

6250 COMM AIR TRANS IN-STATE 14,233 9,876 14,233 14,233

TOTAL FOR CATEGORY 03 24,353 23,712 24,353 24,353

04 OPERATING EXPENSES

7020 OPERATING SUPPLIES 903 763 903 903

Page 10 of 13



NEBS210 State of Nevada - Budget Division
Line Item Detail & Summary

1/4/17 2:20 PM

2017-2019 Biennium (FY18-19)

Item No Description
Actual

2015-2016
Work Program

2016-2017

G01
Year 1

2017-2018

G01
Year 2

2018-2019

7025 OPERATING SUPPLIES-E 4 0 4 4

7026 OPERATING SUPPLIES-F 532 208 532 532

7030 FREIGHT CHARGES 708 1,279 708 708

7044 PRINTING AND COPYING - C 1,220 1,275 1,220 1,220

7045 STATE PRINTING CHARGES 145 62 145 145

7050 EMPLOYEE BOND INSURANCE 7 7 9 9

7051 AGENCY OWNED - PROP. & CONT. INSURANCE 66 0 0 0

7054 AG TORT CLAIM ASSESSMENT 694 694 591 582

705A NON B&G - PROP. & CONT. INSURANCE 0 23 22 22

705B B&G - PROP. & CONT. INSURANCE 0 43 42 42

7060 CONTRACTS 80 92 0 0

7061 CONTRACTS - A 135 0 0 0

7080 LEGAL AND COURT 0 500 0 0

7100 STATE OWNED BLDG RENT-B&G 3,434 3,574 3,509 3,746

7103 STATE OWNED MEETING ROOM RENT 303 1,486 1,275 1,275

7110 NON-STATE OWNED OFFICE RENT 26,777 27,457 27,457 28,138

7230 MINOR IMPRV-BLGS/FIXTRS 5,373 0 0 0

7255 B & G LEASE ASSESSMENT 442 454 397 465

7285 POSTAGE - STATE MAILROOM 650 4,407 650 650

7286 MAIL STOP-STATE MAILROM 4,366 0 4,366 4,366

7290 PHONE, FAX, COMMUNICATION LINE 1,582 1,309 1,582 1,582

7291 CELL PHONE/PAGER CHARGES 3,157 3,360 3,157 3,157

7294 CONFERENCE CALL CHARGES 223 329 223 223

7296 EITS LONG DISTANCE CHARGES 175 137 175 175

7301 MEMBERSHIP DUES 445 445 445 445

7340 INSPECTIONS & CERTIFICATIONS 44 47 44 44

7370 PUBLICATIONS AND PERIODICALS 1,526 198 1,526 946

7430 PROFESSIONAL SERVICES 495 0 0 0

7980 OPERATING LEASE PAYMENTS 4,815 5,008 4,815 4,815

8241 NEW FURNISHINGS <$5,000 - A 74 0 0 0

TOTAL FOR CATEGORY 04 58,375 53,157 53,797 54,194

05 EQUIPMENT

7060 CONTRACTS 1,200 0 0 0

7460 EQUIPMENT PURCHASES < $1,000 2,655 0 0 0

7771 COMPUTER SOFTWARE <$5,000 - A 200 0 0 0

8271 SPECIAL EQUIPMENT <$5,000 - A 2,385 0 0 0

TOTAL FOR CATEGORY 05 6,440 0 0 0

11 COURT REPORTING SERVICES

7060 CONTRACTS 12,727 30,189 13,198 13,198

7750 NON EMPLOYEE IN-STATE TRAVEL 0 1,066 0 0

Page 11 of 13



NEBS210 State of Nevada - Budget Division
Line Item Detail & Summary

1/4/17 2:20 PM

2017-2019 Biennium (FY18-19)

Item No Description
Actual

2015-2016
Work Program

2016-2017

G01
Year 1

2017-2018

G01
Year 2

2018-2019

TOTAL FOR CATEGORY 11 12,727 31,255 13,198 13,198

15 INVESTIGATIONS/PARALEGAL COSTS

7060 CONTRACTS 2,861 2,947 3,035 3,126

TOTAL FOR CATEGORY 15 2,861 2,947 3,035 3,126

26 INFORMATION SERVICES

7020 OPERATING SUPPLIES 196 310 196 196

7023 OPERATING SUPPLIES-C 0 25 0 0

7026 OPERATING SUPPLIES-F 162 0 162 162

7060 CONTRACTS 770 1,430 770 1,540

7290 PHONE, FAX, COMMUNICATION LINE 1,392 1,392 2,760 2,760

7460 EQUIPMENT PURCHASES < $1,000 689 280 339 339

7532 EITS SHARED WEB SERVER HOSTING 2,342 2,889 842 842

7533 EITS EMAIL SERVICE 310 275 2,448 2,446

7542 EITS SILVERNET ACCESS 3,387 3,328 1,650 1,650

7545 EITS 18-19 ELIM (OLD EITS VPN SECURE LINK) 418 0 0 0

7554 EITS INFRASTRUCTURE ASSESSMENT 891 928 1,175 1,269

7556 EITS SECURITY ASSESSMENT 585 640 566 772

7771 COMPUTER SOFTWARE <$5,000 - A 1,936 0 0 0

8371 COMPUTER HARDWARE <$5,000 - A 5,703 0 0 8,930

TOTAL FOR CATEGORY 26 18,781 11,497 10,908 20,906

30 TRAINING

6100 PER DIEM OUT-OF-STATE 2,659 2,454 2,659 2,659

6130 PUBLIC TRANS OUT-OF-STATE 263 155 263 263

6140 PERSONAL VEHICLE OUT-OF-STATE 86 216 86 86

6150 COMM AIR TRANS OUT-OF-STATE 246 2,759 246 246

6240 PERSONAL VEHICLE IN-STATE 102 0 102 102

6250 COMM AIR TRANS IN-STATE 857 0 857 857

7300 DUES AND REGISTRATIONS 2,334 2,140 2,334 2,334

7302 REGISTRATION FEES 849 0 849 849

7306 DUES & REG - EMPLOYEE REIMBURSEMENT 120 0 120 120

TOTAL FOR CATEGORY 30 7,516 7,724 7,516 7,516

82 DEPT COST ALLOCATION

7389 16-17 CENTRALIZED PERSONNEL SERVICES COST ALLOC 2,615 2,998 2,921 3,040

7439 DEPT OF ADMIN - ADMIN SER DIV 22,278 25,260 34,953 35,815

TOTAL FOR CATEGORY 82 24,893 28,258 37,874 38,855

86 RESERVE

9178 RESERVE - BAL FWD TO SUBSEQUENT FY 0 67,625 67,625 67,625

Page 12 of 13



NEBS210 State of Nevada - Budget Division
Line Item Detail & Summary

1/4/17 2:20 PM

2017-2019 Biennium (FY18-19)

Item No Description
Actual

2015-2016
Work Program

2016-2017

G01
Year 1

2017-2018

G01
Year 2

2018-2019

TOTAL FOR CATEGORY 86 0 67,625 67,625 67,625

87 PURCHASING ASSESSMENT

7393 PURCHASING ASSESSMENT 294 483 407 569

TOTAL FOR CATEGORY 87 294 483 407 569

88 STATEWIDE COST ALLOCATION PLAN

9159 STATEWIDE COST ALLOCATION 8,572 0 0 0

TOTAL FOR CATEGORY 88 8,572 0 0 0

89 AG COST ALLOCATION PLAN

7391 ATTORNEY GENERAL COST ALLOC 0 0 832 306

TOTAL FOR CATEGORY 89 0 0 832 306

93 RESERVE FOR REVERSION TO GENERAL FUND

9169 TRANSFER OF GENERAL FD APPROPS 32 0 0 0

TOTAL FOR CATEGORY 93 32 0 0 0

TOTAL EXPENDITURES FOR BUDGET ACCOUNT 1343 742,446 841,931 848,453 859,116

Page 13 of 13



Cheryl A. Lau, Esq.                                                                                                       Yvonne M. Nevarez-Goodson, Esq. 
Chair                                                                                                                                                        Executive Director 

                                                                                                                      (D) 775-687-4312 
Keith A. Weaver, Esq.                                                                                                                    ynevarez@ethics.nv.gov 
Vice-Chair 

 
 

State of Nevada 
COMMISSION ON ETHICS 

704 W. Nye Lane, Suite 204 
Carson City, Nevada 89703 

(775) 687-5469 • Fax (775) 687-1279 
http://ethics.nv.gov 

 
February 7, 2017 

 
 

Senate Committee on Finance 
Nevada Legislature 
79th Legislative Session (2017) 

 
 RE: ETHICS COMMISSION STAFF SALARY ENHANCEMENT REQUEST 
 
 
Dear Chair Woodhouse and Members of the Senate Committee on Finance: 
 
 The Nevada Commission on Ethics is responsible for advising and educating State 
and local government public officers and employees regarding the provisions of the Nevada 
Ethics in Government Law (NRS 281A).  The Commission also serves as a quasi-judicial 
body responsible for interpreting and enforcing the Ethics Law, adjudicating complaints and 
defending its administrative decisions in various judicial forums.     
 

The Commission’s mission is accomplished through its staff, consisting of six (6) 
unclassified employees.  The salaries and titles of the Commission’s staff are currently set 
by the Unclassified Pay Bill during each Legislative Session.  Pursuant to NRS 281A.270, 
the Commission’s overall budget is funded through a proportionate split between the State 
General Fund and Counties and Cities with certain threshold populations, currently 21% 
State, 79% Local Government – and if the current budget is approved as proposed, the 
State’s portion will become 28% and the Local Government’s share will be 72%.  
Accordingly, the requested compensation and title adjustments will have a limited direct 
impact on the State General Fund.   

 
The Commission has unwaveringly supported efforts during the last two Legislative 

Sessions and now the current Session to increase the salaries and correct the titles of 
certain staff to establish parity with its sister agency in the Judicial Branch, the Judicial 
Discipline Commission, as well as many other comparable agencies in the State.  
Specifically, the Commission seeks compensation and title adjustments for the 
Commission's Executive Director, Commission Counsel, Associate Counsel, Executive 
Assistant and Senior Legal Researcher, all of which currently fall far short of the salaries 
and titles of their respective counterparts in other agencies with similar duties and 
responsibilities.  (See Exhibit A) 

 

mailto:ynevarez@ethics.nv.gov


Page 2 of 6 
 

Despite the Commission’s efforts for more than 6 years, the Commission has felt 
powerless to effect any meaningful change to ensure and support its statutory mandate.  
The Commission is wholly reliant upon a qualified staff to achieve its mission, and 
respectfully requests your support of its efforts. 

 
The salary disparities and title/position discrepancies of Commission staff should not 

continue.  During the last 6 years, these pay and title disparities have resulted in increased 
turnover, extended vacancies and significant shortage of qualified candidates for an already 
limited number of staff.  Notably, the Commission has suffered multiple vacancies at the 
hands of the Judicial Discipline Commission, which has already recruited two Commission 
employees at significantly enhanced titles and higher salaries for similar positions, duties 
and responsibilities.  The State should not continue to ignore the Commission’s reasonable 
and responsible requests for parity in staff salaries in connection with the State’s goals to 
ensure the public’s trust in government, promote efficient and responsive State Government, 
secure the retention of top-performing employees and stimulate professional development. 

 
This request is not presented in a vacuum.  The Commission stands dedicated to 

produce actual and meaningful reforms in the processing of matters before the Commission 
and production of quality and consistent opinions.  The Commission has recently revamped 
its performance measures, streamlined its internal processes and case management and 
has submitted a bill with the Governor’s sponsorship to further achieve these reforms.  The 
Commission has achieved success in overcoming its backlogs of Commission opinions and 
maintains a current caseload.  With the Legislature’s approval of the Commission’s pending 
BDR concepts, certain statutory amendments are expected to eliminate or streamline 
cumbersome processes and reduce operational costs in the Commission’s budget.  With 
these amendments, the Commission staff will be expected to meet additional challenges 
and achieve the revised performance measures.  
 
 The functions and staff duties and responsibilities of Nevada's Judicial Discipline 
Commission mirror those of the Commission, yet the salaries and titles for equivalent 
positions are excessively disparate.  In fact, the Commission has jurisdiction of 
approximately 135,000 public officers and employees to warrant a more considered view of 
its staff responsibilities. 
 

The Commission has routinely faced the consequences of these salary and title 
inequalities, including its loss of 2 employees to the Judicial Discipline Commission for 
similar duties and responsibilities at significantly increased pay and more respectable titles.  
Though the Commission is presently staffed with qualified, dedicated employees, the tenure 
of these employees is at risk.  The Commission will be unable to recruit and compete for the 
same quality staff needed to achieve its mission at current salary levels, especially given its 
small 6-member staff.  Further, retention of quality staff is critical to produce consistent work 
product in an efficient and professional manner, including qualified responses to important 
legal and judicial matters.  Institutional knowledge in a unique agency such as the 
Commission on Ethics is invaluable.  Appropriate salaries will limit excessive turnover, low 
quality of applicants for vacant positions, and comparison of private sector and local 
government pay. 

 
 The Commission requests salary increases for the Executive Director, Commission 
Counsel and Senior Legal Researcher, and title and salary changes for the Associate 
Counsel and Executive Assistant.  Each request is detailed below. 



Page 3 of 6 
 

Executive Director and Commission Counsel: 
 

          The Commission’s Executive Director and Commission Counsel are currently paid at 
the lowest end of the unclassified pay scale for agency directors and attorneys in the State.  
The Executive Director is statutorily appointed by the Commission and charged with 
administering the agency; appointing and supervising the staff; preparing, directing and 
approving all budgetary matters; training and educating public officers and employees; 
investigating complaints, presenting evidentiary and legal hearings, proposing and 
presenting regulations and legislation; serving as the agency’s public information officer; and 
serving as back-up legal support for the Commission Counsel.  The Commission Counsel is 
also statutorily appointed by the Commission and is responsible for serving as the 
Commission’s legal advisor in all matters.  Commission Counsel is responsible for providing 
legal advice and interpretation in all matters before the Commission, including hearings, both 
advisory and adjudicatory, writing all final orders and opinions of the Commission and 
defending the Commission in any litigation.   
 
          Both positions operate with significant autonomy to a part-time Commission, and each 
offers the Commission licensed, legal professionals who also provide continuing legal 
education to the State and local Bars.  However, both positions are paid at the level of a 
deputy attorney general in the State, which is typically a supervised attorney without 
independent authority.  Indeed, in the recent past, the Executive Director and Commission 
Counsel successfully spearheaded a case through the Supreme Court of the United States, 
at entry level salaries.   
 
          For comparison, the Commission relies heavily on the salaries and titles of the Judicial 
Discipline Commission, as it is the only agency of government that operates in the same 
fashion as the Commission and imposes the same duties and responsibilities on staff.  The 
salaries in that agency far exceed the salaries of the Commission’s Executive Director and 
Commission Counsel.  In addition to its higher salaries, the Judicial Branch also funds 
separate outside investigators and attorneys to handle much of the process that is handled 
in house by the Commission’s Executive Director and Commission Counsel.   
 
Associate Counsel: 

 
In 2013, the Commission acquired its Associate Counsel Position, under the direction of 

the Executive Director and indirect report to Commission Counsel, and is subordinate to both 
positions.  This position was a critical addition to the staff to ensure proper due process of 
third-party complaints between the roles of the Executive Director related to investigations 
and the Commission Counsel in its advisory capacity, and also to ensure that the 
Commission expedited and finalized its cases and resolved its backlog of written opinions.   

 
Unfortunately, the Legislature included this position within the 2013 Unclassified Pay Bill 

as a second “Commission Counsel,” instead of “Associate Counsel,” as presented and 
approved in the Governor’s Recommended Budget.  Statutorily, the Commission may 
appoint only one Commission Counsel as the legal advisor to the agency (NRS 281A.250), 
and it is not appropriate that the Associate Counsel earns the same salary as the Executive 
Director and Commission Counsel.   

 
The original request for the Associate Counsel position sought the entry attorney level 

salary, and the Commission expected the compensation of the Executive Director and 



Page 4 of 6 
 

Commission Counsel would be adjusted upward accordingly.  Unfortunately, during both the 
2013 and 2015 Legislative Sessions, these salaries were not adjusted in the respective 
Unclassified Pay Bills. The Commission has endeavored to overcome these salary 
disparities and title errors for two legislative sessions.  Accordingly, the Commission 
requests a title change from a second “Commission Counsel” to “Associate Counsel.”  Given 
the demands of the position since 2013 and to again draw parity to the Judicial Discipline 
Commission, the Commission further seeks a salary enhancement for this position. 

 
 As further evidence of the disparity, in 2015, the Judicial Discipline Commission sought 

and received approval for an Associate Counsel position at nearly $12,000 more per year 
than the Commission’s Executive Director, Commission Counsel and Associate Counsel.  

 
Executive Assistant: 
 
 The Executive Assistant’s duties are, and should be, more in line with those of a 
Management Analyst.  The Executive Assistant’s duties certainly include administrative 
responsibilities, but more importantly, they include substantive analysis and research and 
overall office management responsibilities.  The Executive Assistant partners with the 
Executive Director to prepare, monitor and maintain the Commission’s biennial budget, 
including projecting future costs and needs of the agency, researching options and preparing 
feasibility reports to accommodate the Commission’s needs.  The Executive Assistant is also 
responsible for personnel-related and human resource issues, tracking and collecting data 
related to the agency’s Performance Measures and compiling the statistical data for reports 
to the Executive Director/Commission, Governor’s Office of Finance and the Legislature, and 
utilizing that data to suggest improved work flow, budget demands and service to the 
Commission’s customers.  
 
 The Executive Assistant also maintains the agency’s forms and filings, suggesting 
edits and revisions as appropriate, and assists the Executive Director in updating internal 
policies in conformance with the State’s policies.   
 
 A requirement for the Management Analyst series includes a Bachelor’s degree and 
management experience, which will ultimately improve the level of qualifications in future 
applicants for this position.  If the Commission were to lose the current staff member holding 
the position, a certified public manager, it is unlikely that the current title as an Executive 
Assistant and related pay scale will produce candidates capable of the skills, duties and 
responsibilities described above.  The position warrants a change in title to a Management 
Analyst III. 
 

Again, the equivalent position in the Judicial Discipline Commission operates as a 
Management Analyst IV, with the same educational requirements and duties assigned.  The 
distinction between the Management Analyst III and IV relates to supervisory roles.  The 
Commission currently does not have sufficient staff to present supervisory responsibilities in 
our agency and therefore the level III with related salary is requested for this agency.  
 
Senior Legal Researcher:  
 

The Commission’s Senior Legal Researcher provides a unique position within the 
Unclassified Pay Bill.  The Senior Legal Researcher serves as the Commission’s para-
professional legal support staff, including substantive legal research, paralegal 



Page 5 of 6 
 

responsibilities, legal secretarial duties and case management of all legal matters for the 
Commission’s three attorneys. 
 

The salary for this position has an unfortunate history.  The position was originally 
created as the only classified position in the agency to accommodate a particular person.  
When that person left in 2010, the Commission moved this position to the unclassified 
service in 2011, and an unfortunate error occurred in the approved salary in the Unclassified 
Pay Bill.  A senior level position was transferred to the lowest paid position within the agency, 
at a salary less than the Commission’s Executive Assistant and less than a non-senior level 
legal researcher in other agencies represented in the Unclassified Pay Bill.  The Commission 
has attempted to correct this issue in each Session since 2011.   

 
Notably, in 2015, the Nevada Legislature approved a compensation adjustment 

throughout the Unclassified Pay Bill for “Legal Researchers,” but the salary of the 
Commission’s Senior Legal Researcher was not likewise adjusted.  The consequence was 
higher salaries for non-senior legal researchers than the Commission’s Senior Legal 
Researcher.  At a very minimum this salary should be adjusted appropriately to reflect a 
proper salary for a senior level researcher distinct from the legal researchers in other 
agencies.   

 
Moreover, the responsibilities of this single position within the agency warrant a closer 

look at comparable positions in State Government.  The Commission’s Senior Legal 
Researcher is responsible for supporting 3 lawyers within the agency, substantive research 
and coordination, and case management.  The equivalent position in the Judicial Discipline 
Commission is a Management Analyst. 

 
The Executive Assistant and Senior Legal Researcher provide unique and distinct 

duties, but are equally tasked with substantive and significant responsibilities and should be 
equivalent in salary.  Due to our small staff, both positions are also cross-trained to fill in for 
one another in the event of absences and vacancies.  Accordingly, the Commission seeks 
a salary adjustment commensurate with that of the Executive Assistant.  See attached chart. 

 
Total Cost Summary: 

 
The Commission seeks the following salary and title adjustments: 
 

Position (New Title) Current Salary (Maximum) Requested Salary (Maximum) 
Executive Director $97,901 $125,340 

Commission Counsel $95,650 $125,340 
Commission Counsel (2): 

(Associate Counsel) 
$95,650 $108,179 

Executive Assistant: 
(Management Analyst III) 

$56,265 $74,813 

Senior Legal Researcher $54,332 $74,813 
 
If the Salaries are funded as requested, the State’s total share per fiscal year would 

be $30,432 (28%) and the local government share would be $78,255 (72%), split 
proportionately between the local governments according to respective populations. (See 
Exhibit B) The Commission has provided back-up materials to evidence the discrepancies 



Page 6 of 6 
 

in staff salaries and titles and encourages a frank discussion with the Legislature to address 
these issues during this Legislative Session. (See Exhibit A) 

 
  Please feel free to contact the Commission with any questions.  Thank you for your 

time and consideration regarding this matter. 
 

    
 /s/ Cheryl A. Lau  
 Cheryl A. Lau, Esq. 

       Chair 
 
 

 /s/ Keith A. Weaver           
 Keith A. Weaver, Esq. 

       Vice-Chair 



AGENDA ITEM NO. 10 

AGENDA ITEM NO. 10 



  
  
  S.B. 30 

 - *SB30* 

 
SENATE BILL NO. 30–COMMITTEE ON  

LEGISLATIVE OPERATIONS AND ELECTIONS 
 

(ON BEHALF OF THE ATTORNEY GENERAL) 
 

PREFILED NOVEMBER 16, 2016 
____________ 

 
Referred to Committee on Legislative Operations and Elections 

 
SUMMARY—Revises provisions relating to the solicitation or 

acceptance of gifts by the Attorney General. 
(BDR 23-377) 

 
FISCAL NOTE: Effect on Local Government: No. 
 Effect on the State: Yes. 

 
~ 
 

EXPLANATION – Matter in bolded italics is new; matter between brackets [omitted material] is material to be omitted. 
 

 
AN ACT relating to the Office of the Attorney General; revising 

provisions relating to the solicitation or acceptance of 
gifts by the Attorney General; and providing other matters 
properly relating thereto. 

Legislative Counsel’s Digest: 
 The Nevada Ethics in Government Law sets forth standards for the conduct of 1 
public officers and employees, which standards are interpreted and enforced by the 2 
Commission on Ethics. (Chapter 281A of NRS) In particular, the Nevada Ethics in 3 
Government Law prohibits a public officer, including the Attorney General, from 4 
seeking or accepting a gift which would tend improperly to influence a reasonable 5 
person in the public officer’s position to depart from the faithful and impartial 6 
discharge of the public officer’s public duties. (NRS 281A.400) The term “gift” is 7 
not defined for the purposes of that prohibition. In addition to that prohibition, this 8 
bill prohibits the Attorney General from soliciting or accepting money, services or 9 
anything of value unless consideration of equal or greater value is received. 10 
However, this bill excludes from the prohibition political contributions, loans, 11 
certain ceremonial gifts, payments associated with certain meetings, events or trips 12 
and items received from persons related to or dependent on the Attorney General. 13 
Because this new prohibition is part of the Nevada Ethics in Government Law, it 14 
will be enforced by the Commission on Ethics. 15 
 
 



 
 – 2 – 
 

 - *SB30* 

THE PEOPLE OF THE STATE OF NEVADA, REPRESENTED IN 
SENATE AND ASSEMBLY, DO ENACT AS FOLLOWS: 

 
 Section 1.  Chapter 281A of NRS is hereby amended by 1 
adding thereto a new section to read as follows: 2 
 1.  The Attorney General shall not solicit or accept any gift. 3 
 2.  As used in this section: 4 
 (a) “Anything of value,” with respect to an educational or 5 
informational meeting, event or trip, includes, without limitation, 6 
any actual expenses for food, beverages, registration fees, travel or 7 
lodging provided or given to or paid for the benefit of the Attorney 8 
General or reimbursement for any such actual expenses paid by 9 
the Attorney General, if the expenses are incurred on a day during 10 
which the Attorney General undertakes or attends an educational 11 
or informational meeting, event or trip or during which the 12 
Attorney General travels to or from an educational or 13 
informational meeting, event or trip. 14 
 (b) “Educational or informational meeting, event or trip”:  15 
  (1) Means any meeting, event or trip undertaken or 16 
attended by the Attorney General if, in connection with the 17 
meeting, event or trip: 18 
   (I) The Attorney General receives anything of value 19 
from an interested person to undertake or attend the meeting, 20 
event or trip; and 21 
   (II) The Attorney General provides or receives any 22 
education or information on matters relating to the prosecutorial, 23 
administrative or political action of the Attorney General. 24 
  (2) Includes, without limitation, any reception, gathering, 25 
conference, convention, discussion, forum, roundtable, seminar, 26 
symposium, speaking engagement or other similar meeting, event 27 
or trip with an educational or informational component. 28 
  (3) Does not include a meeting, event or trip undertaken or 29 
attended by the Attorney General for personal reasons or for 30 
reasons relating to any professional or occupational license held 31 
by the Attorney General, unless the Attorney General participates 32 
as one of the primary speakers, instructors or presenters at the 33 
meeting, event or trip. 34 
 (c) “Gift” means any payment, conveyance, transfer, 35 
distribution, deposit, advance, loan, forbearance, subscription, 36 
pledge or rendering of money, services or anything else of value, 37 
unless consideration of equal or greater value is received. The 38 
term does not include: 39 
  (1) Any political contribution of money or services related 40 
to a political campaign. 41 



 
 – 3 – 
 

 - *SB30* 

  (2) Any commercially reasonable loan made in the ordinary 1 
course of business. 2 
  (3) Anything of value provided for an educational or 3 
informational meeting, event or trip. 4 
  (4) Any ceremonial gift received for a birthday, wedding, 5 
anniversary, holiday or other ceremonial occasion from a donor 6 
who is not an interested person. 7 
  (5) Anything of value received from a person who is: 8 
   (I) Related to the Attorney General, or to the spouse or 9 
domestic partner of the Attorney General, by blood, adoption, 10 
marriage or domestic partnership within the third degree of 11 
consanguinity or affinity; or 12 
   (II) A member of the Attorney General’s household. 13 
 (d) “Interested person” means a person who has a substantial 14 
interest in the prosecutorial, administrative or political action of 15 
the Attorney General. The term includes, without limitation, a 16 
group of interested persons acting in concert, regardless of 17 
whether formally organized. 18 
 (e) “Member of the Attorney General’s household” means: 19 
  (1) The spouse or domestic partner of the Attorney 20 
General; 21 
  (2) A person who is related to the Attorney General, or to 22 
the spouse or domestic partner of the Attorney General, by blood, 23 
adoption, marriage or domestic partnership within the third 24 
degree of consanguinity or affinity and who lives in the same 25 
home or dwelling as the Attorney General; or 26 
  (3) A person, regardless of whether a relative of the 27 
Attorney General or the spouse or domestic partner of the 28 
Attorney General, who: 29 
   (I) Lives in the same home or dwelling as the Attorney 30 
General and who is dependent on and receiving substantial 31 
support from the Attorney General; 32 
   (II) Does not live in the same home or dwelling as the 33 
Attorney General but who is dependent on and receiving 34 
substantial support from the Attorney General; or 35 
   (III) Lived in the same home or dwelling as the Attorney 36 
General for 6 months or more during the year immediately 37 
preceding the date of any provision or transfer of anything of 38 
value to the Attorney General and who was dependent on and 39 
receiving substantial support from the Attorney General during 40 
that period. 41 
 Sec. 2.  NRS 281A.400 is hereby amended to read as follows: 42 
 281A.400  A code of ethical standards is hereby established to 43 
govern the conduct of public officers and employees: 44 



 
 – 4 – 
 

 - *SB30* 

 1.  [A] In addition to the provisions of section 1 of this act, a 1 
public officer or employee shall not seek or accept any gift, service, 2 
favor, employment, engagement, emolument or economic 3 
opportunity which would tend improperly to influence a reasonable 4 
person in the public officer’s or employee’s position to depart from 5 
the faithful and impartial discharge of the public officer’s or 6 
employee’s public duties. 7 
 2.  A public officer or employee shall not use the public 8 
officer’s or employee’s position in government to secure or grant 9 
unwarranted privileges, preferences, exemptions or advantages for 10 
the public officer or employee, any business entity in which the 11 
public officer or employee has a significant pecuniary interest, or 12 
any person to whom the public officer or employee has a 13 
commitment in a private capacity to the interests of that person. As 14 
used in this subsection, “unwarranted” means without justification 15 
or adequate reason. 16 
 3.  A public officer or employee shall not participate as an agent 17 
of government in the negotiation or execution of a contract between 18 
the government and any business entity in which the public officer 19 
or employee has a significant pecuniary interest. 20 
 4.  A public officer or employee shall not accept any salary, 21 
retainer, augmentation, expense allowance or other compensation 22 
from any private source for the performance of the public officer’s 23 
or employee’s duties as a public officer or employee. 24 
 5.  If a public officer or employee acquires, through the public 25 
officer’s or employee’s public duties or relationships, any 26 
information which by law or practice is not at the time available to 27 
people generally, the public officer or employee shall not use the 28 
information to further a significant pecuniary interest of the public 29 
officer or employee or any other person or business entity. 30 
 6.  A public officer or employee shall not suppress any 31 
governmental report or other official document because it might 32 
tend to affect unfavorably a significant pecuniary interest of the 33 
public officer or employee. 34 
 7.  Except for State Legislators who are subject to the 35 
restrictions set forth in subsection 8, a public officer or employee 36 
shall not use governmental time, property, equipment or other 37 
facility to benefit a significant personal or pecuniary interest of the 38 
public officer or employee. This subsection does not prohibit: 39 
 (a) A limited use of governmental property, equipment or other 40 
facility for personal purposes if: 41 
  (1) The public officer or employee who is responsible for 42 
and has authority to authorize the use of such property, equipment 43 
or other facility has established a policy allowing the use or the use 44 
is necessary as a result of emergency circumstances; 45 



 
 – 5 – 
 

 - *SB30* 

  (2) The use does not interfere with the performance of the 1 
public officer’s or employee’s public duties; 2 
  (3) The cost or value related to the use is nominal; and 3 
  (4) The use does not create the appearance of impropriety; 4 
 (b) The use of mailing lists, computer data or other information 5 
lawfully obtained from a governmental agency which is available to 6 
members of the general public for nongovernmental purposes; or 7 
 (c) The use of telephones or other means of communication if 8 
there is not a special charge for that use. 9 

 If a governmental agency incurs a cost as a result of a use that is 10 
authorized pursuant to this subsection or would ordinarily charge a 11 
member of the general public for the use, the public officer or 12 
employee shall promptly reimburse the cost or pay the charge to the 13 
governmental agency. 14 
 8.  A State Legislator shall not: 15 
 (a) Use governmental time, property, equipment or other facility 16 
for a nongovernmental purpose or for the private benefit of the State 17 
Legislator or any other person. This paragraph does not prohibit: 18 
  (1) A limited use of state property and resources for personal 19 
purposes if: 20 
   (I) The use does not interfere with the performance of the 21 
State Legislator’s public duties; 22 
   (II) The cost or value related to the use is nominal; and 23 
   (III) The use does not create the appearance of 24 
impropriety; 25 
  (2) The use of mailing lists, computer data or other 26 
information lawfully obtained from a governmental agency which is 27 
available to members of the general public for nongovernmental 28 
purposes; or 29 
  (3) The use of telephones or other means of communication 30 
if there is not a special charge for that use. 31 
 (b) Require or authorize a legislative employee, while on duty, 32 
to perform personal services or assist in a private activity, except: 33 
  (1) In unusual and infrequent situations where the 34 
employee’s service is reasonably necessary to permit the State 35 
Legislator or legislative employee to perform that person’s official 36 
duties; or 37 
  (2) Where such service has otherwise been established as 38 
legislative policy. 39 
 9.  A public officer or employee shall not attempt to benefit a 40 
significant personal or pecuniary interest of the public officer or 41 
employee through the influence of a subordinate. 42 
 10.  A public officer or employee shall not seek other 43 
employment or contracts through the use of the public officer’s or 44 
employee’s official position. 45 



 
 – 6 – 
 

 - *SB30* 

 Sec. 3.  This act becomes effective upon passage and approval. 1 
 

H
  



  
  
  S.B. 36 

 - *SB36* 

 
SENATE BILL NO. 36–COMMITTEE ON  

LEGISLATIVE OPERATIONS AND ELECTIONS 
 

(ON BEHALF OF THE OFFICE OF THE GOVERNOR) 
 

PREFILED NOVEMBER 16, 2016 
____________ 

 
Referred to Committee on Legislative Operations and Elections 

 
SUMMARY—Revises provisions relating to ethics in government. 

(BDR 23-230) 
 
FISCAL NOTE: Effect on Local Government: No. 
 Effect on the State: No. 

 
~ 
 

EXPLANATION – Matter in bolded italics is new; matter between brackets [omitted material] is material to be omitted. 
 

 
AN ACT relating to ethics in government; removing State 

Legislators entirely from the jurisdiction of the 
Commission on Ethics; revising the membership of  
the Commission; revising the provisions governing the 
assessments paid by cities and counties to the 
Commission; and providing other matters properly 
relating thereto. 

Legislative Counsel’s Digest: 
 Under the Nevada Constitution, the legislative House of which a Legislator is a 1 
member has exclusive jurisdiction over discipline of its members. (Nev. Const. Art. 2 
4, § 6) In 2009, the Nevada Supreme Court held that under the constitutional 3 
doctrine of separation of powers, the House of which a Legislator is a member is 4 
the only governmental entity that is authorized to sanction the Legislator for 5 
conduct within the sphere of legitimate legislative activity, such as voting or 6 
abstention on legislation and, by extension, disclosure of conflicts of interest. 7 
Moreover, the Court held that the Legislature cannot delegate its authority to 8 
discipline state legislators for conduct within the sphere of legitimate legislative 9 
activity to another branch of government. (Comm’n on Ethics v. Hardy, 125 Nev. 10 
285, 294-96 & n.9 (2009)) Existing law sets forth a nonexhaustive list of actions by 11 
a Legislator that are considered within the sphere of legitimate legislative activity 12 
based on long-standing case law interpreting and applying the constitutional 13 
doctrines of separation of powers and legislative privilege and immunity under the 14 
Speech or Debate Clause of Section 6 of Article I of the United States Constitution. 15 
(NRS 41.071) 16 
 The Commission on Ethics, which is an agency of the Executive Department of 17 
the State Government, was created under existing law to administer and enforce the 18 



 
 – 2 – 
 

 - *SB36* 

Nevada Ethics in Government Law. (NRS 281A.200) The Commission has 19 
concurrent jurisdiction over Legislators with respect to alleged ethical violations 20 
that do not fall within the sphere of legitimate legislative activity, such as misuse of 21 
office. (NRS 281A.280; Hardy, 125 Nev. at 294-96 & n.9)  22 
 Sections 1-3 and 6-9 of this bill remove State Legislators entirely from the 23 
jurisdiction of the Commission on Ethics. Therefore, determination of all issues 24 
relating to the ethical conduct of Legislators will be within the exclusive 25 
jurisdiction of the House of which the Legislator is a member. Since the Hardy 26 
decision in 2009, each House of the Legislature has had a standing rule in place that 27 
provides for a committee on ethics to address questions regarding breaches of 28 
ethics and conflicts of interest of Legislators for their respective Houses. (See, e.g., 29 
Senate Standing Rule No. 23, File No. 4, Statutes of Nevada 2015, p. 3981; 30 
Assembly Standing Rule No. 23, File No. 1, Statutes of Nevada 2015, p. 3956) 31 
 Under existing law, the Commission on Ethics consists of eight members, with 32 
four members appointed by the Legislative Commission and four members 33 
appointed by the Governor. Section 4 of this bill eliminates the members appointed 34 
by the Legislative Commission and adds another member appointed by the 35 
Governor, which results in a total of five members of the Commission on Ethics. 36 
 Existing law requires certain cities and counties to cover some of the costs 37 
incurred by the Commission on Ethics in carrying out its functions by paying 38 
assessments during each biennium. (NRS 281A.270) Section 5 of this bill removes 39 
the requirement that the Executive Director of the Commission on Ethics consult 40 
with the Budget Division of the Office of Finance and the Fiscal Analysis Division 41 
of the Legislative Counsel Bureau before determining the amount of such 42 
assessments due for each city and county for a biennium. 43 
 Pursuant to section 11 of this bill, the Commission on Ethics retains its 44 
concurrent jurisdiction over any requests for an opinion regarding a Legislator’s 45 
conduct that are pending before the Commission on the effective date of this bill. 46 
Section 11 also provides that the revised composition of the Commission on Ethics 47 
does not affect the status of any requests for an opinion pending before the 48 
Commission on the effective date of this bill. 49 
 
 

THE PEOPLE OF THE STATE OF NEVADA, REPRESENTED IN 
SENATE AND ASSEMBLY, DO ENACT AS FOLLOWS: 

 
 Section 1.  NRS 281A.020 is hereby amended to read as 1 
follows: 2 
 281A.020  1.  It is hereby declared to be the public policy of 3 
this State that: 4 
 (a) A public office is a public trust and shall be held for the sole 5 
benefit of the people. 6 
 (b) A public officer or employee must commit himself or herself 7 
to avoid conflicts between the private interests of the public officer 8 
or employee and those of the general public whom the public officer 9 
or employee serves. 10 
 2.  The Legislature finds and declares that: 11 
 (a) The increasing complexity of state and local government, 12 
more and more closely related to private life and enterprise, enlarges 13 
the potentiality for conflict of interests. 14 



 
 – 3 – 
 

 - *SB36* 

 (b) To enhance the people’s faith in the integrity and 1 
impartiality of public officers and employees, adequate guidelines 2 
are required to show the appropriate separation between the roles of 3 
persons who are both public servants and private citizens. 4 
 [(c) In interpreting and applying the provisions of this chapter 5 
that are applicable to State Legislators, the Commission must give 6 
appropriate weight and proper deference to the public policy of this 7 
State under which State Legislators serve as “citizen Legislators” 8 
who have other occupations and business interests, who are 9 
expected to have particular philosophies and perspectives that are 10 
necessarily influenced by the life experiences of the Legislator, 11 
including, without limitation, professional, family and business 12 
experiences, and who are expected to contribute those philosophies 13 
and perspectives to the debate over issues with which the 14 
Legislature is confronted. 15 
 (d) The provisions of this chapter do not, under any 16 
circumstances, allow the Commission to exercise jurisdiction or 17 
authority over or inquire into, intrude upon or interfere with the 18 
functions of a State Legislator that are protected by legislative 19 
privilege and immunity pursuant to the Constitution of the State of 20 
Nevada or NRS 41.071.] 21 
 Sec. 2.  NRS 281A.080 is hereby amended to read as follows: 22 
 281A.080  1.  The making of a “decision” is the exercise of 23 
governmental power to adopt laws, regulations or standards, render 24 
quasi-judicial decisions, establish executive policy or determine 25 
questions involving substantial discretion. 26 
 2.  The term does not include: 27 
 (a) The functions of the judiciary. 28 
 (b) The functions of a State Legislator . [that are protected by 29 
legislative privilege and immunity pursuant to the Constitution of 30 
the State of Nevada or NRS 41.071.] 31 
 Sec. 3.  NRS 281A.160 is hereby amended to read as follows: 32 
 281A.160  1.  “Public officer” means a person who is: 33 
 (a) Elected or appointed to a position which: 34 
  (1) Is established by the Constitution of the State of Nevada, 35 
a statute of this State or a charter or ordinance of any county, city or 36 
other political subdivision; and 37 
  (2) Involves the exercise of a public power, trust or duty; or 38 
 (b) Designated as a public officer for the purposes of this 39 
chapter pursuant to NRS 281A.182. 40 
 2.  As used in this section, “the exercise of a public power, trust 41 
or duty” means: 42 
 (a) Actions taken in an official capacity which involve a 43 
substantial and material exercise of administrative discretion in the 44 
formulation of public policy; 45 



 
 – 4 – 
 

 - *SB36* 

 (b) The expenditure of public money; and 1 
 (c) The administration of laws and rules of the State or any 2 
county, city or other political subdivision. 3 
 3.  “Public officer” does not include: 4 
 (a) Any justice, judge or other officer of the court system; 5 
 (b) Any member of a board, commission or other body whose 6 
function is advisory; 7 
 (c) Any member of a special district whose official duties do not 8 
include the formulation of a budget for the district or the 9 
authorization of the expenditure of the district’s money; [or] 10 
 (d) A county health officer appointed pursuant to NRS 439.290 11 
[.] ; or 12 
 (e) A State Legislator. 13 
 4.  “Public office” does not include an office held by: 14 
 (a) Any justice, judge or other officer of the court system; 15 
 (b) Any member of a board, commission or other body whose 16 
function is advisory; 17 
 (c) Any member of a special district whose official duties do not 18 
include the formulation of a budget for the district or the 19 
authorization of the expenditure of the district’s money; [or] 20 
 (d) A county health officer appointed pursuant to NRS 439.290 21 
[.] ; or 22 
 (e) A State Legislator. 23 
 Sec. 4.  NRS 281A.200 is hereby amended to read as follows: 24 
 281A.200  1.  The Commission on Ethics, consisting of [eight] 25 
five members, is hereby created. 26 
 2.  [The Legislative Commission shall appoint to the 27 
Commission four residents of the State, at least two of whom must 28 
be former public officers or employees, and at least one of whom 29 
must be an attorney licensed to practice law in this State. 30 
 3.]  The Governor shall appoint to the Commission [four] five 31 
residents of the State, at least two of whom must be former public 32 
officers or employees, and at least [one] two of whom must be [an 33 
attorney] attorneys licensed to practice law in this State. 34 
 [4.] 3.  Not more than [four] three members of the Commission 35 
may be members of the same political party. Not more than [four] 36 
three members of the Commission may be residents of the same 37 
county. 38 
 [5.] 4.  None of the members of the Commission may, while 39 
the member is serving on the Commission: 40 
 (a) Hold another public office; 41 
 (b) Be actively involved in the work of any political party or 42 
political campaign; or 43 



 
 – 5 – 
 

 - *SB36* 

 (c) Communicate directly with a State Legislator or a member of 1 
a local legislative body on behalf of someone other than himself or 2 
herself or the Commission, for compensation, to influence: 3 
  (1) The State Legislator with regard to introducing or voting 4 
upon any matter or taking other legislative action; or 5 
  (2) The member of the local legislative body with regard to 6 
introducing or voting upon any ordinance or resolution, taking other 7 
legislative action or voting upon: 8 
   (I) The appropriation of public money; 9 
   (II) The issuance of a license or permit; or 10 
   (III) Any proposed subdivision of land or special 11 
exception or variance from zoning regulations. 12 
 [6.] 5.  After the initial terms, the terms of the members are 4 13 
years. Any vacancy in the membership must be filled by the 14 
appropriate appointing authority for the unexpired term. Each 15 
member may serve no more than two consecutive full terms. 16 
 Sec. 5.  NRS 281A.270 is hereby amended to read as follows: 17 
 281A.270  1.  Each county whose population is 10,000 or 18 
more and each city whose population is 15,000 or more and that is 19 
located within such a county shall pay an assessment for the costs 20 
incurred by the Commission each biennium in carrying out its 21 
functions pursuant to this chapter. The total amount of money to be 22 
derived from assessments paid pursuant to this subsection for a 23 
biennium must be determined by the Legislature in the legislatively 24 
approved budget of the Commission for that biennium. The 25 
assessments must be apportioned among each such city and county 26 
based on the proportion that the total population of the city or the 27 
total population of the unincorporated area of the county bears to the 28 
total population of all such cities and the unincorporated areas of all 29 
such counties in this State. 30 
 2.  On or before July 1 of each odd-numbered year, the 31 
Executive Director shall [, in consultation with the Budget Division 32 
of the Office of Finance and the Fiscal Analysis Division of the 33 
Legislative Counsel Bureau,] determine for the next ensuing 34 
biennium the amount of the assessments due for each city and 35 
county that is required to pay an assessment pursuant to subsection 36 
1. The assessments must be paid to the Commission in semiannual 37 
installments that are due on or before August 1 and February 1 of 38 
each year of the biennium. The Executive Director shall send out a 39 
billing statement to each such city or county which states the 40 
amount of the semiannual installment payment due from the city or 41 
county. 42 
 3.  Any money that the Commission receives pursuant to 43 
subsection 2: 44 



 
 – 6 – 
 

 - *SB36* 

 (a) Must be deposited in the State Treasury, accounted for 1 
separately in the State General Fund and credited to the budget 2 
account for the Commission; 3 
 (b) May only be used to carry out the provisions of this chapter 4 
and only to the extent authorized for expenditure by the Legislature; 5 
 (c) Does not revert to the State General Fund at the end of any 6 
fiscal year; and 7 
 (d) Does not revert to a city or county if: 8 
  (1) The actual expenditures by the Commission are less than 9 
the amount of the assessments approved by the Legislature pursuant 10 
to subsection 1 and the city or county has already remitted its 11 
semiannual installment to the Commission for the billing period; or 12 
  (2) The budget of the Commission is modified after the 13 
amount of the assessments has been approved by the Legislature 14 
pursuant to subsection 1 and the city or county has already remitted 15 
its semiannual installment to the Commission for the billing period. 16 
 4.  If any installment payment is not paid on or before the date 17 
on which it is due, the Executive Director shall make reasonable 18 
efforts to collect the delinquent payment. If the Executive Director 19 
is not able to collect the arrearage, the Executive Director shall 20 
submit a claim for the amount of the unpaid installment payment to 21 
the Department of Taxation. If the Department of Taxation receives 22 
such a claim, the Department shall deduct the amount of the claim 23 
from money that would otherwise be allocated from the Local 24 
Government Tax Distribution Account to the city or county that 25 
owes the installment payment and shall transfer that amount to the 26 
Commission. 27 
 5.  As used in this section, “population” means the current 28 
population estimate for that city or county as determined and 29 
published by the Department of Taxation and the demographer 30 
employed pursuant to NRS 360.283. 31 
 Sec. 6.  NRS 281A.400 is hereby amended to read as follows: 32 
 281A.400  A code of ethical standards is hereby established to 33 
govern the conduct of public officers and employees: 34 
 1.  A public officer or employee shall not seek or accept any 35 
gift, service, favor, employment, engagement, emolument or 36 
economic opportunity which would tend improperly to influence a 37 
reasonable person in the public officer’s or employee’s position to 38 
depart from the faithful and impartial discharge of the public 39 
officer’s or employee’s public duties. 40 
 2.  A public officer or employee shall not use the public 41 
officer’s or employee’s position in government to secure or grant 42 
unwarranted privileges, preferences, exemptions or advantages for 43 
the public officer or employee, any business entity in which the 44 
public officer or employee has a significant pecuniary interest, or 45 



 
 – 7 – 
 

 - *SB36* 

any person to whom the public officer or employee has a 1 
commitment in a private capacity to the interests of that person. As 2 
used in this subsection, “unwarranted” means without justification 3 
or adequate reason. 4 
 3.  A public officer or employee shall not participate as an agent 5 
of government in the negotiation or execution of a contract between 6 
the government and any business entity in which the public officer 7 
or employee has a significant pecuniary interest. 8 
 4.  A public officer or employee shall not accept any salary, 9 
retainer, augmentation, expense allowance or other compensation 10 
from any private source for the performance of the public officer’s 11 
or employee’s duties as a public officer or employee. 12 
 5.  If a public officer or employee acquires, through the public 13 
officer’s or employee’s public duties or relationships, any 14 
information which by law or practice is not at the time available to 15 
people generally, the public officer or employee shall not use the 16 
information to further a significant pecuniary interest of the public 17 
officer or employee or any other person or business entity. 18 
 6.  A public officer or employee shall not suppress any 19 
governmental report or other official document because it might 20 
tend to affect unfavorably a significant pecuniary interest of the 21 
public officer or employee. 22 
 7.  [Except for State Legislators who are subject to the 23 
restrictions set forth in subsection 8, a] A public officer or employee 24 
shall not use governmental time, property, equipment or other 25 
facility to benefit a significant personal or pecuniary interest of the 26 
public officer or employee. This subsection does not prohibit: 27 
 (a) A limited use of governmental property, equipment or other 28 
facility for personal purposes if: 29 
  (1) The public officer or employee who is responsible for 30 
and has authority to authorize the use of such property, equipment 31 
or other facility has established a policy allowing the use or the use 32 
is necessary as a result of emergency circumstances; 33 
  (2) The use does not interfere with the performance of the 34 
public officer’s or employee’s public duties; 35 
  (3) The cost or value related to the use is nominal; and 36 
  (4) The use does not create the appearance of impropriety; 37 
 (b) The use of mailing lists, computer data or other information 38 
lawfully obtained from a governmental agency which is available to 39 
members of the general public for nongovernmental purposes; or 40 
 (c) The use of telephones or other means of communication if 41 
there is not a special charge for that use. 42 

 If a governmental agency incurs a cost as a result of a use that is 43 
authorized pursuant to this subsection or would ordinarily charge a 44 
member of the general public for the use, the public officer or 45 



 
 – 8 – 
 

 - *SB36* 

employee shall promptly reimburse the cost or pay the charge to the 1 
governmental agency. 2 
 8.  [A State Legislator shall not: 3 
 (a) Use governmental time, property, equipment or other facility 4 
for a nongovernmental purpose or for the private benefit of the State 5 
Legislator or any other person. This paragraph does not prohibit: 6 
  (1) A limited use of state property and resources for personal 7 
purposes if: 8 
   (I) The use does not interfere with the performance of the 9 
State Legislator’s public duties; 10 
   (II) The cost or value related to the use is nominal; and 11 
   (III) The use does not create the appearance of 12 
impropriety; 13 
  (2) The use of mailing lists, computer data or other 14 
information lawfully obtained from a governmental agency which is 15 
available to members of the general public for nongovernmental 16 
purposes; or 17 
  (3) The use of telephones or other means of communication 18 
if there is not a special charge for that use. 19 
 (b) Require or authorize a legislative employee, while on duty, 20 
to perform personal services or assist in a private activity, except: 21 
  (1) In unusual and infrequent situations where the 22 
employee’s service is reasonably necessary to permit the State 23 
Legislator or legislative employee to perform that person’s official 24 
duties; or 25 
  (2) Where such service has otherwise been established as 26 
legislative policy. 27 
 9.]  A public officer or employee shall not attempt to benefit a 28 
significant personal or pecuniary interest of the public officer or 29 
employee through the influence of a subordinate. 30 
 [10.] 9.  A public officer or employee shall not seek other 31 
employment or contracts through the use of the public officer’s or 32 
employee’s official position. 33 
 Sec. 7.  NRS 281A.410 is hereby amended to read as follows: 34 
 281A.410  In addition to the requirements of the code of ethical 35 
standards and the other provisions of this chapter: 36 
 1.  If a public officer or employee serves in a state agency of the 37 
Executive Department or an agency of any county, city or other 38 
political subdivision, the public officer or employee: 39 
 (a) Shall not accept compensation from any private person to 40 
represent or counsel the private person on any issue pending before 41 
the agency in which that public officer or employee serves, if the 42 
agency makes decisions; and 43 
 (b) If the public officer or employee leaves the service of the 44 
agency, shall not, for 1 year after leaving the service of the agency, 45 



 
 – 9 – 
 

 - *SB36* 

represent or counsel for compensation a private person upon any 1 
issue which was under consideration by the agency during the 2 
public officer’s or employee’s service. As used in this paragraph, 3 
“issue” includes a case, proceeding, application, contract or 4 
determination, but does not include the proposal or consideration of 5 
legislative measures or administrative regulations. 6 
 2.  Except as otherwise provided in subsection 3, [a State 7 
Legislator or] a member of a local legislative body, or a public 8 
officer or employee whose public service requires less than half of 9 
his or her time, may represent or counsel a private person before an 10 
agency in which he or she does not serve.  11 
 3.  A member of a local legislative body shall not represent or 12 
counsel a private person for compensation before another local 13 
agency if the territorial jurisdiction of the other local agency 14 
includes any part of the county in which the member serves. The 15 
Commission may relieve the member from the strict application of 16 
the provisions of this subsection if: 17 
 (a) The member requests an opinion from the Commission 18 
pursuant to subsection 1 of NRS 281A.440; and 19 
 (b) The Commission determines that such relief is not contrary 20 
to: 21 
  (1) The best interests of the public; 22 
  (2) The continued ethical integrity of each local agency 23 
affected by the matter; and 24 
  (3) The provisions of this chapter. 25 
 4.  Unless permitted by this section, a public officer or 26 
employee shall not represent or counsel a private person for 27 
compensation before any state agency of the Executive or 28 
Legislative Department. 29 
 5.  Not later than January 15 of each year, if any [State 30 
Legislator,] member of a local legislative body or other public 31 
officer permitted by this section has, within the preceding year, 32 
represented or counseled a private person for compensation before a 33 
state agency of the Executive Department, he or she shall disclose 34 
for each such representation or counseling during the previous 35 
calendar year: 36 
 (a) The name of the client; 37 
 (b) The nature of the representation; and 38 
 (c) The name of the state agency. 39 
 6.  The disclosure required by subsection 5 must be made in 40 
writing and filed with the Commission on a form prescribed by the 41 
Commission. For the purposes of this subsection, the disclosure is 42 
timely filed if, on or before the last day for filing, the disclosure is 43 
filed in one of the following ways: 44 



 
 – 10 – 
 

 - *SB36* 

 (a) Delivered in person to the principal office of the 1 
Commission in Carson City. 2 
 (b) Mailed to the Commission by first-class mail, or other class 3 
of mail that is at least as expeditious, postage prepaid. Filing by mail 4 
is complete upon timely depositing the disclosure with the United 5 
States Postal Service. 6 
 (c) Dispatched to a third-party commercial carrier for delivery to 7 
the Commission within 3 calendar days. Filing by third-party 8 
commercial carrier is complete upon timely depositing the 9 
disclosure with the third-party commercial carrier. 10 
 (d) Transmitted to the Commission by facsimile machine or 11 
other electronic means authorized by the Commission. Filing by 12 
facsimile machine or other electronic means is complete upon 13 
receipt of the transmission by the Commission. 14 
 7.  The Commission shall retain a disclosure filed pursuant to 15 
this section for 6 years after the date on which the disclosure was 16 
filed. 17 
 Sec. 8.  NRS 281A.420 is hereby amended to read as follows: 18 
 281A.420  1.  Except as otherwise provided in this section, a 19 
public officer or employee shall not approve, disapprove, vote, 20 
abstain from voting or otherwise act upon a matter: 21 
 (a) Regarding which the public officer or employee has accepted 22 
a gift or loan; 23 
 (b) In which the public officer or employee has a significant 24 
pecuniary interest; or 25 
 (c) Which would reasonably be affected by the public officer’s 26 
or employee’s commitment in a private capacity to the interests of 27 
another person, 28 

 without disclosing information concerning the gift or loan, 29 
significant pecuniary interest or commitment in a private capacity to 30 
the interests of the person that is sufficient to inform the public of 31 
the potential effect of the action or abstention upon the person who 32 
provided the gift or loan, upon the public officer’s or employee’s 33 
significant pecuniary interest, or upon the person to whom the 34 
public officer or employee has a commitment in a private capacity. 35 
Such a disclosure must be made at the time the matter is considered. 36 
If the public officer or employee is a member of a body which 37 
makes decisions, the public officer or employee shall make the 38 
disclosure in public to the chair and other members of the body. If 39 
the public officer or employee is not a member of such a body and 40 
holds an appointive office, the public officer or employee shall 41 
make the disclosure to the supervisory head of the public officer’s or 42 
employee’s organization or, if the public officer holds an elective 43 
office, to the general public in the area from which the public officer 44 
is elected. 45 



 
 – 11 – 
 

 - *SB36* 

 2.  The provisions of subsection 1 do not require a public 1 
officer to disclose: 2 
 (a) Any campaign contributions that the public officer reported 3 
in a timely manner pursuant to NRS 294A.120 or 294A.125; or 4 
 (b) Any contributions to a legal defense fund that the public 5 
officer reported in a timely manner pursuant to NRS 294A.286. 6 
 3.  Except as otherwise provided in this section, in addition to 7 
the requirements of subsection 1, a public officer shall not vote upon 8 
or advocate the passage or failure of, but may otherwise participate 9 
in the consideration of, a matter with respect to which the 10 
independence of judgment of a reasonable person in the public 11 
officer’s situation would be materially affected by: 12 
 (a) The public officer’s acceptance of a gift or loan; 13 
 (b) The public officer’s significant pecuniary interest; or 14 
 (c) The public officer’s commitment in a private capacity to the 15 
interests of another person. 16 
 4.  In interpreting and applying the provisions of subsection 3: 17 
 (a) It must be presumed that the independence of judgment of a 18 
reasonable person in the public officer’s situation would not be 19 
materially affected by the public officer’s acceptance of a gift or 20 
loan, significant pecuniary interest or commitment in a private 21 
capacity to the interests of another person where the resulting 22 
benefit or detriment accruing to the public officer, or if the public 23 
officer has a commitment in a private capacity to the interests of 24 
another person, accruing to the other person, is not greater than that 25 
accruing to any other member of any general business, profession, 26 
occupation or group that is affected by the matter. The presumption 27 
set forth in this paragraph does not affect the applicability of the 28 
requirements set forth in subsection 1 relating to the disclosure of 29 
the acceptance of a gift or loan, significant pecuniary interest or 30 
commitment in a private capacity to the interests of another person. 31 
 (b) The Commission must give appropriate weight and proper 32 
deference to the public policy of this State which favors the right of 33 
a public officer to perform the duties for which the public officer 34 
was elected or appointed and to vote or otherwise act upon a matter, 35 
provided the public officer has properly disclosed the public 36 
officer’s acceptance of a gift or loan, significant pecuniary interest 37 
or commitment in a private capacity to the interests of another 38 
person in the manner required by subsection 1. Because abstention 39 
by a public officer disrupts the normal course of representative 40 
government and deprives the public and the public officer’s 41 
constituents of a voice in governmental affairs, the provisions of this 42 
section are intended to require abstention only in clear cases where 43 
the independence of judgment of a reasonable person in the public 44 
officer’s situation would be materially affected by the public 45 



 
 – 12 – 
 

 - *SB36* 

officer’s acceptance of a gift or loan, significant pecuniary interest 1 
or commitment in a private capacity to the interests of another 2 
person. 3 
 5.  Except as otherwise provided in NRS 241.0355, if a public 4 
officer declares to the body or committee in which the vote is to be 5 
taken that the public officer will abstain from voting because of the 6 
requirements of this section, the necessary quorum to act upon and 7 
the number of votes necessary to act upon the matter, as fixed by 8 
any statute, ordinance or rule, is reduced as though the member 9 
abstaining were not a member of the body or committee. 10 
 6.  The provisions of this section do not, under any 11 
circumstances: 12 
 (a) Prohibit a member of a local legislative body from 13 
requesting or introducing a legislative measure; or 14 
 (b) Require a member of a local legislative body to take any 15 
particular action before or while requesting or introducing a 16 
legislative measure. 17 
 [7.  The provisions of this section do not, under any 18 
circumstances, apply to State Legislators or allow the Commission 19 
to exercise jurisdiction or authority over State Legislators. The 20 
responsibility of a State Legislator to make disclosures concerning 21 
gifts, loans, interests or commitments and the responsibility of a 22 
State Legislator to abstain from voting upon or advocating the 23 
passage or failure of a matter are governed by the Standing Rules of 24 
the Legislative Department of State Government which are adopted, 25 
administered and enforced exclusively by the appropriate bodies of 26 
the Legislative Department of State Government pursuant to Section 27 
6 of Article 4 of the Nevada Constitution. 28 
 8.  As used in this section, “public officer” and “public 29 
employee” do not include a State Legislator.] 30 
 Sec. 9.  NRS 281A.480 is hereby amended to read as follows: 31 
 281A.480  1.  In addition to any other penalties provided by 32 
law and in accordance with the provisions of NRS 281A.475, the 33 
Commission may impose on a public officer or employee or former 34 
public officer or employee civil penalties: 35 
 (a) Not to exceed $5,000 for a first willful violation of this 36 
chapter; 37 
 (b) Not to exceed $10,000 for a separate act or event that 38 
constitutes a second willful violation of this chapter; and 39 
 (c) Not to exceed $25,000 for a separate act or event that 40 
constitutes a third willful violation of this chapter. 41 
 2.  In addition to any other penalties provided by law, the 42 
Commission may, upon its own motion or upon the motion of the 43 
person about whom an opinion was requested pursuant to NRS 44 
281A.440, impose a civil penalty not to exceed $5,000 and assess an 45 



 
 – 13 – 
 

 - *SB36* 

amount equal to the amount of attorney’s fees and costs actually and 1 
reasonably incurred by the person about whom an opinion was 2 
requested pursuant to NRS 281A.440 against a person who 3 
prevents, interferes with or attempts to prevent or interfere with the 4 
discovery or investigation of a violation of this chapter. 5 
 3.  If the Commission finds that a violation of a provision of 6 
this chapter by a public officer or employee or former public officer 7 
or employee has resulted in the realization of a financial benefit by 8 
the current or former public officer or employee or another person, 9 
the Commission may, in addition to any other penalties provided by 10 
law, require the current or former public officer or employee to pay 11 
a civil penalty of not more than twice the amount so realized. 12 
 4.  In addition to any other penalties provided by law, if a 13 
proceeding results in an opinion that: 14 
 (a) [One or more willful violations of this chapter have been 15 
committed by a State Legislator removable from office only through 16 
expulsion by the State Legislator’s own House pursuant to Section 6 17 
of Article 4 of the Nevada Constitution, the Commission shall: 18 
  (1) If the State Legislator is a member of the Senate, submit 19 
the opinion to the Majority Leader of the Senate or, if the Majority 20 
Leader of the Senate is the subject of the opinion or the person who 21 
requested the opinion, to the President Pro Tempore of the Senate; 22 
or 23 
  (2) If the State Legislator is a member of the Assembly, 24 
submit the opinion to the Speaker of the Assembly or, if the Speaker 25 
of the Assembly is the subject of the opinion or the person who 26 
requested the opinion, to the Speaker Pro Tempore of the Assembly. 27 
 (b)] One or more willful violations of this chapter have been 28 
committed by a state officer removable from office only through 29 
impeachment pursuant to Article 7 of the Nevada Constitution, the 30 
Commission shall submit the opinion to the Speaker of the 31 
Assembly and the Majority Leader of the Senate or, if the Speaker 32 
of the Assembly or the Majority Leader of the Senate is the person 33 
who requested the opinion, to the Speaker Pro Tempore of the 34 
Assembly or the President Pro Tempore of the Senate, as 35 
appropriate. 36 
 [(c)] (b) One or more willful violations of this chapter have 37 
been committed by a public officer other than a public officer 38 
described in [paragraphs] paragraph (a) , [and (b),] the willful 39 
violations shall be deemed to be malfeasance in office for the 40 
purposes of NRS 283.440 and the Commission: 41 
  (1) May file a complaint in the appropriate court for removal 42 
of the public officer pursuant to NRS 283.440 when the public 43 
officer is found in the opinion to have committed fewer than three 44 
willful violations of this chapter. 45 



 
 – 14 – 
 

 - *SB36* 

  (2) Shall file a complaint in the appropriate court for removal 1 
of the public officer pursuant to NRS 283.440 when the public 2 
officer is found in the opinion to have committed three or more 3 
willful violations of this chapter. 4 

 This paragraph grants an exclusive right to the Commission, and 5 
no other person may file a complaint against the public officer 6 
pursuant to NRS 283.440 based on any violation found in the 7 
opinion. 8 
 5.  Notwithstanding any other provision of this chapter, any act 9 
or failure to act by a public officer or employee or former public 10 
officer or employee relating to this chapter is not a willful violation 11 
of this chapter if the public officer or employee establishes by 12 
sufficient evidence that: 13 
 (a) The public officer or employee relied in good faith upon the 14 
advice of the legal counsel retained by his or her public body, 15 
agency or employer; and 16 
 (b) The advice of the legal counsel was: 17 
  (1) Provided to the public officer or employee before the 18 
public officer or employee acted or failed to act; and 19 
  (2) Based on a reasonable legal determination by the legal 20 
counsel under the circumstances when the advice was given that the 21 
act or failure to act by the public officer or employee would not be 22 
contrary to any prior published opinion issued by the Commission 23 
which was publicly available on the Internet website of the 24 
Commission. 25 
 6.  In addition to any other penalties provided by law, a public 26 
employee who commits a willful violation of this chapter is subject 27 
to disciplinary proceedings by the employer of the public employee 28 
and must be referred for action in accordance to the applicable 29 
provisions governing the employment of the public employee. 30 
 7.  The provisions of this chapter do not abrogate or decrease 31 
the effect of the provisions of the Nevada Revised Statutes which 32 
define crimes or prescribe punishments with respect to the conduct 33 
of public officers or employees. If the Commission finds that a 34 
public officer or employee has committed a willful violation of this 35 
chapter which it believes may also constitute a criminal offense, the 36 
Commission shall refer the matter to the Attorney General or the 37 
district attorney, as appropriate, for a determination of whether a 38 
crime has been committed that warrants prosecution. 39 
 8.  The imposition of a civil penalty pursuant to subsection 1, 2 40 
or 3 is a final decision for the purposes of judicial review pursuant 41 
to NRS 233B.130. 42 
 9.  A finding by the Commission that a public officer or 43 
employee has violated any provision of this chapter must be 44 



 
 – 15 – 
 

 - *SB36* 

supported by a preponderance of the evidence unless a greater 1 
burden is otherwise prescribed by law. 2 
 Sec. 10.  1.  Notwithstanding the provisions of NRS 3 
281A.200, the term of each member of the Commission on Ethics 4 
who was appointed by the Legislative Commission expires on the 5 
effective date of this act. 6 
 2.  As soon as practicable after the effective date of this act, the 7 
Governor shall appoint to the Commission on Ethics the member 8 
added pursuant to subsection 2 of NRS 281A.200, as amended by 9 
section 4 of this act. 10 
 Sec. 11.  1.  The amendatory provisions of this act that 11 
remove the concurrent jurisdiction of the Commission on Ethics 12 
over State Legislators do not apply to any request for an opinion 13 
regarding a Legislator’s conduct submitted pursuant to NRS 14 
281A.440 that is pending before the Commission on Ethics on the 15 
effective date of this act. 16 
 2.  The revision of the composition of the Commission on 17 
Ethics in NRS 281A.200, as amended by section 4 of this act, does 18 
not affect the status of any request for an opinion pursuant to NRS 19 
281A.440 that is pending before the Commission on Ethics on the 20 
effective date of this act. 21 
 Sec. 12.  This act becomes effective upon passage and 22 
approval. 23 

 
H

  



  
  
  S.B. 84 

 - *SB84* 

 
SENATE BILL NO. 84–COMMITTEE ON  

LEGISLATIVE OPERATIONS AND ELECTIONS 
 

(ON BEHALF OF THE COMMISSION ON ETHICS) 
 

PREFILED NOVEMBER 17, 2016 
____________ 

 
Referred to Committee on Legislative Operations and Elections 

 
SUMMARY—Makes various changes relating to ethics in 

government. (BDR 23-250) 
 
FISCAL NOTE: Effect on Local Government: No. 
 Effect on the State: Yes. 

 
~ 
 

EXPLANATION – Matter in bolded italics is new; matter between brackets [omitted material] is material to be omitted. 
 

 
AN ACT relating to ethics in government; revising certain 

procedures of the Commission on Ethics and the remedial 
authority of the Commission; designating certain persons 
as public officers for the purposes of the Nevada Ethics in 
Government Law; revising the code of ethical standards 
applicable to public officers and employees; providing for 
the execution and filing by a public officer of a single 
acknowledgment of statutory ethical standards for all 
public offices held concurrently by the officer; revising 
provisions relating to the employment of former public 
officers and employees; and providing other matters 
properly relating thereto. 

Legislative Counsel’s Digest: 
 Existing law permits a public officer or employee, a member of the public, a 1 
specialized or local ethics committee, or the Commission on Ethics itself to request 2 
or initiate an opinion from the Commission interpreting the ethical standards of the 3 
Nevada Ethics in Government Law and applying those standards to a given set of 4 
facts. Except for a request made by the affected public officer or employee, the 5 
Executive Director of the Commission is required to conduct an investigation and 6 
make a recommendation to an investigatory panel, consisting of two members of 7 
the Commission, about whether there is just and sufficient cause for the 8 
Commission to render an opinion in the matter. In the same section of statute, 9 
existing law sets forth rules of confidentiality for the proceedings and records of the 10 
Commission, discovery and the conduct of a hearing by the Commission. (NRS 11 
281A.440) Sections 2-14, 21 and 30 of this bill generally reorganize the existing, 12 



 
 – 2 – 
 

 - *SB84* 

lengthy section and reenact those provisions in more condensed form, and they also 13 
remove or repeal the provisions relating to the investigative panels. Sections 17, 19, 14 
28 and 29 of this bill make conforming changes. Pursuant to section 4, the 15 
Executive Director is required to report the results of his or her investigation and 16 
make a recommendation relating to just and sufficient cause directly to the 17 
Commission. Other changes to the existing procedure include: (1) authorizing the 18 
Executive Director to recommend the disposition of a matter without a hearing, in 19 
section 4; and (2) revising provisions relating to the disclosure of the identity of the 20 
requester of an opinion whose identity is otherwise confidential but who testifies at 21 
a hearing, in section 8. 22 
 Existing law establishes the remedial options of the Commission if it finds a 23 
violation of the Nevada Ethics in Government Law and also authorizes the 24 
Commission to resolve matters before it by stipulation, agreed settlement, consent 25 
order or default. (NRS 233B.121, 281A.135, 281A.480) Sections 5, 12 and 13 26 
expand the remedies available to the Commission to include: (1) a requirement that 27 
a public officer or employee complete a period of compliance, receive additional 28 
training or issue a public apology; and (2) the issuance of a confidential letter of 29 
caution or a public admonition, reprimand or censure. If the Commission believes 30 
that a public officer or employee has engaged in conduct that is appropriately 31 
addressed through additional training or other corrective action, section 6 also 32 
authorizes the Commission to defer further proceedings in the matter and enter a 33 
deferral order, pursuant to which the Commission may dismiss the matter or take 34 
other action if the public officer or employee complies with the terms of the order. 35 
Sections 22-24 and 26 of this bill make conforming changes. 36 
 Existing law generally defines a person as a public officer for the purposes of 37 
the Nevada Ethics in Government Law if he or she holds a position that: (1) 38 
involves the exercise of a public power, trust or duty; and (2) is established by the 39 
Nevada Constitution or any provision of statute, charter or ordinance. (NRS 40 
281A.160) Certain additional persons are designated as public officers 41 
notwithstanding the fact that their positions are not so established. (NRS 281A.182) 42 
Section 16 of this bill adds to the list of persons so designated any person whose 43 
position is not otherwise excluded from the scope of the statutory definition of 44 
“public officer,” whose compensation is paid with public money and whose duties 45 
involve the exercise of a public power, trust or duty. 46 
 Section 20 of this bill revises the existing code of ethical standards applicable 47 
to the conduct of public officers and employees. (NRS 281A.400) Except for 48 
conduct for which a complaint may be filed with the United States Equal 49 
Employment Opportunity Commission or the Nevada Equal Rights Commission, 50 
section 20 makes it a violation of the standards for a public officer or employee to 51 
use his or her position to coerce, harass, retaliate against or punish any other person 52 
or business entity for a purpose inconsistent with the proper performance of the 53 
public officer’s or employee’s public duties. Finally, section 20 prohibits a public 54 
officer or employee from engaging in any other conduct that is contrary to the 55 
public policies underlying the Nevada Ethics in Government Law, as those policies 56 
are expressed in statute. (NRS 281A.020) 57 
 Existing law requires each elected and appointed public officer to execute and 58 
file with the Commission a written acknowledgment of the officer’s understanding 59 
of the statutory ethical standards applicable to him or her, and the officer’s 60 
obligation to become familiar with any amendments to those standards. A public 61 
officer is required to execute and file the acknowledgment for each office, 62 
including each appointive office, held by the officer. (NRS 281A.500) Section 25 63 
of this bill provides that a public officer who executes and files the 64 
acknowledgment for one office as required by law thereby satisfies the execution 65 
and filing requirements for any other office held concurrently by him or her. 66 



 
 – 3 – 
 

 - *SB84* 

 Under existing law, various public officers and employees are subject to a 67 
“cooling-off” period after the termination of their public service or employment, 68 
during which they are precluded from soliciting or accepting certain kinds of 69 
employment. A similar “cooling-off period” exists for a former public officer’s or 70 
employee’s representation or counseling of a private person on any issue which was 71 
under consideration by the agency in which the officer or employee served. The 72 
Commission is authorized to grant relief from the application of these provisions in 73 
specified circumstances. (NRS 281A.410, 281A.550) Section 27 of this bill: (1) 74 
clarifies that a grant of relief from the application of the cooling-off provisions as 75 
they relate to employment does not affect the ban on representation or counseling; 76 
and (2) provides that the ban on employment extends to circumstances in which any 77 
agreement for personal services exists or is contemplated. 78 
 
 

THE PEOPLE OF THE STATE OF NEVADA, REPRESENTED IN 
SENATE AND ASSEMBLY, DO ENACT AS FOLLOWS: 

 
 Section 1.  Chapter 281A of NRS is hereby amended by 1 
adding thereto the provisions set forth as sections 2 to 14, inclusive, 2 
of this act. 3 
 Sec. 2.  “Deferral order” means an order entered by the 4 
Commission pursuant to section 6 of this act. 5 
 Sec. 3.  If a person who requests an opinion pursuant to 6 
subsection 1 or 2 of NRS 281A.440 does not: 7 
 1.  Submit all necessary information to the Commission; and 8 
 2.  Declare by oath or affirmation that the person will testify 9 
truthfully, 10 

 the Commission may decline to render an opinion. 11 
 Sec. 4.  1.  Except as otherwise provided in this subsection, if 12 
a request for an opinion is submitted to or initiated by the 13 
Commission pursuant to subsection 2 of NRS 281A.440, the 14 
Executive Director shall complete the investigation required by 15 
NRS 281A.440 and present a written recommendation to the 16 
Commission within 70 days after the determination by the 17 
Commission that it has jurisdiction concerning the request or after 18 
the motion of the Commission initiating the request, as applicable. 19 
The public officer or employee who is the subject of the request 20 
may waive this time limit. 21 
 2.  The recommendation must: 22 
 (a) State whether the Executive Director believes that there is 23 
just and sufficient cause for the Commission to render an opinion 24 
in the matter; 25 
 (b) If the Executive Director believes that a disposition of the 26 
matter without a hearing is appropriate under the circumstances, 27 
include any suggested disposition that is consistent with the 28 
provisions of this chapter; and 29 



 
 – 4 – 
 

 - *SB84* 

 (c) Set forth the factual and legal basis for the 1 
recommendation. 2 
 Sec. 5.  1.  Except as otherwise provided in this subsection, if 3 
a request for an opinion is submitted to or initiated by the 4 
Commission pursuant to subsection 2 of NRS 281A.440, the 5 
Commission shall determine whether there is just and sufficient 6 
cause to render an opinion in the matter within 15 days after the 7 
Executive Director has provided the recommendation required by 8 
section 4 of this act, and shall cause a record of its proceedings to 9 
be kept. The public officer or employee who is the subject of the 10 
request may waive this time limit. The Commission shall not 11 
determine that there is just and sufficient cause to render an 12 
opinion unless the Executive Director has provided the public 13 
officer or employee an opportunity to respond to the allegations as 14 
required by NRS 281A.440. 15 
 2.  If the Commission determines that there is not just and 16 
sufficient cause to render an opinion in the matter, it shall dismiss 17 
the matter with or without prejudice and with or without issuing a 18 
letter of caution to the public officer or employee. A letter of 19 
caution is confidential, but the Commission may consider a letter 20 
of caution in deciding the appropriate action to be taken on any 21 
subsequent request for an opinion involving the public officer or 22 
employee, unless the letter is not relevant to the issues presented 23 
by the subsequent request. 24 
 3.  If the Commission determines that there is just and 25 
sufficient cause to render an opinion in the matter but believes 26 
that the conduct at issue is more appropriately addressed through 27 
additional training or other corrective action, it may enter a 28 
deferral order. 29 
 4.  If the Commission determines that there is just and 30 
sufficient cause to render an opinion in the matter, the 31 
Commission shall hold a hearing and render its opinion within 60 32 
days after the date of the determination unless the public officer or 33 
employee waives this time limit or a deferral order is entered by 34 
the Commission. 35 
 Sec. 6.  1.  If a request for an opinion is submitted to or 36 
initiated by the Commission pursuant to subsection 2 of NRS 37 
281A.440, the Commission determines that there is just and 38 
sufficient cause to render an opinion and the Commission 39 
reasonably believes that a public officer or employee has engaged 40 
in conduct that is appropriately addressed through additional 41 
training or other corrective action, the Commission may defer 42 
further proceedings in the matter and enter a deferral order. 43 
 2.  A deferral order is confidential and must: 44 



 
 – 5 – 
 

 - *SB84* 

 (a) Specify the training or other corrective action to be 1 
completed by or imposed upon the public officer or employee; 2 
 (b) Specify any penalty, consistent with the provisions of this 3 
chapter, to be imposed upon the public officer or employee; and 4 
 (c) Provide that the Commission may vacate the order and 5 
proceed with a hearing if the Commission finds that the public 6 
officer or employee has failed to comply with any condition of the 7 
order. 8 
 3.  The imposition of training or other corrective action and 9 
any penalty described in a deferral order is without prejudice to 10 
any other disposition of the matter, consistent with this chapter, 11 
that may be ordered by the Commission if it vacates the order, 12 
proceeds with a hearing and finds that the public officer or 13 
employee has violated any provision of this chapter. 14 
 4.  The Executive Director shall monitor the compliance of 15 
the public officer or employee who is the subject of a deferral 16 
order and may require the public officer or employee to document 17 
his or her compliance with the order. The Commission shall give 18 
the public officer or employee written notice of any alleged failure 19 
to comply with the order and shall allow the public officer or 20 
employee not less than 15 days to respond to such a notice. 21 
 5.  If the public officer or employee who is the subject of a 22 
deferral order complies in a satisfactory manner with the order, 23 
the Commission may dismiss the request for an opinion or take 24 
any other action it deems appropriate, consistent with the 25 
provisions of this chapter. 26 
 Sec. 7.  Each request for an opinion that a public officer or 27 
employee submits to the Commission pursuant to subsection 1 of 28 
NRS 281A.440, each opinion rendered by the Commission in 29 
response to the request and any motion, determination, evidence 30 
or record of a hearing relating to the request are confidential 31 
unless the public officer or employee who requested the opinion: 32 
 1.  Acts in contravention of the opinion, in which case the 33 
Commission may disclose the request for the opinion, the contents 34 
of the opinion and any motion, determination, evidence or record 35 
of a hearing related to the request; 36 
 2.  Discloses the request for the opinion, the contents of the 37 
opinion, or any motion, determination, evidence or record of a 38 
hearing related to the request in any manner except to: 39 
 (a) The public body, agency or employer of the public officer 40 
or employee; or 41 
 (b) A person to whom the Commission authorizes the current 42 
or former public officer or employee to make such a disclosure; or 43 



 
 – 6 – 
 

 - *SB84* 

 3.  Requests the Commission to disclose the request, the 1 
contents of the opinion, or any motion, determination, evidence or 2 
record of a hearing related to the request. 3 
 Sec. 8.  1.  Except as otherwise provided in this section and 4 
section 9 of this act, all information, communications, records, 5 
documents or other material in the possession of the Commission 6 
or its staff that is related to a request for an opinion regarding a 7 
public officer or employee submitted to or initiated by the 8 
Commission pursuant to subsection 2 of NRS 281A.440 are 9 
confidential and not public records pursuant to chapter 239 of 10 
NRS until: 11 
 (a) The Commission determines that there is just and 12 
sufficient cause to render an opinion in the matter and serves 13 
written notice of its determination on the public officer or 14 
employee who is the subject of the request; or 15 
 (b) The public officer or employee who is the subject of the 16 
request authorizes the Commission in writing to make the 17 
information, communications, records, documents or other 18 
material which are related to the request publicly available, 19 

 whichever occurs first. 20 
 2.  Except as otherwise provided in subsection 3, if a person 21 
who submits a request for an opinion pursuant to paragraph (b) of 22 
subsection 2 of NRS 281A.440 asks that his or her identity as the 23 
requester be kept confidential, the Commission: 24 
 (a) Shall keep the identity of the requester confidential if he or 25 
she is a public officer or employee who works for the same public 26 
body, agency or employer as the public officer or employee who is 27 
the subject of the request. 28 
 (b) May keep the identity of the requester confidential if he or 29 
she offers sufficient facts and circumstances showing a reasonable 30 
likelihood that disclosure of his or her identity will subject the 31 
requester or a member of his or her household to a bona fide 32 
threat of physical force or violence. 33 
 3.  If the Commission keeps the identity of the requester 34 
confidential, the Commission shall not render an opinion in the 35 
matter unless there is sufficient evidence without the testimony of 36 
the requester to consider the propriety of the conduct of the public 37 
officer or employee who is the subject of the request. If the 38 
Commission intends to present the testimony of the requester as 39 
evidence for consideration in rendering an opinion in the matter 40 
and the public officer or employee who is the subject of the request 41 
submits a written discovery request to the Commission pursuant to 42 
section 9 of this act, the Commission shall disclose the name of the 43 
requester only as a proposed witness within a reasonable time 44 
before the hearing on the matter. 45 



 
 – 7 – 
 

 - *SB84* 

 Sec. 9.  1.  Except as otherwise provided in this section, the 1 
investigative file related to a request for an opinion regarding a 2 
public officer or employee is confidential. 3 
 2.  At any time after being served with written notice of the 4 
determination of the Commission regarding the existence of just 5 
and sufficient cause for the Commission to render an opinion in 6 
the matter, the public officer or employee who is the subject of the 7 
request for an opinion may submit a written discovery request to 8 
the Commission for a list of proposed witnesses and a copy of any 9 
portion of the investigative file that the Commission intends to 10 
present for consideration as evidence in rendering an opinion in 11 
the matter. 12 
 3.  Any portion of the investigative file which the Commission 13 
presents as evidence in rendering an opinion in the matter 14 
becomes a public record and must be open for inspection pursuant 15 
to NRS 239.010. 16 
 4.  For the purposes of this section, the investigative file 17 
includes, without limitation, any information provided to or 18 
obtained by the Commission or its staff through any form of 19 
communication during the course of an investigation and any 20 
records, documents or other material created or maintained 21 
during the course of an investigation which relate to the public 22 
officer or employee who is the subject of the request for an 23 
opinion, including, without limitation, a transcript, regardless of 24 
whether such information, records, documents or other material 25 
are obtained pursuant to a subpoena. 26 
 Sec. 10.  1.  Whenever the Commission holds a hearing to 27 
receive evidence concerning the propriety of the conduct of a 28 
public officer or employee, the Commission shall: 29 
 (a) Notify the public officer or employee of the date, time and 30 
place of the hearing; 31 
 (b) Allow the public officer or employee to be represented by 32 
counsel; and 33 
 (c) Allow the public officer or employee to hear the evidence 34 
presented to the Commission and to respond and present evidence 35 
on his or her own behalf. 36 

 Unless the public officer or employee agrees to a shorter time, 37 
the hearing must be held not less than 10 days after the notice is 38 
given. 39 
 2.  If a person who is not a party to a hearing before the 40 
Commission, including, without limitation, a person who has 41 
requested an opinion pursuant to paragraph (a) or (b) of 42 
subsection 2 of NRS 281A.440, wishes to ask a question of a 43 
witness at the hearing, the person must submit the question to the 44 
Executive Director in writing. The Executive Director may submit 45 



 
 – 8 – 
 

 - *SB84* 

the question to the Commission if the Executive Director deems 1 
the question relevant and appropriate. This subsection does not 2 
require the Commission or the Executive Director to ask any 3 
question submitted by a person who is not a party to the 4 
proceeding. 5 
 3.  For good cause shown, the Commission may take 6 
testimony from a person by telephone or video conference. 7 
 Sec. 11.  Any meeting or hearing held by the Commission to 8 
receive information or evidence concerning the propriety of the 9 
conduct of a public officer or employee and the deliberations of 10 
the Commission on such information or evidence, including, 11 
without limitation, any proceedings of the Commission conducted 12 
pursuant to subsection 1 of section 5 of this act, are not subject to 13 
the provisions of chapter 241 of NRS. 14 
 Sec. 12.  1.  Each opinion of the Commission issued after a 15 
hearing must include findings of fact and conclusions of law. 16 
 2.  If and to the extent that the Commission determines that a 17 
violation of this chapter: 18 
 (a) Has not been proven, the Commission shall dismiss the 19 
matter, with or without a letter of caution as described in section 5 20 
of this act. 21 
 (b) Has been proven, the Commission may take any action 22 
authorized by this chapter. 23 
 Sec. 13.  1.  Except as otherwise provided in this section, as 24 
a condition of a deferral order or based on a finding of a violation 25 
of this chapter following a hearing, the Commission may, in 26 
addition to any other penalty provided by law: 27 
 (a) Require a public officer or employee to: 28 
  (1) Comply in all respects with the provisions of this 29 
chapter for a specified period without being the subject of another 30 
request for an opinion: 31 
   (I) That arises from an alleged violation of this chapter 32 
which is alleged to have occurred during that period; and 33 
   (II) As to which the Commission determines that there is 34 
just and sufficient cause to hold a hearing. 35 
  (2) Attend and complete training. 36 
  (3) Follow a remedial course of action. 37 
  (4) Issue a public apology. 38 
  (5) Comply with conditions or limitations on future 39 
conduct. 40 
 (b) Publicly admonish, reprimand or censure a public officer 41 
or employee. 42 
 (c) Take any combination of such actions or any other 43 
reasonable action that the Commission determines will remedy the 44 
violation or deter similar violations. 45 



 
 – 9 – 
 

 - *SB84* 

 2.  The Commission may publicly: 1 
 (a) Admonish a public officer or employee if the Commission 2 
determines that the public officer or employee has violated any 3 
provision of this chapter, but the violation is not willful. An 4 
admonition is a written expression of disapproval of the conduct of 5 
the public officer or employee. 6 
 (b) Reprimand a public officer or employee if the Commission 7 
determines that the public officer or employee has willfully 8 
violated any provision of this chapter. A reprimand is a severe 9 
written reproof for the conduct of the public officer or employee. 10 
 (c) Censure a public officer or employee if the Commission 11 
determines that the public officer or employee has willfully 12 
violated any provision of this chapter and no mitigating factors are 13 
present. A censure is a formal written condemnation of the 14 
conduct of the public officer or employee. 15 
 3.  Any action taken by the Commission pursuant to this 16 
section is a final decision for the purposes of judicial review 17 
pursuant to NRS 233B.130. 18 
 Sec. 14.  For the purposes of NRS 41.032, the members of the 19 
Commission and employees of the Commission shall be deemed to 20 
be exercising or performing a discretionary function or duty in 21 
taking any action related to the rendering of an opinion. 22 
 Sec. 15.  NRS 281A.030 is hereby amended to read as follows: 23 
 281A.030  As used in this chapter, unless the context otherwise 24 
requires, the words and terms defined in NRS 281A.035 to 25 
281A.170, inclusive, and section 2 of this act have the meanings 26 
ascribed to them in those sections. 27 
 Sec. 16.  NRS 281A.182 is hereby amended to read as follows: 28 
 281A.182  1.  Any person who serves in one of the following 29 
positions is designated as a public officer for the purposes of this 30 
chapter: 31 
 (a) A president of a university, state college or community 32 
college within the Nevada System of Higher Education. 33 
 (b) A superintendent of a county school district. 34 
 (c) A county manager or a city manager. 35 
 (d) The holder of any other position not excluded by 36 
subsection 4 of NRS 281A.160 whose compensation is paid with 37 
public money and whose duties involve the exercise of a public 38 
power, trust or duty as defined in subsection 2 of NRS 281A.160. 39 
 2.  This section applies to such a person regardless of whether 40 
the person serves in the position: 41 
 (a) By appointment, contract or employment; 42 
 (b) With or without compensation; or 43 
 (c) On a temporary, interim or acting basis. 44 



 
 – 10 – 
 

 - *SB84* 

 Sec. 17.  NRS 281A.240 is hereby amended to read as follows: 1 
 281A.240  1.  In addition to any other duties imposed upon the 2 
Executive Director, the Executive Director shall: 3 
 (a) Maintain complete and accurate records of all transactions 4 
and proceedings of the Commission. 5 
 (b) Receive requests for opinions pursuant to NRS 281A.440. 6 
 (c) Gather information and conduct investigations regarding 7 
requests for opinions received by the Commission and submit 8 
recommendations to the [investigatory panel appointed pursuant to 9 
NRS 281A.220] Commission regarding whether there is just and 10 
sufficient cause to render an opinion in response to a particular 11 
request. 12 
 (d) Recommend to the Commission any regulations or 13 
legislation that the Executive Director considers desirable or 14 
necessary to improve the operation of the Commission and maintain 15 
high standards of ethical conduct in government. 16 
 (e) Upon the request of any public officer or the employer of a 17 
public employee, conduct training on the requirements of this 18 
chapter, the rules and regulations adopted by the Commission and 19 
previous opinions of the Commission. In any such training, the 20 
Executive Director shall emphasize that the Executive Director is 21 
not a member of the Commission and that only the Commission 22 
may issue opinions concerning the application of the statutory 23 
ethical standards to any given set of facts and circumstances. The 24 
Commission may charge a reasonable fee to cover the costs of 25 
training provided by the Executive Director pursuant to this 26 
subsection. 27 
 (f) Perform such other duties, not inconsistent with law, as may 28 
be required by the Commission. 29 
 2.  The Executive Director shall, within the limits of legislative 30 
appropriation, employ such persons as are necessary to carry out any 31 
of the Executive Director’s duties relating to: 32 
 (a) The administration of the affairs of the Commission; and 33 
 (b) The investigation of matters under the jurisdiction of the 34 
Commission. 35 
 3.  If the Executive Director is prohibited from acting on a 36 
particular matter or is otherwise unable to act on a particular matter, 37 
the Chair of the Commission shall designate a qualified person to 38 
perform the duties of the Executive Director with regard to that 39 
particular matter. 40 
 Sec. 18.  NRS 281A.280 is hereby amended to read as follows: 41 
 281A.280  1.  [The] Except as otherwise provided in this 42 
subsection, the Commission has jurisdiction to investigate and take 43 
appropriate action regarding an alleged violation of this chapter by a 44 



 
 – 11 – 
 

 - *SB84* 

public officer or employee or former public officer or employee in 1 
any proceeding commenced by: 2 
 (a) The filing of a request for an opinion with the Commission; 3 
or 4 
 (b) The Commission on its own motion, 5 

 within 2 years after the alleged violation or reasonable discovery 6 
of the alleged violation. The Commission does not have 7 
jurisdiction regarding alleged conduct for which a complaint may 8 
be filed with the United States Equal Employment Opportunity 9 
Commission or the Nevada Equal Rights Commission. 10 
 2.  For the purposes of this section, a proceeding is commenced: 11 
 (a) On the date on which a request for an opinion is filed in the 12 
proper form with the Commission in accordance with the 13 
regulations of the Commission; or 14 
 (b) If the proceeding is commenced by the Commission on its 15 
own motion, on the date on which the Commission serves the public 16 
officer or employee or former public officer or employee with 17 
notice of the proceeding in accordance with the regulations of the 18 
Commission. 19 
 Sec. 19.  NRS 281A.300 is hereby amended to read as follows: 20 
 281A.300  1.  The Chair and Vice Chair of the Commission 21 
may administer oaths. 22 
 2.  The Commission, upon majority vote, may issue a subpoena 23 
to compel the attendance of a witness and the production of books 24 
and papers. Upon the request of the Executive Director or the public 25 
officer or employee who is the subject of a request for an opinion, 26 
the Chair or, in the Chair’s absence, the Vice Chair, may issue a 27 
subpoena to compel the attendance of a witness and the production 28 
of books and papers. A public officer or employee who requests the 29 
issuance of a subpoena pursuant to this subsection must serve the 30 
subpoena in the manner provided in the Nevada Rules of Civil 31 
Procedure for service of subpoenas in a civil action and must pay 32 
the costs of such service. 33 
 3.  Before issuing a subpoena to a public officer or employee 34 
who is the subject of a request for an opinion to compel his or her 35 
attendance as a witness or his or her production of books or papers, 36 
the Executive Director shall submit a written request to the public 37 
officer or employee requesting: 38 
 (a) The appearance of the public officer or employee as a 39 
witness; or 40 
 (b) The production by the public officer or employee of any 41 
books and papers relating to the request for an opinion. 42 
 4.  Each written request submitted by the Executive Director 43 
pursuant to subsection 3 must specify the time and place for the 44 
attendance of the public officer or employee or the production of 45 



 
 – 12 – 
 

 - *SB84* 

any books and papers, and designate with certainty the books and 1 
papers requested, if any. If the public officer or employee fails or 2 
refuses to attend at the time and place specified or produce the 3 
books and papers requested by the Executive Director within 5 4 
business days after receipt of the request, the Chair may issue the 5 
subpoena. Failure of the public officer or employee to comply with 6 
the written request of the Executive Director shall be deemed a 7 
waiver by the public officer or employee of the time set forth in 8 
[subsections 4, 5 and 6 of NRS 281A.440.] sections 4 and 5 of this 9 
act. 10 
 5.  If any witness refuses to attend, testify or produce any books 11 
and papers as required by the subpoena, the Chair of the 12 
Commission may report to the district court by petition, setting forth 13 
that: 14 
 (a) Due notice has been given of the time and place of 15 
attendance of the witness or the production of the books and papers; 16 
 (b) The witness has been subpoenaed by the Commission 17 
pursuant to this section; and 18 
 (c) The witness has failed or refused to attend or produce the 19 
books and papers required by the subpoena before the Commission, 20 
or has refused to answer questions propounded to the witness, and 21 
asking for an order of the court compelling the witness to attend and 22 
testify or produce the books and papers before the Commission. 23 
 6.  Upon such a petition, the court shall enter an order directing 24 
the witness to appear before the court at a time and place to be fixed 25 
by the court in its order, the time to be not more than 10 days after 26 
the date of the order, and then and there show cause why the witness 27 
has not attended, testified or produced the books or papers before 28 
the Commission. A certified copy of the order must be served upon 29 
the witness. 30 
 7.  If it appears to the court that the subpoena was regularly 31 
issued by the Commission, the court shall enter an order that the 32 
witness appear before the Commission, at the time and place fixed 33 
in the order, and testify or produce the required books and papers. 34 
Upon failure to obey the order, the witness must be dealt with as for 35 
contempt of court. 36 
 Sec. 20.  NRS 281A.400 is hereby amended to read as follows: 37 
 281A.400  A code of ethical standards is hereby established to 38 
govern the conduct of public officers and employees: 39 
 1.  A public officer or employee shall not seek or accept any 40 
gift, service, favor, employment, engagement, emolument or 41 
economic opportunity for the public officer or employee or any 42 
other person which would tend improperly to influence a reasonable 43 
person in the public officer’s or employee’s position to depart from 44 



 
 – 13 – 
 

 - *SB84* 

the faithful and impartial discharge of the public officer’s or 1 
employee’s public duties. 2 
 2.  A public officer or employee shall not use the public 3 
officer’s or employee’s position in government to [secure] : 4 
 (a) Coerce, harass, retaliate against or punish any other 5 
person or business entity for a purpose which is inconsistent with 6 
the proper performance of the officer’s or employee’s public 7 
duties; or 8 
 (b) Secure or grant unwarranted privileges, preferences, 9 
exemptions or advantages for the public officer or employee [, any] 10 
or any other person or business entity . [in which the public officer 11 
or employee has a significant pecuniary interest, or any person to 12 
whom the public officer or employee has a commitment in a private 13 
capacity to the interests of that person.] As used in this [subsection,] 14 
paragraph, “unwarranted” means without justification or adequate 15 
reason. 16 
 3.  A public officer or employee shall not participate as an agent 17 
of government in the negotiation or execution of a contract between 18 
the government and the public officer or employee, any business 19 
entity in which the public officer or employee has a significant 20 
pecuniary interest [.] or any person to whom the public officer or 21 
employee has a commitment in a private capacity. 22 
 4.  A public officer or employee shall not accept any salary, 23 
retainer, augmentation, expense allowance or other compensation 24 
from any private source , for the public officer or employee or any 25 
person to whom the public officer or employee has a commitment 26 
in a private capacity, for the performance of the public officer’s or 27 
employee’s duties as a public officer or employee. 28 
 5.  If a public officer or employee acquires, through the public 29 
officer’s or employee’s public duties or relationships, any 30 
information which by law or practice is not at the time available to 31 
people generally, the public officer or employee shall not use the 32 
information to further a significant pecuniary interest of the public 33 
officer or employee or any other person or business entity. 34 
 6.  A public officer or employee shall not suppress any 35 
governmental report or other official document because it might 36 
tend to affect unfavorably a significant pecuniary interest of the 37 
public officer or employee [.] or any person to whom the public 38 
officer or employee has a commitment in a private capacity. 39 
 7.  Except for State Legislators who are subject to the 40 
restrictions set forth in subsection 8, a public officer or employee 41 
shall not use governmental time, property, equipment or other 42 
facility to benefit a significant personal or pecuniary interest of the 43 
public officer or employee [.] or any person to whom the public 44 



 
 – 14 – 
 

 - *SB84* 

officer or employee has a commitment in a private capacity. This 1 
subsection does not prohibit: 2 
 (a) A limited use of governmental property, equipment or other 3 
facility for personal purposes if: 4 
  (1) The public officer or employee who is responsible for 5 
and has authority to authorize the use of such property, equipment 6 
or other facility has established a policy allowing the use or the use 7 
is necessary as a result of emergency circumstances; 8 
  (2) The use does not interfere with the performance of the 9 
public officer’s or employee’s public duties; 10 
  (3) The cost or value related to the use is nominal; and 11 
  (4) The use does not create the appearance of impropriety; 12 
 (b) The use of mailing lists, computer data or other information 13 
lawfully obtained from a governmental agency which is available to 14 
members of the general public for nongovernmental purposes; or 15 
 (c) The use of telephones or other means of communication if 16 
there is not a special charge for that use. 17 

 If a governmental agency incurs a cost as a result of a use that is 18 
authorized pursuant to this subsection or would ordinarily charge a 19 
member of the general public for the use, the public officer or 20 
employee shall promptly reimburse the cost or pay the charge to the 21 
governmental agency. 22 
 8.  A State Legislator shall not: 23 
 (a) Use governmental time, property, equipment or other facility 24 
for a nongovernmental purpose or for the private benefit of the State 25 
Legislator or any other person. This paragraph does not prohibit: 26 
  (1) A limited use of state property and resources for personal 27 
purposes if: 28 
   (I) The use does not interfere with the performance of the 29 
State Legislator’s public duties; 30 
   (II) The cost or value related to the use is nominal; and 31 
   (III) The use does not create the appearance of 32 
impropriety; 33 
  (2) The use of mailing lists, computer data or other 34 
information lawfully obtained from a governmental agency which is 35 
available to members of the general public for nongovernmental 36 
purposes; or 37 
  (3) The use of telephones or other means of communication 38 
if there is not a special charge for that use. 39 
 (b) Require or authorize a legislative employee, while on duty, 40 
to perform personal services or assist in a private activity, except: 41 
  (1) In unusual and infrequent situations where the 42 
employee’s service is reasonably necessary to permit the State 43 
Legislator or legislative employee to perform that person’s official 44 
duties; or 45 



 
 – 15 – 
 

 - *SB84* 

  (2) Where such service has otherwise been established as 1 
legislative policy. 2 
 9.  A public officer or employee shall not attempt to benefit a 3 
significant personal or pecuniary interest of the public officer or 4 
employee or any person to whom the public officer or employee 5 
has a commitment in a private capacity through the influence of a 6 
subordinate. 7 
 10.  A public officer or employee shall not seek other 8 
employment or contracts for the public officer or employee or any 9 
person to whom the public officer or employee has a commitment 10 
in a private capacity through the use of the public officer’s or 11 
employee’s official position. 12 
 11.  A public officer or employee shall not engage in any other 13 
conduct that is contrary to the public policy of this State as 14 
expressed in NRS 281A.020. 15 
 12.  The conduct described in this section does not include 16 
any conduct for which a complaint may be filed with the United 17 
States Equal Employment Opportunity Commission or the Nevada 18 
Equal Rights Commission. 19 
 Sec. 21.  NRS 281A.440 is hereby amended to read as follows: 20 
 281A.440  1.  The Commission shall render an opinion 21 
interpreting the statutory ethical standards and apply the standards to 22 
a given set of facts and circumstances within 45 days after receiving 23 
a request, on a form prescribed by the Commission, from a public 24 
officer or employee who is seeking guidance on questions which 25 
directly relate to the propriety of the requester’s own past, present or 26 
future conduct as a public officer or employee, unless the public 27 
officer or employee waives the time limit. The public officer or 28 
employee may also request the Commission to hold a public hearing 29 
regarding the requested opinion. If a requested opinion relates to the 30 
propriety of the requester’s own present or future conduct, the 31 
opinion of the Commission is: 32 
 (a) Binding upon the requester as to the requester’s future 33 
conduct; and 34 
 (b) Final and subject to judicial review pursuant to NRS 35 
233B.130, except that a proceeding regarding this review must be 36 
held in closed court without admittance of persons other than those 37 
necessary to the proceeding, unless this right to confidential 38 
proceedings is waived by the requester. 39 
 2.  The Commission may render an opinion interpreting the 40 
statutory ethical standards and apply the standards to a given set of 41 
facts and circumstances: 42 
 (a) Upon request from a specialized or local ethics committee. 43 
 (b) Except as otherwise provided in this subsection, upon 44 
request from a person, if the requester submits: 45 



 
 – 16 – 
 

 - *SB84* 

  (1) The request on a form prescribed by the Commission; 1 
and 2 
  (2) All related evidence deemed necessary by the Executive 3 
Director and the [investigatory panel] Commission to make a 4 
determination of whether there is just and sufficient cause to render 5 
an opinion in the matter. 6 
 (c) Upon the Commission’s own motion regarding the propriety 7 
of conduct by a public officer or employee. Any meeting or hearing 8 
held by the Commission relating to such a motion and the 9 
deliberations of the Commission on the motion are not subject to 10 
the provisions of chapter 241 of NRS. The Commission shall not 11 
initiate proceedings pursuant to this paragraph based solely upon an 12 
anonymous complaint. 13 

 The Commission shall not render an opinion interpreting the 14 
statutory ethical standards or apply those standards to a given set of 15 
facts and circumstances if the request is submitted by a person who 16 
is incarcerated in a correctional facility in this State. 17 
 3.  Within 45 days after receiving a request for an opinion 18 
pursuant to paragraph (a) or (b) of subsection 2, the Commission 19 
shall determine whether it has jurisdiction concerning the request, 20 
unless the public officer or employee who is the subject of the 21 
request waives this time limit. Any meeting or hearing held by the 22 
Commission to determine whether it has jurisdiction concerning 23 
the request and the deliberations of the Commission relating to 24 
that determination are not subject to the provisions of chapter 241 25 
of NRS. Upon a determination by the Commission that it has 26 
jurisdiction concerning a request for an opinion pursuant to 27 
paragraph (a) or (b) of subsection 2, or upon the motion of the 28 
Commission initiating a request for an opinion pursuant to 29 
paragraph (c) of subsection 2, as applicable, the Executive Director 30 
shall investigate the facts and circumstances relating to the request 31 
to determine whether there is just and sufficient cause for the 32 
Commission to render an opinion in the matter. The Executive 33 
Director shall notify the public officer or employee who is the 34 
subject of the request and provide the public officer or employee an 35 
opportunity to submit to the Executive Director a response to the 36 
allegations against the public officer or employee within 30 days 37 
after the date on which the public officer or employee received the 38 
notice of the request. The purpose of the response is to provide the 39 
Executive Director with any information relevant to the request 40 
which the public officer or employee believes may assist the 41 
Executive Director [and the investigatory panel] in conducting  42 
the investigation. The public officer or employee is not required in 43 
the response or in any proceeding before the [investigatory panel] 44 
Commission conducted pursuant to subsection 1 of section 5 of 45 



 
 – 17 – 
 

 - *SB84* 

this act to assert, claim or raise any objection or defense, in law or 1 
fact, to the allegations against the public officer or employee and no 2 
objection or defense, in law or fact, is waived, abandoned or barred 3 
by the failure to assert, claim or raise it in the response or in any 4 
proceeding conducted before the [investigatory panel. 5 
 4.  The Executive Director shall complete the investigation and 6 
present a written recommendation relating to just and sufficient 7 
cause, including, without limitation, the specific evidence or reasons 8 
that support the recommendation, to the investigatory panel within 9 
70 days after the determination by the Commission that it has 10 
jurisdiction concerning the request or after the motion of the 11 
Commission initiating the request, as applicable, unless the public 12 
officer or employee waives this time limit. 13 
 5.  Within 15 days after the Executive Director has provided the 14 
written recommendation in the matter to the investigatory panel 15 
pursuant to subsection 4, the investigatory panel shall conclude the 16 
investigation and make a final determination regarding whether 17 
there is just and sufficient cause for the Commission to render an 18 
opinion in the matter, unless the public officer or employee waives 19 
this time limit. The investigatory panel shall not determine that there 20 
is just and sufficient cause for the Commission to render an opinion 21 
in the matter unless the Executive Director has provided the public 22 
officer or employee an opportunity to respond to the allegations 23 
against the public officer or employee as required by subsection 3. 24 
The investigatory panel shall cause a record of its proceedings in 25 
each matter to be kept.  26 
 6.  If the investigatory panel determines that there is just and 27 
sufficient cause for the Commission to render an opinion in the 28 
matter, the Commission shall hold a hearing and render an opinion 29 
in the matter within 60 days after the determination of just and 30 
sufficient cause by the investigatory panel, unless the public officer 31 
or employee waives this time limit. 32 
 7.  Each request for an opinion that a public officer or employee 33 
submits to the Commission pursuant to subsection 1, each opinion 34 
rendered by the Commission in response to such a request and any 35 
motion, determination, evidence or record of a hearing relating to 36 
such a request are confidential unless the public officer or employee 37 
who requested the opinion: 38 
 (a) Acts in contravention of the opinion, in which case the 39 
Commission may disclose the request for the opinion, the contents 40 
of the opinion and any motion, evidence or record of a hearing 41 
related thereto; 42 
 (b) Discloses the request for the opinion, the contents of the 43 
opinion, or any motion, evidence or record of a hearing related 44 
thereto in any manner except to: 45 



 
 – 18 – 
 

 - *SB84* 

  (1) The public body, agency or employer of the public officer 1 
or employee; or 2 
  (2) A person to whom the Commission authorizes the current 3 
or former public officer or employee to make such a disclosure; or 4 
 (c) Requests the Commission to disclose the request for the 5 
opinion, the contents of the opinion, or any motion, evidence or 6 
record of a hearing related thereto. 7 
 8.  Except as otherwise provided in subsections 9 and 10, all 8 
information, communications, records, documents or other material 9 
in the possession of the Commission or its staff that is related to a 10 
request for an opinion regarding a public officer or employee 11 
submitted to or initiated by the Commission pursuant to subsection 12 
2, including, without limitation, the record of the proceedings of the 13 
investigatory panel made pursuant to subsection 5, are confidential 14 
and not public records pursuant to chapter 239 of NRS until: 15 
 (a) The investigatory panel determines whether there is just and 16 
sufficient cause to render an opinion in the matter and serves written 17 
notice of such a determination on the public officer or employee 18 
who is the subject of the request for an opinion submitted or 19 
initiated pursuant to subsection 2; or 20 
 (b) The public officer or employee who is the subject of a 21 
request for an opinion submitted or initiated pursuant to subsection 22 
2 authorizes the Commission in writing to make its information, 23 
communications, records, documents or other material which are 24 
related to the request publicly available, 25 

 whichever occurs first. 26 
 9.  Except as otherwise provided in this subsection, if a person 27 
who submits a request for an opinion pursuant to paragraph (b) of 28 
subsection 2 asks for the person’s name to be kept confidential, the 29 
Commission: 30 
 (a) Shall keep the person’s name confidential if the person is a 31 
public officer or employee who works for the same public body, 32 
agency or employer as the public officer or employee who is the 33 
subject of the request. 34 
 (b) May keep the person’s name confidential if the person offers 35 
sufficient facts and circumstances showing a reasonable likelihood 36 
that disclosure of the person’s name will subject the person or a 37 
member of the person’s household to a bona fide threat of physical 38 
force or violence. 39 

 If the Commission keeps the person’s name confidential, the 40 
Commission shall not render an opinion in the matter unless there is 41 
sufficient evidence without the person’s testimony to consider the 42 
propriety of the conduct of the public officer or employee who is  43 
the subject of the request. If the Commission intends to present the 44 
person’s testimony for consideration as evidence in rendering an 45 



 
 – 19 – 
 

 - *SB84* 

opinion in the matter, the Commission shall disclose the person’s 1 
name within a reasonable time before the Commission’s hearing on 2 
the matter. 3 
 10.  Except as otherwise provided in this subsection, the 4 
investigative file related to a request for an opinion regarding a 5 
public officer or employee, as described in subsection 17, is 6 
confidential. At any time after being served with written notice of 7 
the determination of the investigatory panel regarding the existence 8 
of just and sufficient cause for the Commission to render an opinion 9 
in the matter, the public officer or employee who is the subject of 10 
the request for an opinion may submit a written discovery request to 11 
the Commission for a copy of any portion of the investigative file 12 
that the Commission intends to present for consideration as evidence 13 
in rendering an opinion in the matter and a list of proposed 14 
witnesses. Any portion of the investigative file which the 15 
Commission presents as evidence in rendering an opinion in the 16 
matter becomes a public record as provided in chapter 239 of NRS. 17 
 11.  Whenever the Commission holds a hearing pursuant to this 18 
section, the Commission shall: 19 
 (a) Notify the person about whom the opinion was requested of 20 
the place and time of the Commission’s hearing on the matter; 21 
 (b) Allow the person to be represented by counsel; and 22 
 (c) Allow the person to hear the evidence presented to the 23 
Commission and to respond and present evidence on the person’s 24 
own behalf. 25 

 The Commission’s hearing may be held no sooner than 10 days 26 
after the notice is given unless the person agrees to a shorter time. 27 
 12.  If a person who is not a party to a hearing before the 28 
Commission, including, without limitation, a person who has 29 
requested an opinion pursuant to paragraph (a) or (b) of subsection 30 
2, wishes to ask a question of a witness at the hearing, the person 31 
must submit the question to the Executive Director in writing. The 32 
Executive Director may submit the question to the Commission if 33 
the Executive Director deems the question relevant and appropriate. 34 
This subsection does not require the Commission to ask any 35 
question submitted by a person who is not a party to the proceeding. 36 
 13.  If a person who requests an opinion pursuant to subsection 37 
1 or 2 does not: 38 
 (a) Submit all necessary information to the Commission; and 39 
 (b) Declare by oath or affirmation that the person will testify 40 
truthfully, 41 

 the Commission may decline to render an opinion. 42 
 14.  For good cause shown, the Commission may take 43 
testimony from a person by telephone or video conference. 44 



 
 – 20 – 
 

 - *SB84* 

 15.  For the purposes of NRS 41.032, the members of the 1 
Commission and its employees shall be deemed to be exercising or 2 
performing a discretionary function or duty when taking an action 3 
related to the rendering of an opinion pursuant to this section. 4 
 16.  A meeting or hearing that the Commission or the 5 
investigatory panel holds to receive information or evidence 6 
concerning the propriety of the conduct of a public officer or 7 
employee pursuant to this section and the deliberations of the 8 
Commission and the investigatory panel on such information or 9 
evidence are not subject to the provisions of chapter 241 of NRS. 10 
 17.  For the purposes of this section, the investigative file which 11 
relates to a request for an opinion regarding a public officer or 12 
employee includes, without limitation, any information provided to 13 
or obtained by the Commission, its staff or an investigatory panel 14 
through any form of communication during the course of an 15 
investigation and any records, documents or other material created 16 
or maintained during the course of an investigation which relate to 17 
the public officer or employee who is the subject of the request for 18 
an opinion, including, without limitation, a transcript, regardless of 19 
whether such information, records, documents or other material are 20 
obtained by a subpoena.] Commission pursuant to subsection 1 of 21 
section 5 of this act. 22 
 Sec. 22.  NRS 281A.465 is hereby amended to read as follows: 23 
 281A.465  In any matter in which the Commission disposes of 24 
a request for an opinion by stipulation, agreed settlement , [or] 25 
consent order [,] or deferral order, the Commission shall treat 26 
comparable situations in a comparable manner and shall ensure that 27 
the disposition of the matter bears a reasonable relationship to the 28 
severity of the violation or alleged violation. 29 
 Sec. 23.  NRS 281A.475 is hereby amended to read as follows: 30 
 281A.475  1.  In determining whether a violation of this 31 
chapter is a willful violation and, if so, the [amount of any civil] 32 
penalty to be imposed on a public officer or employee or former 33 
public officer or employee pursuant to NRS 281A.480 [,] or section 34 
13 of this act, the Commission shall consider, without limitation: 35 
 (a) The seriousness of the violation, including, without 36 
limitation, the nature, circumstances, extent and gravity of the 37 
violation; 38 
 (b) The number and history of previous warnings issued to or 39 
violations of the provisions of this chapter by the public officer or 40 
employee; 41 
 (c) The cost to the Commission to conduct the investigation and 42 
any hearing relating to the violation; 43 
 (d) Any mitigating factors, including, without limitation, any 44 
self-reporting, prompt correction of the violation, any attempts to 45 



 
 – 21 – 
 

 - *SB84* 

rectify the violation before any complaint is filed and any 1 
cooperation by the public officer or employee in resolving the 2 
complaint; 3 
 (e) Any restitution or reimbursement paid to parties affected by 4 
the violation; 5 
 (f) The extent of any financial gain resulting from the violation; 6 
and 7 
 (g) Any other matter justice may require. 8 
 2.  The factors set forth in this section are not exclusive or 9 
exhaustive, and the Commission may consider other factors in the 10 
disposition of the matter if they bear a reasonable relationship to the 11 
Commission’s determination of the severity of the violation. 12 
 3.  In applying the factors set forth in this section, the 13 
Commission shall treat comparable situations in a comparable 14 
manner and shall ensure that the disposition of the matter bears a 15 
reasonable relationship to the severity of the violation. 16 
 Sec. 24.  NRS 281A.480 is hereby amended to read as follows: 17 
 281A.480  1.  In addition to any other penalties provided by 18 
law and in accordance with the provisions of NRS 281A.475, the 19 
Commission may impose on a public officer or employee or former 20 
public officer or employee civil penalties: 21 
 (a) Not to exceed $5,000 for a first willful violation of this 22 
chapter; 23 
 (b) Not to exceed $10,000 for a separate act or event that 24 
constitutes a second willful violation of this chapter; and 25 
 (c) Not to exceed $25,000 for a separate act or event that 26 
constitutes a third willful violation of this chapter. 27 
 2.  In addition to any other penalties provided by law, the 28 
Commission may, upon its own motion or upon the motion of the 29 
person about whom an opinion was requested pursuant to NRS 30 
281A.440, impose a civil penalty not to exceed $5,000 and assess an 31 
amount equal to the amount of attorney’s fees and costs actually and 32 
reasonably incurred by the person about whom an opinion was 33 
requested pursuant to NRS 281A.440 against a person who 34 
prevents, interferes with or attempts to prevent or interfere with the 35 
discovery or investigation of a violation of this chapter. 36 
 3.  If the Commission finds that a violation of a provision of 37 
this chapter by a public officer or employee or former public officer 38 
or employee has resulted in the realization of a financial benefit by 39 
the current or former public officer or employee or another person, 40 
the Commission may, in addition to any other penalties provided by 41 
law, require the current or former public officer or employee to pay 42 
a civil penalty of not more than twice the amount so realized. 43 
 4.  In addition to any other penalties provided by law, if a 44 
proceeding results in an opinion that: 45 



 
 – 22 – 
 

 - *SB84* 

 (a) One or more willful violations of this chapter have been 1 
committed by a State Legislator removable from office only through 2 
expulsion by the State Legislator’s own House pursuant to Section 6 3 
of Article 4 of the Nevada Constitution, the Commission shall: 4 
  (1) If the State Legislator is a member of the Senate, submit 5 
the opinion to the Majority Leader of the Senate or, if the Majority 6 
Leader of the Senate is the subject of the opinion or the person who 7 
requested the opinion, to the President Pro Tempore of the Senate; 8 
or 9 
  (2) If the State Legislator is a member of the Assembly, 10 
submit the opinion to the Speaker of the Assembly or, if the Speaker 11 
of the Assembly is the subject of the opinion or the person who 12 
requested the opinion, to the Speaker Pro Tempore of the Assembly. 13 
 (b) One or more willful violations of this chapter have been 14 
committed by a state officer removable from office only through 15 
impeachment pursuant to Article 7 of the Nevada Constitution, the 16 
Commission shall submit the opinion to the Speaker of the 17 
Assembly and the Majority Leader of the Senate or, if the Speaker 18 
of the Assembly or the Majority Leader of the Senate is the person 19 
who requested the opinion, to the Speaker Pro Tempore of the 20 
Assembly or the President Pro Tempore of the Senate, as 21 
appropriate. 22 
 (c) One or more willful violations of this chapter have been 23 
committed by a public officer other than a public officer described 24 
in paragraphs (a) and (b), the willful violations shall be deemed to 25 
be malfeasance in office for the purposes of NRS 283.440 and the 26 
Commission: 27 
  (1) May file a complaint in the appropriate court for removal 28 
of the public officer pursuant to NRS 283.440 when the public 29 
officer is found in the opinion to have committed fewer than three 30 
willful violations of this chapter. 31 
  (2) Shall file a complaint in the appropriate court for removal 32 
of the public officer pursuant to NRS 283.440 when the public 33 
officer is found in the opinion to have committed three or more 34 
willful violations of this chapter. 35 

 This paragraph grants an exclusive right to the Commission, and 36 
no other person may file a complaint against the public officer 37 
pursuant to NRS 283.440 based on any violation found in the 38 
opinion. 39 
 5.  Notwithstanding any other provision of this chapter, any act 40 
or failure to act by a public officer or employee or former public 41 
officer or employee relating to this chapter is not a willful violation 42 
of this chapter if the public officer or employee establishes by 43 
sufficient evidence that: 44 



 
 – 23 – 
 

 - *SB84* 

 (a) The public officer or employee relied in good faith upon the 1 
advice of the legal counsel retained by his or her public body, 2 
agency or employer; and 3 
 (b) The advice of the legal counsel was: 4 
  (1) Provided to the public officer or employee before the 5 
public officer or employee acted or failed to act; and 6 
  (2) Based on a reasonable legal determination by the legal 7 
counsel under the circumstances when the advice was given that the 8 
act or failure to act by the public officer or employee would not be 9 
contrary to any prior published opinion issued by the Commission 10 
which was publicly available on the Internet website of the 11 
Commission. 12 
 6.  In addition to any other penalties provided by law, a public 13 
employee who commits a willful violation of this chapter or fails to 14 
complete a period of compliance imposed by the Commission 15 
pursuant to subparagraph (1) of paragraph (a) of subsection 1 of 16 
section 13 of this act is subject to disciplinary proceedings by the 17 
employer of the public employee and must be referred for action in 18 
accordance to the applicable provisions governing the employment 19 
of the public employee. 20 
 7.  The provisions of this chapter do not abrogate or decrease 21 
the effect of the provisions of the Nevada Revised Statutes which 22 
define crimes or prescribe punishments with respect to the conduct 23 
of public officers or employees. If the Commission finds that a 24 
public officer or employee has committed a willful violation of this 25 
chapter which it believes may also constitute a criminal offense, the 26 
Commission shall refer the matter to the Attorney General or the 27 
district attorney, as appropriate, for a determination of whether a 28 
crime has been committed that warrants prosecution. 29 
 8.  The imposition of a civil penalty pursuant to subsection 1, 2 30 
or 3 is a final decision for the purposes of judicial review pursuant 31 
to NRS 233B.130. 32 
 9.  A finding by the Commission that a public officer or 33 
employee has violated any provision of this chapter must be 34 
supported by a preponderance of the evidence unless a greater 35 
burden is otherwise prescribed by law. 36 
 Sec. 25.  NRS 281A.500 is hereby amended to read as follows: 37 
 281A.500  1.  On or before the date on which a public officer 38 
swears or affirms the oath of office, the public officer must be 39 
informed of the statutory ethical standards and the duty to file an 40 
acknowledgment of the statutory ethical standards in accordance 41 
with this section by: 42 
 (a) For an appointed public officer, the appointing authority of 43 
the public officer; and 44 
 (b) For an elected public officer of: 45 



 
 – 24 – 
 

 - *SB84* 

  (1) The county and other political subdivisions within the 1 
county except cities, the county clerk; 2 
  (2) The city, the city clerk; 3 
  (3) The Legislative Department of the State Government, the 4 
Director of the Legislative Counsel Bureau; and 5 
  (4) The Executive Department of the State Government, the 6 
Director of the Department of Administration, or his or her 7 
designee. 8 
 2.  Within 30 days after a public employee begins employment: 9 
 (a) The Director of the Department of Administration, or his or 10 
her designee, shall provide each new public employee of a state 11 
agency with the information prepared by the Commission 12 
concerning the statutory ethical standards; and 13 
 (b) The manager of each local agency, or his or her designee, 14 
shall provide each new public employee of the local agency with the 15 
information prepared by the Commission concerning the statutory 16 
ethical standards. 17 
 3.  Each public officer shall acknowledge that the public 18 
officer: 19 
 (a) Has received, read and understands the statutory ethical 20 
standards; and 21 
 (b) Has a responsibility to inform himself or herself of any 22 
amendments to the statutory ethical standards as soon as reasonably 23 
practicable after each session of the Legislature. 24 
 4.  The acknowledgment must be executed on a form prescribed 25 
by the Commission and must be filed with the Commission: 26 
 (a) If the public officer is elected to office at the general 27 
election, on or before January 15 of the year following the public 28 
officer’s election. 29 
 (b) If the public officer is elected to office at an election other 30 
than the general election or is appointed to office, on or before the 31 
30th day following the date on which the public officer swears or 32 
affirms the oath of office. 33 
 5.  Except as otherwise provided in this subsection, a public 34 
officer shall execute and file the acknowledgment once for each 35 
term of office. If the public officer serves at the pleasure of  36 
the appointing authority and does not have a definite term of office, 37 
the public officer, in addition to executing and filing the 38 
acknowledgment after the public officer swears or affirms the oath 39 
of office in accordance with subsection 4, shall execute and file the 40 
acknowledgment on or before January 15 of each even-numbered 41 
year while the public officer holds that office. 42 
 6.  For the purposes of this section, the acknowledgment is 43 
timely filed if, on or before the last day for filing, the 44 
acknowledgment is filed in one of the following ways: 45 



 
 – 25 – 
 

 - *SB84* 

 (a) Delivered in person to the principal office of the 1 
Commission in Carson City. 2 
 (b) Mailed to the Commission by first-class mail, or other class 3 
of mail that is at least as expeditious, postage prepaid. Filing by mail 4 
is complete upon timely depositing the acknowledgment with the 5 
United States Postal Service. 6 
 (c) Dispatched to a third-party commercial carrier for delivery to 7 
the Commission within 3 calendar days. Filing by third-party 8 
commercial carrier is complete upon timely depositing the 9 
acknowledgment with the third-party commercial carrier. 10 
 (d) Transmitted to the Commission by facsimile machine or 11 
other electronic means authorized by the Commission. Filing by 12 
facsimile machine or other electronic means is complete upon 13 
receipt of the transmission by the Commission. 14 
 7.  If a public officer is serving in a public office and executes 15 
and files the acknowledgment for that office as required by the 16 
applicable provisions of this section, the public officer shall be 17 
deemed to have satisfied the requirements of this section for any 18 
other office held concurrently by him or her. 19 
 8.  The form for making the acknowledgment must contain: 20 
 (a) The address of the Internet website of the Commission where 21 
a public officer may view the statutory ethical standards and print a 22 
copy of the standards; and 23 
 (b) The telephone number and mailing address of the 24 
Commission where a public officer may make a request to obtain a 25 
printed copy of the statutory ethical standards from the Commission. 26 
 [8.] 9.  Whenever the Commission, or any public officer or 27 
employee as part of the public officer’s or employee’s official 28 
duties, provides a public officer with a printed copy of the form for 29 
making the acknowledgment, a printed copy of the statutory ethical 30 
standards must be included with the form. 31 
 [9.] 10.  The Commission shall retain each acknowledgment 32 
filed pursuant to this section for 6 years after the date on which the 33 
acknowledgment was filed. 34 
 [10.] 11.  Willful refusal to execute and file the 35 
acknowledgment required by this section shall be deemed to be: 36 
 (a) A willful violation of this chapter for the purposes of NRS 37 
281A.480; and 38 
 (b) Nonfeasance in office for the purposes of NRS 283.440 and, 39 
if the public officer is removable from office pursuant to NRS 40 
283.440, the Commission may file a complaint in the appropriate 41 
court for removal of the public officer pursuant to that section. This 42 
paragraph grants an exclusive right to the Commission, and no other 43 
person may file a complaint against the public officer pursuant to 44 
NRS 283.440 based on any violation of this section. 45 



 
 – 26 – 
 

 - *SB84* 

 [11.] 12.  As used in this section, “general election” has the 1 
meaning ascribed to it in NRS 293.060. 2 
 Sec. 26.  NRS 281A.510 is hereby amended to read as follows: 3 
 281A.510  1.  A public officer or public employee shall not 4 
accept or receive an honorarium. 5 
 2.  An honorarium paid on behalf of a public officer or public 6 
employee to a charitable organization from which the officer or 7 
employee does not derive any financial benefit is deemed not to be 8 
accepted or received by the officer or employee for the purposes of 9 
this section. 10 
 3.  This section does not prohibit: 11 
 (a) The receipt of payment for work performed outside the 12 
normal course of a person’s public office or employment if the 13 
performance of that work is consistent with the applicable policies 14 
of the person’s public employer regarding supplemental 15 
employment. 16 
 (b) The receipt of an honorarium by the spouse of a public 17 
officer or public employee if it is related to the spouse’s profession 18 
or occupation. 19 
 4.  As used in this section, “honorarium” means the payment of 20 
money or anything of value for an appearance or speech by the 21 
public officer or public employee in the officer’s or employee’s 22 
capacity as a public officer or public employee. The term does not 23 
include the payment of: 24 
 (a) The actual and necessary costs incurred by the public officer 25 
or public employee, the officer’s or employee’s spouse or the 26 
officer’s or employee’s aid for transportation and for lodging and 27 
meals while the public officer or public employee is away from the 28 
officer’s or employee’s residence. 29 
 (b) Compensation which would otherwise have been earned by 30 
the public officer or public employee in the normal course of the 31 
officer’s or employee’s public office or employment. 32 
 (c) A fee for a speech related to the officer’s or employee’s 33 
profession or occupation outside of the officer’s or employee’s 34 
public office or employment if: 35 
  (1) Other members of the profession or occupation are 36 
ordinarily compensated for such a speech; and 37 
  (2) The fee paid to the public officer or public employee is 38 
approximately the same as the fee that would be paid to a member 39 
of the private sector whose qualifications are similar to those of the 40 
officer or employee for a comparable speech. 41 
 (d) A fee for a speech delivered to an organization of 42 
legislatures, legislators or other elected officers. 43 
 5.  In addition to any other penalty imposed pursuant to NRS 44 
281A.480 [,] or section 13 of this act, a public officer or public 45 



 
 – 27 – 
 

 - *SB84* 

employee who violates the provisions of this section shall forfeit the 1 
amount of the honorarium. 2 
 Sec. 27.  NRS 281A.550 is hereby amended to read as follows: 3 
 281A.550  1.  A former member of the Public Utilities 4 
Commission of Nevada shall not: 5 
 (a) Be employed by a public utility or parent organization or 6 
subsidiary of a public utility; or  7 
 (b) Appear before the Public Utilities Commission of Nevada to 8 
testify on behalf of a public utility or parent organization or 9 
subsidiary of a public utility, 10 

 for 1 year after the termination of the member’s service on the 11 
Public Utilities Commission of Nevada. 12 
 2.  A former member of the Nevada Gaming Control Board or 13 
the Nevada Gaming Commission shall not: 14 
 (a) Appear before the Nevada Gaming Control Board or the 15 
Nevada Gaming Commission on behalf of a person who holds a 16 
license issued pursuant to chapter 463 or 464 of NRS or who is 17 
required to register with the Nevada Gaming Commission pursuant 18 
to chapter 463 of NRS; or 19 
 (b) Be employed by such a person,  20 

 for 1 year after the termination of the member’s service on the 21 
Nevada Gaming Control Board or the Nevada Gaming Commission. 22 
 3.  In addition to the prohibitions set forth in subsections 1 and 23 
2, and except as otherwise provided in subsections 4 and 6, a former 24 
public officer or employee of a board, commission, department, 25 
division or other agency of the Executive Department of State 26 
Government, except a clerical employee, shall not solicit or accept 27 
employment from a business or industry whose activities are 28 
governed by regulations adopted by the board, commission, 29 
department, division or other agency for 1 year after the termination 30 
of the former public officer’s or employee’s service or period of 31 
employment if: 32 
 (a) The former public officer’s or employee’s principal duties 33 
included the formulation of policy contained in the regulations 34 
governing the business or industry; 35 
 (b) During the immediately preceding year, the former public 36 
officer or employee directly performed activities, or controlled or 37 
influenced an audit, decision, investigation or other action, which 38 
significantly affected the business or industry which might, but for 39 
this section, employ the former public officer or employee; or 40 
 (c) As a result of the former public officer’s or employee’s 41 
governmental service or employment, the former public officer or 42 
employee possesses knowledge of the trade secrets of a direct 43 
business competitor. 44 



 
 – 28 – 
 

 - *SB84* 

 4.  The provisions of subsection 3 do not apply to a former 1 
public officer who was a member of a board, commission or similar 2 
body of the State if: 3 
 (a) The former public officer is engaged in the profession, 4 
occupation or business regulated by the board, commission or 5 
similar body; 6 
 (b) The former public officer holds a license issued by the 7 
board, commission or similar body; and 8 
 (c) Holding a license issued by the board, commission or similar 9 
body is a requirement for membership on the board, commission or 10 
similar body. 11 
 5.  Except as otherwise provided in subsection 6, a former 12 
public officer or employee of the State or a political subdivision, 13 
except a clerical employee, shall not solicit or accept employment 14 
from a person to whom a contract for supplies, materials, equipment 15 
or services was awarded by the State or political subdivision, as 16 
applicable, for 1 year after the termination of the officer’s or 17 
employee’s service or period of employment, if: 18 
 (a) The amount of the contract exceeded $25,000; 19 
 (b) The contract was awarded within the 12-month period 20 
immediately preceding the termination of the officer’s or 21 
employee’s service or period of employment; and 22 
 (c) The position held by the former public officer or employee at 23 
the time the contract was awarded allowed the former public officer 24 
or employee to affect or influence the awarding of the contract. 25 
 6.  A current or former public officer or employee may request 26 
that the Commission apply the relevant facts in that person’s case to 27 
the provisions of subsection 3 or 5, as applicable, and determine 28 
whether relief from the strict application of those provisions is 29 
proper. If the Commission determines that relief from the strict 30 
application of the provisions of subsection 3 or 5, as applicable, is 31 
not contrary to: 32 
 (a) The best interests of the public; 33 
 (b) The continued ethical integrity of the State Government or 34 
political subdivision, as applicable; and 35 
 (c) The provisions of this chapter, 36 

 it may issue an opinion to that effect and grant such relief. The 37 
opinion of the Commission in such a case is final and subject to 38 
judicial review pursuant to NRS 233B.130, except that a proceeding 39 
regarding this review must be held in closed court without 40 
admittance of persons other than those necessary to the proceeding, 41 
unless this right to confidential proceedings is waived by the current 42 
or former public officer or employee. The opinion of the 43 
Commission does not relieve the current or former public officer 44 



 
 – 29 – 
 

 - *SB84* 

or employee from the strict application of any provision of  1 
NRS 281A.410. 2 
 7.  Each request for an opinion that a current or former public 3 
officer or employee submits to the Commission pursuant to 4 
subsection 6, each opinion rendered by the Commission in response 5 
to such a request and any motion, determination, evidence or record 6 
of a hearing relating to such a request are confidential unless the 7 
current or former public officer or employee who requested the 8 
opinion: 9 
 (a) Acts in contravention of the opinion, in which case the 10 
Commission may disclose the request for the opinion, the contents 11 
of the opinion and any motion, determination, evidence or record of 12 
a hearing related thereto; 13 
 (b) Discloses the request for the opinion, the contents of the 14 
opinion or any motion, determination, evidence or record of a 15 
hearing related thereto in any manner except to: 16 
  (1) The public body, agency or employer of the public officer 17 
or employee or a prospective employer of the public officer or 18 
employee; or 19 
  (2) Any person to whom the Commission authorizes the 20 
current or former public officer or employee to make such a 21 
disclosure; or 22 
 (c) Requests the Commission to disclose the request for the 23 
opinion, the contents of the opinion, or any motion, determination, 24 
evidence or record of a hearing related thereto. 25 
 8.  A meeting or hearing that the Commission [or an 26 
investigatory panel] holds to receive information or evidence 27 
concerning the propriety of the conduct of a current or former public 28 
officer or employee pursuant to this section and the deliberations of 29 
the Commission [and the investigatory panel] on such information 30 
or evidence are not subject to the provisions of chapter 241 of NRS. 31 
 9.  For the purposes of this section: 32 
 (a) A former member of the Public Utilities Commission of 33 
Nevada, the Nevada Gaming Control Board or the Nevada 34 
Gaming Commission; or 35 
 (b) Any other former public officer or employee governed by 36 
this section, 37 

 is employed by or is soliciting or accepting employment from a 38 
business, industry or other person described in this section if any 39 
agreement exists or is contemplated pursuant to which the 40 
personal services of the public officer or employee are provided or 41 
will be provided to the business, industry or other person. 42 
 10.  As used in this section, “regulation” has the meaning 43 
ascribed to it in NRS 233B.038 and also includes regulations 44 
adopted by a board, commission, department, division or other 45 



 
 – 30 – 
 

 - *SB84* 

agency of the Executive Department of State Government that is 1 
exempted from the requirements of chapter 233B of NRS. 2 
 Sec. 28.  NRS 239.010 is hereby amended to read as follows: 3 
 239.010  1.  Except as otherwise provided in this section and 4 
NRS 1.4683, 1.4687, 1A.110, 41.071, 49.095, 62D.420, 62D.440, 5 
62E.516, 62E.620, 62H.025, 62H.030, 62H.170, 62H.220, 62H.320, 6 
75A.100, 75A.150, 76.160, 78.152, 80.113, 81.850, 82.183, 86.246, 7 
86.54615, 87.515, 87.5413, 87A.200, 87A.580, 87A.640, 88.3355, 8 
88.5927, 88.6067, 88A.345, 88A.7345, 89.045, 89.251, 90.730, 9 
91.160, 116.757, 116A.270, 116B.880, 118B.026, 119.260, 10 
119.265, 119.267, 119.280, 119A.280, 119A.653, 119B.370, 11 
119B.382, 120A.690, 125.130, 125B.140, 126.141, 126.161, 12 
126.163, 126.730, 127.007, 127.057, 127.130, 127.140, 127.2817, 13 
130.312, 130.712, 136.050, 159.044, 172.075, 172.245, 176.015, 14 
176.0625, 176.09129, 176.156, 176A.630, 178.39801, 178.4715, 15 
178.5691, 179.495, 179A.070, 179A.165, 179A.450, 179D.160, 16 
200.3771, 200.3772, 200.5095, 200.604, 202.3662, 205.4651, 17 
209.392, 209.3925, 209.419, 209.521, 211A.140, 213.010, 213.040, 18 
213.095, 213.131, 217.105, 217.110, 217.464, 217.475, 218A.350, 19 
218E.625, 218F.150, 218G.130, 218G.240, 218G.350, 228.270, 20 
228.450, 228.495, 228.570, 231.069, 231.1473, 233.190, 237.300, 21 
239.0105, 239.0113, 239B.030, 239B.040, 239B.050, 239C.140, 22 
239C.210, 239C.230, 239C.250, 239C.270, 240.007, 241.020, 23 
241.030, 241.039, 242.105, 244.264, 244.335, 250.087, 250.130, 24 
250.140, 250.150, 268.095, 268.490, 268.910, 271A.105, 281.195, 25 
281A.350, [281A.440,] 281A.550, 284.4068, 286.110, 287.0438, 26 
289.025, 289.080, 289.387, 289.830, 293.5002, 293.503, 293.558, 27 
293B.135, 293D.510, 331.110, 332.061, 332.351, 333.333, 333.335, 28 
338.070, 338.1379, 338.16925, 338.1725, 338.1727, 348.420, 29 
349.597, 349.775, 353.205, 353A.049, 353A.085, 353A.100, 30 
353C.240, 360.240, 360.247, 360.255, 360.755, 361.044, 361.610, 31 
365.138, 366.160, 368A.180, 372A.080, 378.290, 378.300, 379.008, 32 
385A.830, 385B.100, 387.626, 387.631, 388.1455, 388.259, 33 
388.501, 388.503, 388.513, 388.750, 391.035, 392.029, 392.147, 34 
392.264, 392.271, 392.850, 394.167, 394.1698, 394.447, 394.460, 35 
394.465, 396.3295, 396.405, 396.525, 396.535, 398.403, 408.3885, 36 
408.3886, 408.3888, 408.5484, 412.153, 416.070, 422.2749, 37 
422.305, 422A.342, 422A.350, 425.400, 427A.1236, 427A.872, 38 
432.205, 432B.175, 432B.280, 432B.290, 432B.407, 432B.430, 39 
432B.560, 433.534, 433A.360, 439.840, 439B.420, 440.170, 40 
441A.195, 441A.220, 441A.230, 442.330, 442.395, 445A.665, 41 
445B.570, 449.209, 449.245, 449.720, 450.140, 453.164, 453.720, 42 
453A.610, 453A.700, 458.055, 458.280, 459.050, 459.3866, 43 
459.555, 459.7056, 459.846, 463.120, 463.15993, 463.240, 44 
463.3403, 463.3407, 463.790, 467.1005, 480.365, 481.063, 482.170, 45 



 
 – 31 – 
 

 - *SB84* 

482.5536, 483.340, 483.363, 483.575, 483.659, 483.800, 484E.070, 1 
485.316, 503.452, 522.040, 534A.031, 561.285, 571.160, 584.655, 2 
587.877, 598.0964, 598.098, 598A.110, 599B.090, 603.070, 3 
603A.210, 604A.710, 612.265, 616B.012, 616B.015, 616B.315, 4 
616B.350, 618.341, 618.425, 622.310, 623.131, 623A.137, 624.110, 5 
624.265, 624.327, 625.425, 625A.185, 628.418, 628B.230, 6 
628B.760, 629.047, 629.069, 630.133, 630.30665, 630.336, 7 
630A.555, 631.368, 632.121, 632.125, 632.405, 633.283, 633.301, 8 
633.524, 634.055, 634.214, 634A.185, 635.158, 636.107, 637.085, 9 
637B.288, 638.087, 638.089, 639.2485, 639.570, 640.075, 10 
640A.220, 640B.730, 640C.400, 640C.745, 640C.760, 640D.190, 11 
640E.340, 641.090, 641A.191, 641B.170, 641C.760, 642.524, 12 
643.189, 644.446, 645.180, 645.625, 645A.050, 645A.082, 13 
645B.060, 645B.092, 645C.220, 645C.225, 645D.130, 645D.135, 14 
645E.300, 645E.375, 645G.510, 645H.320, 645H.330, 647.0945, 15 
647.0947, 648.033, 648.197, 649.065, 649.067, 652.228, 654.110, 16 
656.105, 661.115, 665.130, 665.133, 669.275, 669.285, 669A.310, 17 
671.170, 673.430, 675.380, 676A.340, 676A.370, 677.243, 18 
679B.122, 679B.152, 679B.159, 679B.190, 679B.285, 679B.690, 19 
680A.270, 681A.440, 681B.260, 681B.410, 681B.540, 683A.0873, 20 
685A.077, 686A.289, 686B.170, 686C.306, 687A.110, 687A.115, 21 
687C.010, 688C.230, 688C.480, 688C.490, 692A.117, 692C.190, 22 
692C.3536, 692C.3538, 692C.354, 692C.420, 693A.480, 693A.615, 23 
696B.550, 703.196, 704B.320, 704B.325, 706.1725, 706A.230, 24 
710.159, 711.600, and sections 5 to 9, inclusive, of this act, 25 
sections 35, 38 and 41 of chapter 478, Statutes of Nevada 2011 and 26 
section 2 of chapter 391, Statutes of Nevada 2013 and unless 27 
otherwise declared by law to be confidential, all public books and 28 
public records of a governmental entity must be open at all times 29 
during office hours to inspection by any person, and may be fully 30 
copied or an abstract or memorandum may be prepared from those 31 
public books and public records. Any such copies, abstracts or 32 
memoranda may be used to supply the general public with copies, 33 
abstracts or memoranda of the records or may be used in any other 34 
way to the advantage of the governmental entity or of the general 35 
public. This section does not supersede or in any manner affect the 36 
federal laws governing copyrights or enlarge, diminish or affect in 37 
any other manner the rights of a person in any written book or 38 
record which is copyrighted pursuant to federal law. 39 
 2.  A governmental entity may not reject a book or record 40 
which is copyrighted solely because it is copyrighted. 41 
 3.  A governmental entity that has legal custody or control of a 42 
public book or record shall not deny a request made pursuant to 43 
subsection 1 to inspect or copy or receive a copy of a public book or 44 
record on the basis that the requested public book or record contains 45 



 
 – 32 – 
 

 - *SB84* 

information that is confidential if the governmental entity can 1 
redact, delete, conceal or separate the confidential information from 2 
the information included in the public book or record that is not 3 
otherwise confidential. 4 
 4.  A person may request a copy of a public record in any 5 
medium in which the public record is readily available. An officer, 6 
employee or agent of a governmental entity who has legal custody 7 
or control of a public record: 8 
 (a) Shall not refuse to provide a copy of that public record in a 9 
readily available medium because the officer, employee or agent has 10 
already prepared or would prefer to provide the copy in a different 11 
medium. 12 
 (b) Except as otherwise provided in NRS 239.030, shall, upon 13 
request, prepare the copy of the public record and shall not require 14 
the person who has requested the copy to prepare the copy himself 15 
or herself. 16 
 Sec. 29.  NRS 241.016 is hereby amended to read as follows: 17 
 241.016  1.  The meetings of a public body that are quasi-18 
judicial in nature are subject to the provisions of this chapter. 19 
 2.  The following are exempt from the requirements of this 20 
chapter: 21 
 (a) The Legislature of the State of Nevada. 22 
 (b) Judicial proceedings, including, without limitation, 23 
proceedings before the Commission on Judicial Selection and, 24 
except as otherwise provided in NRS 1.4687, the Commission on 25 
Judicial Discipline. 26 
 (c) Meetings of the State Board of Parole Commissioners when 27 
acting to grant, deny, continue or revoke the parole of a prisoner or 28 
to establish or modify the terms of the parole of a prisoner. 29 
 3.  Any provision of law, including, without limitation, NRS 30 
91.270, 219A.210, 239C.140, 281A.350, 281A.440, 281A.550, 31 
284.3629, 286.150, 287.0415, 288.220, 289.387, 295.121, 360.247, 32 
388.261, 388A.495, 388C.150, 392.147, 392.467, 394.1699, 33 
396.3295, 433.534, 435.610, 463.110, 622.320, 622.340, 630.311, 34 
630.336, 639.050, 642.518, 642.557, 686B.170, 696B.550, 703.196 35 
and 706.1725, and section 11 of this act which: 36 
 (a) Provides that any meeting, hearing or other proceeding is not 37 
subject to the provisions of this chapter; or 38 
 (b) Otherwise authorizes or requires a closed meeting, hearing 39 
or proceeding, 40 

 prevails over the general provisions of this chapter.  41 
 4.  The exceptions provided to this chapter, and electronic 42 
communication, must not be used to circumvent the spirit or letter of 43 
this chapter to deliberate or act, outside of an open and public 44 



 
 – 33 – 
 

 - *SB84* 

meeting, upon a matter over which the public body has supervision, 1 
control, jurisdiction or advisory powers. 2 
 Sec. 30.  NRS 281A.108 and 281A.220 are hereby repealed. 3 
 Sec. 31.  This act becomes effective on July 1, 2017. 4 
 
 

TEXT OF REPEALED SECTIONS 
 
 
 281A.108  “Investigatory panel” or “panel” defined.  
“Investigatory panel” or “panel” means an investigatory panel 
appointed by the Commission pursuant to NRS 281A.220. 
 281A.220  Investigatory panels: Appointment; members; 
review and final determination of just and sufficient cause; 
disqualification of members from participation in further 
proceedings in matter. 
 1.  The Chair shall appoint one or more investigatory panels of 
two members of the Commission on a rotating basis to review the 
determinations of just and sufficient cause made by the Executive 
Director pursuant to NRS 281A.440 and make a final determination 
regarding whether there is just and sufficient cause for the 
Commission to render an opinion in a matter. 
 2.  The Chair and Vice Chair of the Commission may not serve 
together on an investigatory panel. 
 3.  The members of an investigatory panel may not be members 
of the same political party. 
 4.  If an investigatory panel determines that there is just and 
sufficient cause for the Commission to render an opinion in a 
matter, the members of the investigatory panel shall not participate 
in any further proceedings of the Commission relating to that matter. 

 
H

  


	Agenda Item 3.pdf
	MINUTES

	Buffington Public.pdf
	COMMISSION ON ETHICS
	02_20170208_FINALDRAFTStipulatedAgrmnt(Buffington).pdf
	In the Matter of the Third-Party Request for Opinion Concerning the Conduct of Kimberlie Buffington, Former Member, Lander County Planning Commission, State of Nevada,
	 Subject. /                                                             
	DRAFT
	STIPULATED AGREEMENT

	20170208_Amended_NOH(Stip)_16-59C(Buffington)_dh.pdf
	In the Matter of the Third-Party Request for Opinion Concerning the Conduct of Kimberlie Buffington, Former Member, Lander County Planning Commission, State of Nevada,
	    Subject. /                          

	02_20170208_FINALDRAFTStipulatedAgrmnt(Buffington).pdf
	In the Matter of the Third-Party Request for Opinion Concerning the Conduct of Kimberlie Buffington, Former Member, Lander County Planning Commission, State of Nevada,
	 Subject. /                                                             
	DRAFT
	STIPULATED AGREEMENT


	Hendrix Public.pdf
	COMMISSION ON ETHICS
	02_20170208_Propsed_StipulatedAgrmnt_16-83C(Hendrix).pdf
	In the Matter of the Third-Party Request for Opinion Concerning the Conduct of Clay Hendrix, Member, Churchill County School District Board of Trustees, 
	State of Nevada,
	 Subject. /                                                             
	DRAFT
	STIPULATED AGREEMENT

	07_20170207_Amended_NOH(Stip)_16-83C(Hendrix)_dh.pdf
	In the Matter of the Third-Party Request for Opinion Concerning the Conduct of Clay Hendrix, Member, Churchill County School District Board of Trustees, State of Nevada,
	    Subject. /                          


	Hyde Public.pdf
	COMMISSION ON ETHICS
	03_FINALStipulatedAgrmnt_16-84C(Hyde).pdf
	In the Matter of the Third-Party Request for Opinion Concerning the Conduct of Matt Hyde, Member, Churchill County School District Board of Trustees, 
	State of Nevada,
	 Subject. /                                                             
	DRAFT
	STIPULATED AGREEMENT

	08_20170207_Amended_NOH(Stip)_16-84C(Hyde)_dh.pdf
	In the Matter of the Third-Party Request for Opinion Concerning the Conduct of Matt Hyde, Member, Churchill County School District Board of Trustees, State of Nevada,
	    Subject. /                          


	Strasdin Public.pdf
	COMMISSION ON ETHICS
	03_FINALStipulatedAgrmnt_16-85C(Strasdin).pdf
	In the Matter of the Third-Party Request for Opinion Concerning the Conduct of Tricia Strasdin, Member, Churchill County School District Board of Trustees, State of Nevada,
	 Subject. /                                                             
	DRAFT
	STIPULATED AGREEMENT

	08_20170207_Amended_NOH(Stip)_16-85(Strasdin)_dh.pdf
	In the Matter of the Third-Party Request for Opinion Concerning the Conduct of Tricia Strasdin, Member, Churchill County School District Board of Trustees, State of Nevada,
	    Subject. /                          


	Agenda Item 9 - Budget.pdf
	Agency 150 NEBS 210 1-4-17.pdf
	Letter to Committee Members re Salary Enhancment Request.pdf

	Agenda Item 10 - 79th Legislative Session Bills.pdf
	SB30
	SB36
	SB84




